
 

The Board of Commissioners reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in attendance at the 

meeting, including the Board of Commissioners, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to the public 
except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The board can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt matter during a 

public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them 

to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the 
ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make reasonable 

accommodations for those persons. 

 

Page 1 of 2 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Agenda 

Tuesday, August 17, 2021 ◊ 6:30 PM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

Opening 
1. Welcome - Call to Order 

2. Approval of Agenda 

3. Invocation - Jonathon Dawson, Lakepoint Community Church 

4. Pledge of Allegiance (JW) 

5. Special Presentation - Girls Softball Proclamation 

 

Zoning Public Hearing 
6. Request by SDH Atlanta LLC, agent for Maddox Family Partnership LLLP to rezone 29.54 

acres on Old Phoenix Road from AG to R-PUD [Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2] (staff-P&D) 

7. Request by Duane Gentes to rezone 5.40 acres on Emory Drive from R-1 to R-2 [Map 111, 

Parcel 001044, District 4] (staff-P&D) 

8. Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen & 

Susan Fox to rezone 66.56 acres at 916 Harmony Road from AG to C-PUD [Map 103, Parcel 

001001, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

9. Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen & 

Susan Fox to rezone 5 acres at 916 Harmony Road Parcel A from AG to C-PUD [Map 103, 

Parcel 001, District 3] (staff-P&D) 

 

Budget Public Hearing 
10. Presentation of Proposed FY22 Budget (staff-CM & Finance) 

11. Comments from Commissioners and/or Staff 

12. Comments from the Public 

 

Regular Business Meeting 
13. Public Comments 

14. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of Minutes - August 6, 2021 Regular Meeting (staff-CC) 

b. Approval of Minutes - August 6, 2021 Executive Session (staff-CC) 

c. Approval of Minutes - August 6, 2021 Budget Work Session (staff-CC) 

15. Request for Final Plat Subdivision Approval for Eagles Rest at Cuscowilla Cottages (staff-

P&D) 

16. Petition to waive final six-month time interval regarding the Application for Rezoning from 

Danny Copelan at 931 Pea Ridge Road [Map 092, Parcel 017001001] (DB) 

1



 

The Board of Commissioners reserves the right to continue the meeting to another time and place in the event the number of people in attendance at the 

meeting, including the Board of Commissioners, staff, and members of the public exceeds the legal limits.  The meeting cannot be closed to the public 
except by a majority vote of a quorum present for the meeting.  The board can vote to go into an executive session on a legally exempt matter during a 

public meeting even if not advertised or listed on the agenda.  Individuals with disabilities who require certain accommodations in order to allow them 

to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting or the facilities are required to contact the 
ADA Compliance Officer, at least three business days in advance of the meeting at 706-485-2776 to allow the County to make reasonable 

accommodations for those persons. 

 

Page 2 of 2 

17. Approval of Changes to the Personnel Policy (staff-HR & CM) 

18. Approval of American Rescue Plan (ARP) Hazard Pay for Putnam County Employees (staff-

CM) 

19. Discussion on Projects for State Rescue Money (BW) 

 

Reports/Announcements 
20. County Manager Report 

21. County Attorney Report 

22. Commissioner Announcements 

 

Executive Session 
23. Enter Executive Session as allowed by O.C.G.A. 50-14-4 for Personnel, Litigation, or Real 

Estate 

24. Reopen meeting and execute Affidavit concerning the subject matter of the closed portion of the 

meeting 

25. Action, if any, resulting from the Executive Session 

 

Closing 
26. Adjournment 

2



File Attachments for Item:

6. Request by SDH Atlanta LLC, agent for Maddox Family Partnership LLLP to rezone 29.54 acres on Old 

Phoenix Road from AG to R-PUD [Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2] (staff-P&D)

3



Request by SDH Atlanta LLC, agent for Maddox Family Partnership LLLP to rezone 29.54 acres on Old 
Phoenix Road from AG to R-PUD. [Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2].  

 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT-LISA JACKSON STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
The applicant is requesting to rezone 29.5 acres from AG to R-PUD. If approved, the 29.5 acres would become the 
third phase of the thriving Phoenix Crossing subdivision. The adjacent subdivision was rezoned in 2005 from AG to 

R-1R PUD.  The original development consisted of 88.62 acres and was developed in two phases.  The first phase 
consisted of 33 lots, and the second phase has 91 lots totaling 124 lots. The proposed development will consist of 

53 lots. Piedmont Water is both the water and sewer provider for this development. According to the impact 
analysis, there will be one full-movement vehicular access on Old Phoenix and Garrett Drive. A 24-hour bi-
directional traffic volume count collected on Tuesday, June 15, 2021, indicated a northbound volume of 2,226 

vehicles and a southbound volume of 2,123 vehicles for a two-way volume of 4,349 vehicles. Growth in the area 
has been generally low, with average annual growth ranging from -2.1% to 1.4%, and with the most recent year of 

growth being negative and ranging from -14.3% to -0.3%. 4. The study shows that the proposed subdivision will 
generate 42 a.m. peak hour trips, 55 p.m. peak hour trips, and 580-weekday trips. It also suggests delays will 
increase slightly from the no-build condition, but all locations, including the project access on Old Phoenix Road, will 

operate well.  In addition, both entrances should be constructed with one entering and one exiting lane, or as 
required by the County. Each exiting approach should be controlled by a side street stop sign and accompanying 

stop bar. 
  

The proposed use is consistent with the allowed uses, as listed in Sec. 66-119(A) of the R-PUD zoning district. The 
future land use comprehensive plan is consistent with the proposed residential use. Therefore, the proposed use is 
compatible with the purpose and intent of the comprehensive plan. The surrounding properties are R-1R to the 

north and east, being Phoenix Crossing subdivision; to the west and south are AG properties. While the property 
can be used as it is currently zoned, it would be more marketable and of more significant benefit to the community 

rezoned. The rezoning will not adversely affect the existing use, value, or usability of adjacent or nearby properties. 
There is no evidence that the proposed development would cause excessive or burdensome use of public services, 
nor should it affect police, fire protection, or sewer services. If approved, the staff recommends that the developer 

should install a deceleration lane on Old Phoenix Road. 
 

 
 
 

 

4

https://library.municode.com/ga/putnam_county/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH66ZO_PUPLUNDEDI_S66-119PEUSD


 

5



 
 

6



Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone 29.54 acres from AG to R-PUD on Old Phoenix Road 
[Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2] with the following conditions:  

 
(1) The developer shall construct a deceleration lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of 

Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the main entrance on Old 
Phoenix Road.  

(2) Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated 

by the developer to the County.  
 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
 

The Planning & Zoning Commission’s recommendation is for approval to rezone 29.54 acres from AG to R-PUD on 
Old Phoenix Road [Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2] with the following conditions:  

 
(1) The developer shall construct a deceleration lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of 

Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the main entrance on Old 

Phoenix Road.  
(2) Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated 

by the developer to the County.  
 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES: 
 

The Putnam County Planning & Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on Thursday, August 5, 2021 at 6:30 
PM in the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, Eatonton, Georgia. 

 
Present:  Martha Farley, Maurice Hill, Jr., Tim Pierson, John Mitchell  
Staff Present:  Lisa Jackson, Courtney Andrews and Kenteria Williams 

 
Request by SDH Atlanta LLC, agent for Maddox Family Partnership LLLP to rezone 29.54 on Old Phoenix Road 

from AG to R-PUD. [Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2]. * Attorney Jay Dell represented this request. He stated 
that the intent is to develop the property the same as Phoenix Crossing. He added that the proposed use was 
suitable for the zoning and development of neighboring properties. It will not affect the value of nearby or adjacent 

properties and is consistent with the future comprehensive plan. They will acquire both water and sewer from 

7



Piedmont Water. Attorney Dell stated that the Phoenix Crossing Subdivision has been a vibrant neighborhood that 
has taken off and it shows a need for this type of housing. No one spoke in opposition of this request. 

 
Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone 29.54 acres from AG to R-PUD on Old Phoenix Road 

[Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2] with the following conditions:  
 
(1) The developer shall construct a deceleration lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of 

Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the main entrance on Old 
Phoenix Road.  

(2) Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be 
dedicated by the developer to the County. 
 

Motion to approve the request by SDH Atlanta LLC, agent for Maddox Family Partnership LLLP to rezone 
29.54 acres from AG to R-PUD on Old Phoenix Road [Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2] with the following conditions:  

(1) The developer shall construct a deceleration lane in accordance with the Georgia 
Department of Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the 
main entrance on Old Phoenix Road.  

(2) Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall 
be dedicated by the developer to the County.  

made by Member Hill and seconded by Member Mitchell. 
Voting Yea: Vice-Chairman Pierson, Member Hill, Member Farley, Member Mitchell 

 
 

8



PUTNAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 
COMMISSION DISTRICTS 

MIAPSCALE: 1"=5,8117.28' S(;ALERATIO: 1:t8,387.34 DATE:�NUARY2021 

5. Request by Wallace Gerald Wright for a side yard setback variance at 149 Collis Marina Road.
Presently zoned R-1 {Map 104B, Parcel 013, District 3).

6. Request by Thomas & Gwen Ralston for a rear yard setback variance at 189 S. Spring Road.
Presently zoned R-2 [Map llSC, Parcel 019, District 3).

7. Request by Thomas W Gardner for a side and rear yard setback variance at 348A Cold Branch
Road. Presently zoned R-2 [Map 112C, Parcel 009, District 4).

8. Request by Mt. Pleasant Baptist Church for a side yard setback variance at 1628 Godfrey Road
NW. Presently zoned AG. [Map 016, Parcel 015, District 1).

9. Request by SDH Atlanta LLC, Agent for Maddox Family Partnership LLLP for a side yard
setback variance on Old Phoenix Road. Presently zoned AG. (Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2).

10. Request by SDH Atlanta LLC, agent for Maddox Family Partnership LLLP to rezone 29.54
on Old Phoenix Road from AG to R-PUD. [Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2). *

1 I. Request by Duane Gentes to rezone 5.40 acres on Emory Drive from R-1 to R-2. [Map 111, 
Parcel 001044, District 4). *

12. Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen
& Susan Fox to rezone 66.56 acres at 916 Harmony Road from AG to C-PUD. [Map 103, Parcel
001001, District 3].*

13. Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen
& Susan Fox to rezone 5 acres at 916 Harmony Road Parcel A from AG to C-PUD. [Map 103,
Parcel 001, District 3]. *

9

lbarb_000
Highlight



10



11



12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



File Attachments for Item:

7. Request by Duane Gentes to rezone 5.40 acres on Emory Drive from R-1 to R-2 [Map 111, Parcel 

001044, District 4] (staff-P&D)

90



Request by Duane Gentes to rezone 5.40 acres on Emory Drive from R-1 to R-2. [Map 111, Parcel 
001044, District 4].  

 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT-LISA JACKSON STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
The applicant is requesting to rezone 5.40 acres from R-1 to R-2. He plans to combine this lot with the adjacent R-2 
property he owns, identified as Map 111, Parcel 049. To combine the parcels, they must be the same zoning status. 

The surrounding lots on this street are all zoned R-2 with an R-1 neighborhood directly behind them. The proposed 
use is consistent with the allowed uses, as listed in Sec. 66-84-Uses allowed of the R-2 zoning district. This rezoning 

to R-2 will not adversely impact the use of public facilities or services. The Future Land Use Concept plan lists the 
property as residential. Additionally, the proposed use will not adversely the existing use, value, or useability of 
adjacent or nearby properties. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

91



 

92



 

93



Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone 5.40 acres from R-1 to R-2 on Emory Drive [Map 111, 
Parcel 001044, District 4]. 

 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The Planning & Zoning Commission’s recommendation is for approval to rezone 5.40 acres from R-1 to R-2 on 

Emory Drive [Map 111, Parcel 001044, District 4]. 
 

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES: 
 

The Putnam County Planning & Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on Thursday, August 5, 2021 at 6:30 
PM in the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, Eatonton, Georgia. 

 
Present:  Martha Farley, Maurice Hill, Jr., Tim Pierson, John Mitchell  
Staff Present:  Lisa Jackson, Courtney Andrews and Kenteria Williams 

 
Request by Duane Gentes to rezone 5.40 acres on Emory Drive from R-1 to R-2. [Map 111, Parcel 001044, 

District 4]. * Mr. Duane Gentes represented this request. He stated that he owns two pieces of property, and he 
would like to join them together. He would like to rezone the 5.40 acres to R-2. He added that he wanted to place a 

garage on the property, but he couldn’t because the 5.40-acre lot didn’t have a primary residence. It will be the 
same zoning as the property where his home is located. No one spoke in opposition of this request.  
 

Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone 5.40 acres from R-1 to R-2 on Emory Drive [Map 111, 
Parcel 001044, District 4]. 

 
Motion to approve the request by Duane Gentes to rezone 5.40 acres on Emory Drive from R-1 to R-2 made by 
Member Mitchell and seconded by Member Hill. 

Voting Yea: Vice-Chairman Pierson, Member Hill, Member Farley, Member Mitchell 
 

94



PUTNAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 
COMMISSION DISTRICTS 

MIAPSCALE: 1"=5,8117.28' S(;ALERATIO: 1:t8,387.34 DATE:�NUARY2021 

5. Request by Wallace Gerald Wright for a side yard setback variance at 149 Collis Marina Road.
Presently zoned R-1 {Map 104B, Parcel 013, District 3).

6. Request by Thomas & Gwen Ralston for a rear yard setback variance at 189 S. Spring Road.
Presently zoned R-2 [Map llSC, Parcel 019, District 3).

7. Request by Thomas W Gardner for a side and rear yard setback variance at 348A Cold Branch
Road. Presently zoned R-2 [Map 112C, Parcel 009, District 4).

8. Request by Mt. Pleasant Baptist Church for a side yard setback variance at 1628 Godfrey Road
NW. Presently zoned AG. [Map 016, Parcel 015, District 1).

9. Request by SDH Atlanta LLC, Agent for Maddox Family Partnership LLLP for a side yard
setback variance on Old Phoenix Road. Presently zoned AG. (Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2).

10. Request by SDH Atlanta LLC, agent for Maddox Family Partnership LLLP to rezone 29.54
on Old Phoenix Road from AG to R-PUD. [Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2). *

1 I. Request by Duane Gentes to rezone 5.40 acres on Emory Drive from R-1 to R-2. [Map 111, 
Parcel 001044, District 4). *

12. Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen
& Susan Fox to rezone 66.56 acres at 916 Harmony Road from AG to C-PUD. [Map 103, Parcel
001001, District 3].*

13. Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen

& Susan Fox to rezone 5 acres at 916 Harmony Road Parcel A from AG to C-PUD. [Map 103,
Parcel 001, District 3]. *

95

lbarb_000
Highlight



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



File Attachments for Item:

8. Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen & Susan Fox

to rezone 66.56 acres at 916 Harmony Road from AG to C-PUD [Map 103, Parcel 001001, District 3] 

(staff-P&D)

109



Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen & Susan Fox 
to rezone 66.56 acres at 916 Harmony Road from AG-C-PUD. [Map 103, Parcel 001001, District 3].  

 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT-LISA JACKSON STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
The applicant is requesting to rezone 66.56 acres from AG to C-PUD. If approved, the subject property will be 
combined with the interior property (Map 103, Parcel 001). The purpose of rezoning this property is to develop a 

new, mixed-use development to support the non-profit mission and vision of Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia’s 
Helms College expansion. Helms Career Institute was established in 2007 as a private, independent, post-secondary 

career school that provides experiential learning and career education for workforce development. The proposed 
development is a part of a strategic plan for expansion that supports the college’s future growth to meet local talent 
needs in high-demand occupations. The proposed development will include retail and hotel components supporting 

and complimenting degrees sponsored by Helms College, residential units for students, recreation amenities such as 
tennis courts, jogging trails, agritourism, a conference retreat center with restaurants. The agritourism aspect will 

include gardens and farms that will provide hands-on experience for students and community members to learn 
about the farm-to-table philosophies and offerings. 
 

According to the traffic study, the proposed development will consist of the following: a Goodwill store; Helms 
College for 50 students; Edgar’s Bakery; retailing including a spa; a high-turn-over sit-down restaurant; a 

supermarket; 127 multi-family residential units; 18 student housing units; 41 vacation villas; an event/banquet 
hall, and a 175-room hotel. Piedmont Water will provide water and sewer. As proposed, the development will be 

completed in four phases as determined by the market conditions and demand. Phase one will consist of the 
Goodwill store, Helms College for 25 students, Edgar’s Bakery, and 3,400 square feet of retail is to be completed by 
2023. The second phase will include an additional 25 students to the college, 11,200 square feet of retail, 42 multi-

family units, and 6 student housing units to be finished in 2024. Phases three and four will consist of 12,320 square 
feet of retail, 10,600 square feet of a sit-down restaurant, a supermarket, 85 Multi-family residential units, 12 

student housing units, 41 vacation villas, an event/banquet hall, and a 175-room hotel.  
  
The traffic analysis projects that the total site-generated trips will be 10,975, and the mixed-use reduction is 1,814. 

Thus the 24-hour total volume of two-way traffic will be 9,161. However, it concludes that the most significant 
impact from the proposed development will be during the am and pm peak hours. There will be a maximum of 29 

vehicles turning left at either driveway, 35 vehicles turning right at the northern driveway, and 140 at the southern 
driveway. The turning movement will average approximately 1 to 2 vehicles per minute, according to the study. It 
further adds that the intersection of Harmony Rd., SR 44, and Old Phoenix Rd. currently has a large volume of 

right-turn movement during peak hours. There are long delays at this intersection, given that there is no dedicated 

110



right-turn lane.  Although delays are in occurrence, the study states that there will be no significant impact on the 
traffic if the developer will construct left-turn lanes and deceleration lanes.  In addition, the current delays will 

improve once GDOT completes the proposed SR 44 widening project.  
 

There will be two full-access entrances on Harmony Road identified as Driveway One (southern) and Driveway Two 
(northern). The study further recommends that the first driveway has two entering and two exit lanes while the 
second driveway has one entering and two exit lanes.  The following is recommended for each driveway: the 

eastbound lane approach should have a separate left and right-turn lane for exiting traffic; a northbound left-turn 
lane to be constructed on Harmony Road for entering traffic; a southbound deceleration lane to be installed on 

Harmony Road for entering traffic. The subject property is adjacent to a combination of residential, commercial, and 
agriculture zoned properties. It fronts Harmony Road, which is a main arterial road. The property also has frontage 
on Lake Drive and Lakemore Drive.   

   
  As stated in Sec. 66-115(b) of the Putnam County Code of Ordinances, the C-PUD zoning allows more than one 

type of use in a building or set of buildings, including some combination of residential and selective nonresidential 
uses such as commercial, office and institutional uses. Furthermore, the proposed development is consistent with 
the existing residential, multi-family, and commercial developments in this area. The comprehensive plan matches 

the proposed use for future residential and mixed-use development. In the final DRI report, the Middle Georgia 
Regional Commission noted that the proposed development site lies within an area of projected rapid growth as 

identified in the 2016 Regional Plan. The report recommends that the local government take action early to ensure 
that growth occurs in a manner that makes it possible to provide necessary public services. 

 
By implementing the required conditions, the proposed project should have minimal impact on the adjacent 
properties, roads, and nearby intersections.  There is no evidence that the proposed development would cause 

excessive or burdensome use of public services, nor should it adversely affect police, fire protection, or sewer 
services. If approved, the staff recommends that the developer should install a deceleration lane and left-turn lane 

at the main entrances of the development. There shall be no entrance on Lakemore Drive and only an emergency 
gated entrance on Lake Drive.  
 

111



 

112



Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone 66.56 acres from AG to C-PUD at 916 Harmony Road 
[Map 103, Parcel 001001, District 3] with the following conditions:  
 

(1) The developer shall construct a deceleration lane and turn lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of 
Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the two main entrances on Harmony 

Road. Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated by 
the developer to the county. It shall be completed by the developer prior to the completion of phase one.  

113



(2) The developer shall direct construction traffic through the second main entrance located the farthest away 
from the intersection of Harmony Road and Hwy 44.  

(3) There shall be no car or truck entrance/exit located on Lakemore Road. There shall be a locked gate for golf cart 
entrance only.  

(4) Only a gated and locked Emergency Exit shall be located on Lake Drive.  
 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
 

The Planning & Zoning Commission’s recommendation is for approval to rezone 66.56 acres from AG to C-PUD at 
916 Harmony Road [Map 103, Parcel 001001, District 3] with the following conditions:  
 

(1) The developer shall construct a deceleration lane and turn lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of 
Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the two main entrances on Harmony 

Road. Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated by 
the developer to the county. It shall be completed by the developer prior to the completion of phase one.  
(2) The developer shall direct construction traffic through the second main entrance located the farthest away 

from the intersection of Harmony Road and Hwy 44.  
(3) There shall be no car or truck entrance/exit located on Lakemore Road. There shall be a locked gate for golf cart 

entrance only.  
(4) Only a gated and locked Emergency Exit shall be located on Lake Drive.  

 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES: 

 
The Putnam County Planning & Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on Thursday, August 5, 2021 at 6:30 

PM in the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, Eatonton, Georgia. 
 
Present:  Martha Farley, Maurice Hill, Jr., Tim Pierson, John Mitchell  

Staff Present:  Lisa Jackson, Courtney Andrews and Kenteria Williams 
 

The following items 12-13 were heard as one before the board. 
 
Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen & Susan Fox to 

rezone 66.56 acres at 916 Harmony Road from AG to C-PUD. [Map 103, Parcel 001001, District 3]. * Mr. 

114



James Stiff represented this request. He stated that he was the president of Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia. 
They are requesting to rezone the 71 acres so that they can complete the purchase of the property on Harmony 

Road, to create a campus for Goodwill and Helms College. Helms College is affiliated with Goodwill. He added that 
they came to Putnam County in 2010 with the Goodwill store and has since expanded to Milledgeville. They would 

like to grow their presence on the lake. The had a plan to create an agritourism campus, where the students could 
learn about culinary agriculture and be involved with an agritourism business. They would also have applied 
learning on the farm that would be a part of the campus, and an applied learning area for students in the school of 

hospitality. He explained that they are developing a bachelor's degree in hospitality management. It would be 
applied learning in a hotel and villas. Mr. Stiff stated that they were working on an agreement to develop a hotel 

that would allow for planned applied learning for the students. The front of the property would have a town center 
where they would create new economic energy for the community. He added that they would also have Goodwill 
businesses and relocate the Goodwill retail store from Lake Oconee Parkway. He stated that he has had community 

outreach meetings and gained a lot of insight on the project. Mrs. Ellen Garland explained that the proposed 
development includes: a town center, green space for community gatherings, retail, restaurants, institutional use 

for Helms College, Hotel and Retreat Center, gardens, plants, outdoor amenities, as well as a housing component. 
She added that the project is expected to move forward in multiple stages and will be completed based on market 
conditions. Mrs. Garland stated that they intend on implementing staff recommendations based on the traffic 

study. She added that the only additional request they had was to use Lakemore for gated golf cart access. 
Member Mitchell asked Mrs. Garland to explain the duration of the phases. Mrs. Garland stated that they were 

expecting a 3–4-year buildout with multiple phases. This will be based on the market conditions for the various 
uses. 

 
At this time those who signed in to speak in favor of the request, were given 3 minutes. 
 

 Rush Atly 
 Tom Fry 

  
 At this time those who signed in to speak in opposition of the request, were given 3 minutes. 
 

 Tammy Calloway 
  

 At this time Mr. Stiff used the remainder of his time. He thanked those who spoke on their behalf and assured 
the homeowners in opposition that they will follow all requirements of the county. He stated that they own a farm in 
Grovetown and are involved in some of the things Mrs. Calloway mentioned. He added that they are working with a 

third party for the hotel. Mr. Stiff explained that the students will only be there when they have applied learning 

115



when it is appropriate for their curriculum. There will be professional teams that will operate the various enterprises. 
He stated that their goal is to exceed expectations. 

 
Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone 66.56 acres from AG to C-PUD at 916 Harmony Road 

[Map 103, Parcel 001001, District 3] with the following conditions:  
 
(1) The developer shall construct a deceleration lane and turn lane in accordance with the Georgia 

Department of Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the two 
main entrances on Harmony Road. Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a 

ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated by the developer to the county. It shall be completed by the 
developer prior to the completion of phase one.  
(2) The developer shall direct construction traffic through the second main entrance located the 

farthest away from the intersection of Harmony Road and Hwy 44.  
(3) There shall be no car or truck entrance/exit located on Lakemore Road. There shall be a locked gate 

for golf cart entrance only.  
(4) Only a gated and locked Emergency Exit shall be located on Lake Drive.  
 

Motion to approve the request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy 
Allen & Susan Fox to rezone 66.56 acres at 916 Harmony Road from AG to C-PUD with the following conditions:  

(1) The developer shall construct a deceleration lane and turn lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of 
Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the two main entrances on Harmony 

Road. Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated by 
the developer to the county. It shall be completed by the developer prior to the completion of phase one.  
(2) The developer shall direct construction traffic through the second main entrance located the farthest away 

from the intersection of Harmony Road and Hwy 44.  
(3) There shall be no car or truck entrance/exit located on Lakemore Road. There shall be a locked gate for golf cart 

entrance only.  
(4) Only a gated and locked Emergency Exit shall be located on Lake Drive. 
made by Member Hill and seconded by Member Mitchell. 

Voting Yea: Vice-Chairman Pierson, Member Hill, Member Farley, Member Mitchell 
 

116



PUTNAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 
COMMISSION DISTRICTS 

MIAPSCALE: 1"=5,8117.28' S(;ALERATIO: 1:t8,387.34 DATE:�NUARY2021 

5. Request by Wallace Gerald Wright for a side yard setback variance at 149 Collis Marina Road.
Presently zoned R-1 {Map 104B, Parcel 013, District 3).

6. Request by Thomas & Gwen Ralston for a rear yard setback variance at 189 S. Spring Road.
Presently zoned R-2 [Map llSC, Parcel 019, District 3).

7. Request by Thomas W Gardner for a side and rear yard setback variance at 348A Cold Branch
Road. Presently zoned R-2 [Map 112C, Parcel 009, District 4).

8. Request by Mt. Pleasant Baptist Church for a side yard setback variance at 1628 Godfrey Road
NW. Presently zoned AG. [Map 016, Parcel 015, District 1).

9. Request by SDH Atlanta LLC, Agent for Maddox Family Partnership LLLP for a side yard
setback variance on Old Phoenix Road. Presently zoned AG. (Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2).

10. Request by SDH Atlanta LLC, agent for Maddox Family Partnership LLLP to rezone 29.54
on Old Phoenix Road from AG to R-PUD. [Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2). *

1 I. Request by Duane Gentes to rezone 5.40 acres on Emory Drive from R-1 to R-2. [Map 111, 
Parcel 001044, District 4). *

12. Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen
& Susan Fox to rezone 66.56 acres at 916 Harmony Road from AG to C-PUD. [Map 103, Parcel
001001, District 3].*

13. Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen

& Susan Fox to rezone 5 acres at 916 Harmony Road Parcel A from AG to C-PUD. [Map 103,
Parcel 001, District 3]. *

117

lbarb_000
Highlight



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



 
 
 
 

T R A F F I C  S T U D Y  
F O R  

H E L M S  F A R M  C A M P U S  A T  H A R M O N Y  R O A D  
 

P U T N A M  C O U N T Y ,  G E O R G I A  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared for: 

Goodwill of Middle Georgia & The CSRA 
5171 Eisenhower Parkway 
Macon, GA 31206 

 
 
 
 
Prepared By: 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

June 14, 2021 
Revised August 03, 2021 
A & R Project # 21-082 

A&R Engineering Inc. 
2160 Kingston Court, Suite O 
Marietta, GA 30067 
Tel: (770) 690-9255 Fax: (770) 690-9210 
www.areng.com 

157



 

T A B L E  O F  C O N T E N T S  
 
I t e m  P a g e  
1.0 Introduction ...........................................................................................................................1 
2.0 Existing Facilities / Conditions .................................................................................................4 

2.1.1 SR 44 (Greensboro Road) .......................................................................................................... 4 
2.1.2 Harmony Road .......................................................................................................................... 4 
2.1.3 Village Lane ............................................................................................................................... 4 
2.1.4 Sammons Industrial Parkway .................................................................................................... 4 
2.1.5 Harmony Lane ........................................................................................................................... 4 
2.1.6 Scott Road ................................................................................................................................. 4 

3.0 Study Methodology ................................................................................................................5 
3.1 Unsignalized Intersections ............................................................................................................ 5 
3.2 Signalized Intersections ................................................................................................................ 5 

4.0 Existing 2021 Traffic Analysis ...................................................................................................7 
4.1 Existing Traffic Volumes ................................................................................................................ 7 
4.2 Adjusted 2021 Traffic Volumes ..................................................................................................... 7 
4.3 Existing Traffic Operations .......................................................................................................... 10 

5.0 Proposed Development ......................................................................................................... 12 
5.1 Trip Generation ........................................................................................................................... 14 
5.2 Trip Distribution .......................................................................................................................... 15 

6.0 Future 2022 Traffic Analysis .................................................................................................. 18 
6.1 Future “No-Build” Conditions ..................................................................................................... 18 
6.1.1 Annual Traffic Growth ............................................................................................................. 18 
Future “Build” Conditions ....................................................................................................................... 18 
6.1.2 Auxiliary Lane Analysis ............................................................................................................ 21 
6.1.3 Left Turn Lane Analysis ........................................................................................................... 21 
6.1.4 Deceleration Turn Lane Analysis ............................................................................................. 22 
6.2 Future Traffic Conditions ............................................................................................................ 23 

7.0 Conclusions and Recommendations....................................................................................... 27 
Appendix 

158



 

L I S T  O F  T A B L E S  
 
I t e m  P a g e  
Table 1 – Level-of-service Criteria for Unsignalized Intersections ................................................................ 5 
Table 2 – Level-of-service Criteria for Signalized Intersections .................................................................... 6 
Table 3 – Existing Intersection Operations ................................................................................................. 10 
Table 4 – Trip Generation ........................................................................................................................... 14 
Table 5 - GDOT Requirements for Left Turn Lanes ..................................................................................... 21 
Table 6 - GDOT Requirements for Deceleration Lanes ............................................................................... 22 
Table 7 – Future Intersection Operations ................................................................................................... 23 
 

L I S T  O F  F I G U R E S  
 
I t e m  P a g e  
Figure 1 – Location Map................................................................................................................................ 3 
Figure 2 – Existing Weekday Peak Hour Volumes during Covid-19 .............................................................. 8 
Figure 3 – Adjusted Existing Weekday Peak Hour Volumes ......................................................................... 9 
Figure 4 – Existing Traffic Control and Lane Geometry .............................................................................. 11 
Figure 5 – Site Plan ...................................................................................................................................... 13 
Figure 6 – Outer Leg Trip Distribution and Site Generated Peak Hour Volumes ........................................ 16 
Figure 7 – Site Peak Hour Pass-by Volumes ................................................................................................ 17 
Figure 8 – Future (No-Build) Peak Hour Volumes ....................................................................................... 19 
Figure 9 – Future (Build) Peak Hour Volumes ............................................................................................. 20 
Figure 10 – GDOT’s PI 0006253 – Intersection Design ............................................................................... 25 
Figure 11 – Future Traffic Control and Lane Geometry .............................................................................. 26 
 
 

159



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

1 
 
 

1 . 0  I N T R O D U C T I O N  
 
The purpose of this study is to determine the traffic impact that will result from the proposed Helms 
Farm Campus development that will be located on Harmony Road across from Sammons Industrial 
Parkway (South), north of Village Lane in Putnam County, Georgia. The traffic analysis evaluates the 
current operations compared to the future conditions with the traffic generated by the development. 
The development will consist of: 
 

• Goodwill Store: 16,800 sf 
• Helms College: 50 Students 
• Edgar’s Bakery: 7,000 sf 
• Retail including Spa: 26,920 sf 
• High-Turn-over Sit-Down Restaurant: 13,100 sf 
• Super Market: 14,500 sf 
• Multi-family (mid-rise) Residential: 127 Units 
• Student Housing: 18 Units 
• Vacation Villas (Resorts): 41 Units 
• Event Hall or Banquet Hall: 22,000 sf 
• Hotel: 175 Rooms 

 

 
 
 

160



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

2 
 
 

The development proposes two site driveways at the following locations: 
• Site Driveway 1: Full-access (Southern) driveway on Harmony Road 
• Site Driveway 2: Full-access (Northern) driveway on Harmony Road 

 
Existing and future operations after completion of the project were analyzed at the intersections of: 

• Harmony Road at SR 44 (Greensboro Road) / Old Phoenix Road 
• Harmony Road at Village Lane 
• Harmony Road at Sammons Industrial Parkway (South) 
• Harmony Road at Harmony Lane 
• Harmony Road at Scott Road / Private Driveway 
• Harmony Road at Site Driveway 1 (Southern) 
• Harmony Road at Site Driveway 2 (Northern) / Private Driveway 

 
Recommendations to improve traffic operations have been identified as appropriate and are discussed 
in detail in the following sections of the report. The location of the development and the surrounding 
study network is shown in Figure 1. 

161



SITE

Norris L
n

Moudy
Ln

Sequoia

Dr

Ellm
an

D
r

Clack Ct
Clack Cir

R
iv

er
si

de
D

r

Thunder
Rd

Scott Rd

Scott Rd

Lakeview
Dr

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

Lak
e O

co
ne

e
Pk

wy

Lakeview
Estates Dr

Villa
ge 

Ln

Harm
on

y
Ln

Lake Dr

Farr
iers

 Ln

Sammons Industrial Pkwy

Harmony Rd

Harmony
Rd

Old Phoenix Rd

3

LOCATION MAP
FIGURE 1

A&R Engineering Inc.

Study Intersections

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

162

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

4 
 
 

2 . 0  E X I S T I N G  F A C I L I T I E S  /  C O N D I T I O N S  
The following is a brief description of each of the roadway facilities located in proximity to the site: 

2.1.1 SR 44 (Greensboro Road)  
SR 44 (Greensboro Road) is an east-west, two-lane, undivided roadway with a posted speed limit of 45 
mph in the vicinity of the site. Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) traffic counts (Station ID 
237-0146) indicate that the daily traffic volume on SR 44 (Greensboro Road) in 2019 was 15,200 vehicles 
per day north of Harmony Road. GDOT classifies SR 44 (Greensboro Road) as a Rural Minor Arterial 
roadway. 

2.1.2 Harmony Road 
Harmony Road is a north-south, two-lane, undivided roadway with a posted speed limit of 45 mph in the 
vicinity of the site. GDOT traffic counts (Station ID 237-0181) indicate that the daily traffic volume on 
Harmony Road in 2019 was 3,570 vehicles per day north of Scott Road. GDOT classifies Harmony Road 
as a Rural Minor Collector roadway. 

2.1.3 Village Lane 
Village Lane is an east-west, two-lane, undivided roadway with a posted speed limit of 25 mph in the 
vicinity of the site. 

2.1.4 Sammons Industrial Parkway  
Sammons Industrial Parkway is an east-west, two-lane, undivided roadway with a posted speed limit of 
25 mph in the vicinity of the site. 

2.1.5 Harmony Lane 
Harmony Lane is an east-west, two-lane, undivided roadway with a posted speed limit of 25 mph in the 
vicinity of the site. 

2.1.6 Scott Road 
Scott Road is a northwest-southeast, two-lane, undivided roadway with a posted speed limit of 35 mph 
in the vicinity of the site. 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

163



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

5 
 
 

3 . 0  S T U D Y  M E T H O D O L O G Y  
 
In this study, the methodology used for evaluating traffic operations at each of the subject intersections 
is based on the criteria set forth in the Transportation Research Board’s Highway Capacity Manual, 6th 
edition (HCM 6). Synchro software, which utilizes the HCM methodology, was used for the analysis. The 
following is a description of the methodology employed for the analysis of unsignalized and signalized 
intersections. At specific intersections in which HCM 6 is unable to report results due to limitations of 
the software version, HCM 2000 will be used instead. The following is a description of the methodology 
employed for the analysis of unsignalized and signalized intersections. 

3.1 Unsignalized Intersections 
For unsignalized intersections at which the side street or minor street is controlled by a stop sign, the 
criteria for evaluating traffic operations are the level-of-service (LOS) for the turning movements at the 
intersection and the level-of-service for the overall intersection. Level-of-service is based on the average 
controlled delay incurred at the intersection. Controlled delay for unsignalized intersections includes 
initial deceleration delay, queue move-up time, stopped delay, and final acceleration delay. Several 
factors affect the controlled delay for unsignalized intersections, such as the availability and distribution 
of gaps in the conflicting traffic stream, critical gaps, and follow-up time for a vehicle in the queue. 
 
Level-of-service is assigned a letter designation from “A” through “F”. Level-of-service “A” indicates 
excellent operations with little delay to motorists, while level-of-service “F” exists when there are 
insufficient gaps of acceptable size to allow vehicles on the side street to cross safely, resulting in 
extremely long total delays and long queues. The level-of-service criteria for two-way stop-controlled 
and all-way stop-controlled (unsignalized) intersections are given in Table 1.  
 

Table 1 – Level-of-service Criteria for Unsignalized Intersections 
Level-of-service Average Delay (sec) 

A ≤ 10 
B > 10 and ≤ 15 
C > 15 and ≤ 25 
D > 25 and ≤ 35 
E > 35 and ≤ 50 
F > 50 

Source: Highway Capacity Manual 

3.2 Signalized Intersections 
For signalized intersections, it is necessary to evaluate both capacity and level-of-service in order to 
evaluate the overall operation of the intersection. The capacity analysis of an intersection is performed 
by comparing the volume of traffic using the various lane groups at the intersection to the capacity of 
those lane groups. This results in a volume/capacity (v/c) ratio for each lane group. A v/c ratio greater 

164



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

6 
 
 

than 1.0 indicates that the volume of traffic has exceeded the capacity available, resulting in a 
temporary excess of demand. Although the capacity of the entire intersection is not defined, a 
composite v/c ratio for the sum of the critical lane groups within the intersection is computed. This 
composite v/c ratio is an indication of the overall intersection sufficiency.  
 
Level-of-service for a signalized intersection is defined in terms of average controlled delay per vehicle, 
which is composed of initial deceleration delay, queue move-up time, stopped delay, and final 
acceleration delay. The level-of-service criteria for signalized intersections, based on average controlled 
delay, are shown in Table 2. Level-of-service “A” indicates operations with very low controlled delay, 
while level-of-service “F” describes operations with extremely high average-controlled delay. Level-of-
service “E” is typically considered to be the limit of acceptable delay, and level-of-service “F” is 
considered unacceptable by most drivers. 
 

Table 2 – Level-of-service Criteria for Signalized Intersections 
Level-of-service Average Control Delay (sec) 

A ≤ 10 
B > 10 and ≤ 20 
C > 20 and ≤ 35 
D > 35 and ≤ 55 
E > 55 and ≤ 80 
F > 80 

Source: Highway Capacity Manual 

165



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

7 
 
 

4 . 0  E X I S T I N G  2 0 2 1  T R A F F I C  A N A L Y S I S  

4.1 Existing Traffic Volumes 
Traffic counts were obtained at the following study intersections: 

• Harmony Road at SR 44 (Greensboro Road) / Old Phoenix Road 
• Harmony Road at Village Lane 
• Harmony Road at Sammons Industrial Parkway (South) 
• Harmony Road at Harmony Lane 
• Harmony Road at Scott Road / Private Driveway 

 
Turning movement counts were collected on Thursday, May 27, 2021, at all the study intersections. A 
24-hour bi-directional volume count was also collected on Harmony Road north of Scott Road at the 
same location where GDOT had collected historic ADT in the past. All turning movement counts were 
recorded during the AM and PM peak hours between 7:00am to 9:00am and 4:00pm to 6:00pm, 
respectively. The four consecutive 15-minute interval volumes that summed to produce the highest 
volume at the intersections were then determined. These volumes make up the peak hour traffic 
volumes for the intersections counted and are shown in Figure 2.  

4.2 Adjusted 2021 Traffic Volumes 
To account for the abnormal traffic pattern due to COVID-19, an adjustment factor was determined by 
calculating the difference between GDOT historical turning movements counts and current bi-directional 
counts at Harmony Road north of Scott Road. The historic 2017 turning movement counts from GDOT’s 
(Station ID 237-0181) were increased by an annual growth rate of 2.5% for four years and compared to 
the existing bi-directional counts collected on Thursday, May 27, 2021, at the same location.  The 
comparison of the two counts revealed that the adjusted historic traffic counts are 9% higher in the AM 
peak hour and 1% higher in the PM peak hour. Therefore, the 2021 AM and PM peak hour counts shown 
in Figure 2 were increased by 9% and 1%, respectively. The projected and/or adjusted existing peak hour 
volumes are shown in Figure 3. 
 
 

166



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

08

EXISTING WEEKDAY PEAK-HOUR VOLUMES

(DURING COVID-19) A&R Engineering Inc.

(AM) PM

FIGURE 2

(33) 145

(1) 0
(46) 49

(3) 1
(1) 0

(0) 0

(1) 0
(210) 155
(107) 60

(24) 34

(79) 202

(0) 2

(82) 67

(170) 384

(178) 405

(70) 72(357) 244(119) 72

(65) 104
(104) 170

(158) 112

(359) 299

(144) 80

(63) 55

(7) 7(5) 6

(5) 8
(236) 334

(233) 235

(8) 7

(2) 2
(26) 61

(245) 279
(1) 0

(51) 9

(205) 246

(18) 12(15) 13

(14) 13
(223) 272

(194) 239

(13) 12

167

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

09

ADJUSTED EXISTING WEEKDAY PEAK-HOUR VOLUMES

A&R Engineering Inc.

(AM) PM

FIGURE 3

(36) 146

(1) 0
(50) 49

(3) 1
(1) 0(0) 0

(1) 0
(229) 157
(117) 61 (26) 34

(86) 204

(0) 2

(89) 68

(185) 388

(194) 409

(76) 73(389) 246(130) 73

(71) 105
(113) 172

(172) 113

(391) 302

(157) 81

(69) 56

(8) 7(5) 6

(5) 8
(257) 337

(254) 237

(9) 7

(2) 2
(28) 62

(267) 282
(1) 0

(56) 9

(223) 248

(20) 12(16) 13

(15) 13
(243) 275

(211) 241

(14) 12

168

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

10 
 
 

4.3 Existing Traffic Operations 
Existing 2021 traffic operations were analyzed at the study intersections in accordance with the HCM 
methodology using the volumes in Figure 3. The results of the analyses are shown in Table 3. The 
existing traffic control and lane geometry for the intersections are shown in Figure 4.  
 

Table 3 – Existing Intersection Operations 

Intersection Traffic Control 
LOS (Delay) 

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

1 

SR 44 (Greensboro Road) @ Harmony Road / Old 
Phoenix Road 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Westbound Approach 
-Northbound Approach 
-Southbound Approach 

Signalized 

 
D (47.7) 
D (44.3) 
C (29.4) 
E (68.6) 
D (36.1) 

 
D (37.2) 
C (32.5) 
B (19.0) 
E (69.0) 
D (42.3) 

2 
Harmony Road @ Village Lane 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 

Stop Controlled 
on Eastbound 

Approach 

 
B (11.2) 
A (7.9) 

 
B (12.4) 
A (8.2) 

3 
Harmony Road @ Sammons Industrial Parkway (S) 
-Westbound Approach 
-Southbound Left 

Stop Controlled 
on Westbound 

Approach 

 
B (14.2) 
A (7.9) 

 
B (14.8) 
A (0.0) 

4 
Harmony Road @ Harmony Lane 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 

Stop Controlled 
on Eastbound 

Approach 

 
B (11.2) 
A (7.8) 

 
B (12.0) 
A (8.0) 

5 

Harmony Road @ Scott Road / Private Driveway 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Westbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 
-Southbound Left 

Stop Controlled 
on Eastbound and 

Westbound 
Approaches 

 
B (11.0) 
B (14.1) 
A (0.0) 
A (7.7) 

 
A (9.1) 

B (13.3) 
A (7.6) 
A (7.9) 

 
The results of existing traffic operations analysis indicate that all the study intersections are operating at 
an level-of-service “D” or better in both AM and PM peak hours.  
 
 
 
 
 

169



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

11

EXISTING TRAFFIC CONTROL AND LANE GEOMETRY

A&R Engineering Inc.

Existing Lane Geometry

Existing Signed Approach

STOPEx

Existing Traffic SignalEx

LEGEND

FIGURE 4

STO
P

Ex

ST
O

P

Ex

STO
P

Ex

ST
O

P

Ex

STO
P

Ex

Ex

170

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

12 
 
 

5 . 0  P R O P O S E D  D E V E L O P M E N T  
 
The proposed Helms Farm Campus that will be located on Harmony Road at Sammons Industrial 
Parkway (South), northeast of Harmony Road at Village Lane and southwest of Harmony Road at 
Harmony Lane in City of Eatonton, Putnam County, Georgia. The traffic analysis evaluates the current 
operations compared to the future conditions with the traffic generated by the development. A site plan 
is shown in Figure 5. The development will consist of: 
 

•  Goodwill Store: 16,800 sf 
• Helms College: 50 Students 
• Edgar’s Bakery: 7,000 sf 
• Retail including Spa: 26,920 sf 
• High-Turn-over Sit-Down Restaurant: 13,100 sf 
• Super Market: 14,500 sf 
• Multi-family (mid-rise) Residential: 127 Units 
• Student Housing: 18 Units 
• Vacation Villas (Resorts): 41 Units 
• Event Hall or Banquet Hall: 22,000 sf 
• Hotel: 175 Rooms 

 
The development proposes two site driveways at the following locations: 
 

• Site Driveway 1: Full-access (Southern) driveway on Harmony Road 
• Site Driveway 2: Full-access (Northern) driveway on Harmony Road 

 
A site plan is included in Figure 5. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

171



172



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

14 
 
 

5.1 Trip Generation 
Trip generation estimates for the project were based on the rates and equations published in the 10th 
edition of the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation report for the daily, AM and 
PM peak hours. This reference contains traffic volume count data collected at similar facilities 
nationwide. The calculated total trip generation for the proposed developments are shown in Table 4. 
 

Table 4 – Trip Generation 

Land Use Size 
AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 24 Hour 

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total Two-way 
815 – Free-Standing Discount Store 16,800 sf 14 6 20 40 41 81 892 

Mixed-Use Reduction -3 -1 -2 -3 -3 -4 -7 
Pass-by Trips (0%) 17% 0 0 0 0 -6 -6 -12 

930 – Fast Casual Restaurant 7,000 sf 10 4 14 54 45 99 2,206 
Mixed-Use Reduction -9 -4 -4 -8 -8 -9 -17 

Pass-by Trips (49%) 50% -66 -3 0 -3 -23 -18 -41 
820 – Shopping Center 26,920 sf 15 10 25 49 54 103 1,016 

Mixed-Use Reduction -3 -2 -2 -4 -4 -4 -8 
Pass-by Trips (0%) 34% 0 0 0 0 -15 -17 -32 

932 -High-Turnover (Sit-Down) Rest. 13,100 sf 71 59 130 79 49 128 1,470 
Mixed-Use Reduction -4 -2 -3 -5 -5 -6 -11 

Pass-by Trips (0%) 43% 0 0 0 0 -32 -18 -50 
850 – Supermarket 14,500 sf 33 22 55 68 66 134 2,241 

Mixed-Use Reduction -6 -4 -4 -8 -8 -9 -17 
Pass-by Trips (0%) 36% 0 0 0 0 -22 -21 -43 

550 - University/Colleges 50 Students 6 2 8 2 6 8 78 
Mixed-Use Reduction -2 -2 0 -2 -1 -1 -2 

221- Multifamily Housing (Mid-Rise) 127 Units 11 32 43 34 22 56 690 
Mixed-Use Reduction -6 -3 -3 -6 -7 -6 -13 

225 - Off-Campus Student Apartment 18 Beds 3 4 7 3 4 7 57 
Mixed-Use Reduction -1 0 0 0 -1 -1 -2 

260 - Recreational Homes 41 Rooms 6 3 9 4 7 11 142 
Mixed-Use Reduction -1 -1 -1 -2 -2 -1 -3 

495 - Recreational Community Center 22,000 sf 26 13 39 24 27 51 634 
Mixed-Use Reduction -6 -2 -2 -4 -6 -5 -11 

310 –Hotel 175 Rooms 48 34 82 53 52 105 1,549 
Mixed-Use Reduction -14 -6 -7 -13 -16 -13 -29 

Total Trips (without Reductions) 243 190 433 410 373 783 10,975 
New External Trips (with Reductions) 213 162 375 251 234 485 7,382 

Daily pass-by reduction estimated to be ten times the PM pass-by volume.  
 

173



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

15 
 
 

The trip generation was based on the following ITE Land Uses: 221 – Multifamily Housing (Mid-Rise),  
225 – Off-Campus Student Apartment, 260 – Recreational Homes, 310 – Hotel, 495 - Recreational 
Community Center, 550 - University/Colleges, 815 - Free-Standing Discount Store, 820 – Shopping 
center, 850 – Supermarket, 932 - High-Turnover (Sit-Down) Restaurant and 930 – Fast Casual 
Restaurant. Due to the nature of the development, pass-by and mixed-use reductions have been applied 
per ITE standards. 

5.2 Trip Distribution 
The trip distribution describes how traffic arrives and departs from the site. An overall trip distribution 
was developed for the site based on a review of GDOT ADT volumes and the locations of major 
roadways and highways that will serve the development. The site-generated peak hour traffic volumes, 
shown in Table 4, were assigned to the study area intersections based on this distribution. The outer-leg 
distribution and AM and PM peak hour new traffic generated by the site are shown in Figure 6. Pass-by 
volumes have also been distributed based on existing travel patterns and are shown in Figure 7. 

174



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

6

Site 
Drwy 1 (S)

Site Drwy 2 (N) 7

16
A&R Engineering Inc.

(0) 0
(0) 0
(11) 13

(0) 0
(0) 0

(0) 0

(0) 0
(43) 50
(0) 0

(8) 12

(32) 47

(0) 0

TRIP DISTRIBUTION AND SITE-GENERATED
WEEKDAY PEAK HOUR VOLUMES

(AM) PM

FIGURE 6

(64) 75

(0) 0
(0) 0

(0) 0
(0) 0(64) 75

(49) 70
(24) 35

(49) 70

(0) 0
(32) 38

(0) 0

(0) 0(0) 0

(0) 0
(122) 176

(160) 188

(0) 0

(0) 0(0) 0

(0) 0
(53) 63

(41) 59

(0) 0

(97) 140(20) 29

(27) 31
(24) 35

(32) 38

(128) 151

(0) 0
(0) 0
(0) 0

(24) 35(0) 0(20) 29

(27) 31
(27) 31
(0) 0

(0) 0
(20) 29

(32) 38

(0) 0
(0) 0

(122) 176
(0) 0

(0) 0
(160) 188

175

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
15%

AutoCAD SHX Text
30%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
5%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
20%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
30%%%



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

6

Site 
Drwy 1 (S)

Site Drwy 2 (N) 7

17
A&R Engineering Inc.

(AM) PM

FIGURE 7SITE PEAK HOUR PASS-BY VOLUMES

(0) 25(0) 23

(1) 31
(-1) -31

(-1) -28

(1) 28

(0) 0
(0) 0
(0) 0

(0) 17(0) 0(0) 15

(1) 21
(-1) -21

(0) 0

(0) 0
(-1) -18

(1) 18

176

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

18 
 
 

6 . 0  F U T U R E  2 0 2 2  T R A F F I C  A N A L Y S I S  
 
The future 2025 traffic operations are analyzed for the “Build” and “No-Build” conditions. This provides 
a basis of reference for determining both the contribution of the site to overall traffic conditions and the 
additional improvements needed to provide sufficient site access and capacity for passing traffic. Note 
that survey and construction drawings would be needed to verify the feasibility and extent of additional 
right-of-way required for any recommended improvements.  
 
Improvements that are identified as “System Improvements” address deficiencies that are found within 
the existing road network prior to any impacts from the proposed development’s added traffic. 
Improvements that are identified as “Site Mitigation Improvements” address further impacts that are a 
result of the proposed development’s added traffic. 

6.1 Future “No-Build” Conditions 
The “No-Build” (or background) conditions provide an assessment of how traffic will operate in the 
study horizon year without the study site being developed as proposed, with projected increases in 
through traffic volumes due to normal annual growth. The Future “No-Build” volumes consist of the 
adjusted existing traffic volumes (Figure 3) plus increases for annual growth of through traffic. 

6.1.1 Annual Traffic Growth 
In order to evaluate future traffic operations in this area, a projection of normal traffic growth was 
applied to the existing volumes. The Georgia Department of Transportation recorded average daily 
traffic volumes at several locations in the vicinity of the site.  Reviewing the growth over the last three 
years revealed growth of approximately 2.5% in the area. This growth factor was applied to the existing 
traffic volumes between collector and arterial roadways in order to estimate the future year traffic 
volumes prior to the addition of site-generated traffic. The resulting Future “No-Build” volumes on the 
roadway are shown in Figure 8. 

Future “Build” Conditions 
The “Build” or development conditions include the estimated background traffic from the “No-Build” 
conditions plus the added traffic from the proposed development. In order to evaluate future traffic 
operations in this area, the additional traffic volumes from the site (Figure 6) and pass-by volumes 
(Figure 7) were added to base traffic volumes (Figure 8) to calculate the future traffic volumes after the 
construction of the development. These total future traffic volumes are shown in Figure 9. 

177



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

19
A&R Engineering Inc.

FUTURE (NO-BUILD) WEEKDAY PEAK HOUR VOLUMES

(AM) PM

FIGURE 8

(40) 161

(1) 0
(55) 54

(3) 1
(1) 0

(0) 0

(1) 0
(253) 173
(129) 67

(29) 38

(95) 225

(0) 2

(98) 75

(204) 428

(214) 451

(84) 81(429) 272(143) 81

(78) 116
(125) 190

(190) 125

(432) 333

(173) 89

(76) 62

(9) 8(6) 7

(6) 9
(284) 372

(280) 262

(10) 8

(2) 2
(31) 68

(295) 311
(1) 0

(62) 10

(246) 274

(22) 13(18) 14

(17) 14
(268) 304

(233) 266

(15) 13

178

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

6

Site 
Drwy 1 (S)

Site Drwy 2 (N) 7

20

FUTURE (BUILD) WEEKDAY PEAK HOUR VOLUMES
A&R Engineering Inc.

(AM) PM

FIGURE 9

(40) 161

(1) 0
(66) 67

(3) 1
(1) 0

(0) 0

(1) 0
(296) 223
(129) 67

(37) 50

(127) 272

(0) 2

(162) 150

(204) 428

(214) 451

(84) 81(429) 272(207) 156

(127) 186
(149) 225

(239) 195

(432) 333

(205) 127

(76) 62

(9) 8(6) 7

(6) 9
(406) 548

(440) 450

(10) 8

(22) 13(18) 14

(17) 14
(321) 367

(274) 325

(15) 13

(97) 165(20) 52

(28) 62
(319) 315

(280) 286

(129) 179

(0) 0
(0) 0
(0) 0

(24) 52(0) 0(20) 44

(28) 52
(322) 321

(0) 0

(0) 0
(268) 287

(33) 56

(2) 2
(31) 68

(417) 487
(1) 0

(62) 10

(406) 462

179

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

21 
 
 

6.1.2 Auxiliary Lane Analysis  
Included below are analyses for left-turn lanes and deceleration lanes for all site driveways per GDOT 
standards. The analyses below are based off the “trip distribution”.  According to the trip distribution, 
the total site generated trips is 10,975 and the mixed-use reduction is 1,814. Therefore, the 24-hour 
two-way volume the site is 9,161 vehicles.  

6.1.3 Left Turn Lane Analysis 
For two lane roadways with AADT’s less than 6,000 vehicles and a posted speed limit of 45 mph, the 
daily site generated left-turn threshold to warrant a left-turn lane is 250 left-turning vehicles. The 
projected left-turn volumes per day for each driveway is included below.  
 

 
Since the projected number of left-turning vehicles at Site Driveway 1 and Site Driveway 2 exceed the 
threshold of 250 left turning vehicles, a left-turn lane is warranted at both site driveways per GDOT 
standards.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 5 - GDOT Requirements for Left Turn Lanes 

Intersection 
Left- turn  

traffic 
(% entering) 

Left-turn Volume (vehicle/day) 
Roadway 

Speed/ # lanes 
/ ADT 

GDOT 
Threshold 

(vehicle/day) 

Harmony Road @  
Site Driveway 1 (S) 

60% 
2,748 

 (Total trips – mixed use) ÷ 2 × 0.60 = 
(10,975 – 1,814) ÷ 2 x 0.60 = 2,748 

45 mph /  
2-lane/ <6,000 

250 

Harmony Road @  
Site Driveway 2 (N) 

15% 
687 

 (Total trips – mixed use) ÷ 2 × 0.15 = 
(10,975 – 1,814) ÷ 2 x 0.15 = 687 

45 mph /  
2-lane/ <6,000 

250 

180



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

22 
 
 

6.1.4 Deceleration Turn Lane Analysis 
For two lane roadways with AADT’s less than 6,000 vehicles and a posted speed limit of 45 mph, the 
daily site generated right-turn threshold to warrant a deceleration lane is 150 right turning vehicles. The 
projected right-turn volumes per day for each driveway is included in Table 6. 
 

 
Since the projected number of right turning vehicles at Site Driveway 1 and Site Driveway 2 exceed the 
threshold of 150 right turning vehicles, a deceleration lane is warranted at both site driveways per GDOT 
standards.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 6 - GDOT Requirements for Deceleration Lanes 

Intersection 
Right-turn traffic 
(% total entering) 

Right-turn Volume (vehicle/day) 
Roadway 
Speed/   # 

lanes / ADT 

GDOT 
Threshold 

(vehicle/day) 
Harmony Road @  

Site Driveway 1 
(S) 

12.5% 
573 

 (Total trips – mixed use) ÷ 2 × 0.125 = 
(10,975 – 1,814) ÷ 2 x 0.125 = 573 

45 mph /  
2-lane/ 
<6,000 

150 

Harmony Road @  
Site Driveway 2 

(N) 
12.5% 

573 
 (Total trips – mixed use) ÷ 2 × 0.125 = 

(10,975 – 1,814) ÷ 2 x 0.125 = 573 

45 mph /  
2-lane/ 
<6,000 

150 

181



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

23 
 
 

6.2  Future Traffic Conditions 
The future 2025 “No-Build” and “Build” traffic operations were analyzed using the volumes in Figure 8 
and Figure 9, respectively, and the results are shown in Table 7.  
 

Table 7 – Future Intersection Operations 

Intersection 

Future Condition: LOS (Delay) 
NO-BUILD BUILD 

AM Peak PM 
Peak AM Peak PM Peak 

1 

SR 44 (Greensboro Road) @ Harmony Road 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Westbound Approach 
-Northbound Approach 
-Southbound Approach 

E (62.5) 
D (47.4) 
D (35.9) 
F (102.9) 
D (42.9) 

D (41.0) 
D (39.2) 
C (23.7) 
F (80.8) 
D (32.7) 

E (75.4) 
E (64.7) 
E (67.2) 

F (110.6) 
D (46.5) 

D (50.0) 
D (44.6) 
D (36.1) 
F (91.7) 
D (38.0) 

2 
Harmony Road @ Village Lane 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 

 
B (11.7) 
A (8.0) 

 
B (13.1) 
A (8.3) 

 
B (14.4) 
A (8.3) 

 
C (18.5) 
A (8.9) 

3 
Harmony Road @ Sammons Industrial Parkway (South) 
-Westbound Approach 
-Southbound Left 

 
C (15.2) 
A (8.0) 

 
C (16.1) 
A (0.0) 

 
C (21.8) 
A (8.4) 

 
D (29.9) 
A (0.0) 

4 
Harmony Road @ Harmony Lane 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 

 
B (11.7) 
A (7.9) 

 
B (12.6) 
A (8.1) 

 
B (12.6) 
A (8.1) 

 
B (14.0) 
A (8.3) 

5 

Harmony Road @ Scott Road / Private Driveway 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Westbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 
-Southbound Left 

 
B (11.4) 
C (15.4) 
A (0.0) 
A (7.8) 

 
A (9.2) 

B (14.5) 
A (7.6) 
A (8.0) 

 
B (12.0) 
C (18.5) 
A (0.0) 
A (7.9) 

 
A (9.5) 

C (18.0) 
A (7.7) 
A (8.2) 

6 
Harmony Road @ Site Driveway 1 (S) 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 

- - 
 

B (12.6) 
A (8.5) 

 
C (15.8) 
A (8.8) 

7 

Harmony Road @ Site Driveway 2 (N) / Private Driveway 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Westbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 
-Southbound Left 

- - 

 
B (13.1) 
A (0.0) 
A (8.2) 
A (0.0) 

 
C (14.6) 
A (0.0) 
A (8.3) 
A (0.0) 

 
The results of future ‘No-Build” traffic operations analysis indicate that the intersection of SR 44 
(Greensboro Road) and Harmony Road will operate at level-of-service “E” in AM peak hour and the 
northbound approach of Old Phoenix Road will operate at level-of-service “F”.  This approach has a large 
volume of right-turn movement but does not have a dedicated right-turn lane causing this approach 
experience longer delays.  As part of GDOT’s SR 44 Widening project PI 0006253 this intersection will be 
improved by constructing a northbound right-turn lane on Old Phoenix Road and dual westbound left-
turn lanes on SR 44 and an additional southbound through lane on Harmony Road.  With these 
improvements, the intersection should operate at satisfactory levels-of service.  Since the project 

182



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

24 
 
 

completion dates are not available, we did not include these ‘System Improvements’ in our analysis.  All 
other intersections will be operating at satisfactory levels-of-service in both peak hours.  GDOT’s 
intersection improvement plan is shown below and in Figure 10. In future “Build” conditions all 
intersections will be operating at similar levels-of-service as in “No-Build” conditions.  Recommendations 
for future traffic control and lane geometry is shown in Figure 11.  
 

 
 

183



184



185



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

27 
 
 

7 . 0  C O N C L U S I O N S  A N D  R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S  
 
The purpose of this study is to determine the traffic impact that will result from the proposed Helms 
Farm Campus development that will be located on Harmony Road across from Sammons Industrial 
Parkway (South), north of Village Lane in City of Eatonton, Putnam County, Georgia. The traffic analysis 
evaluates the current operations compared to the future conditions with the traffic generated by the 
development. The development will consist of: 
 

• Goodwill Store: 16,800 sf 
• Helms College: 50 Students 
• Edgar’s Bakery: 7,000 sf 
• Retail including Spa: 26,920 sf 
• High-Turn-over Sit-Down Restaurant: 13,100 sf 
• Super Market: 14,500 sf 
• Multi-family (mid-rise) Residential: 127 Units 
• Student Housing: 18 Units 
• Vacation Villas (Resorts): 41 Units 
• Event Hall or Banquet Hall: 22,000 sf 
• Hotel: 175 Rooms 

 

The development proposes three site accesses at the following locations: 
• Site Driveway 1: Full-access (Southern) driveway on Harmony Road 
• Site Driveway 2: Full-access (Northern) driveway on Harmony Road 

 
Both AM and PM peak hours have been analyzed in this study.  This study includes the evaluation of 
traffic operations at the intersections of: 
 

• Harmony Road at SR 44 (Greensboro Road) / Old Phoenix Road 
• Harmony Road at Village Lane 
• Harmony Road at Sammons Industrial Parkway (South) 
• Harmony Road at Harmony Lane 
• Harmony Road at Scott Road / Private Driveway 
• Harmony Road at Site Driveway 1 (Southern) 
• Harmony Road at Site Driveway 2 (Northern) / Private Driveway 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

186



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

28 
 
 

The analysis included the evaluation of “Existing” operations and future operations for “No-Build” and 
“Build” conditions, both of which account for increases in annual growth of through traffic.  The results 
of the analysis are listed below: 
 
Recommendations for Site Access Configuration 
 

The following access configuration is recommended for the proposed site driveway intersections.  
 

• Site Driveway 1: Full-access (Southern) driveway on Harmony Road 
o The driveway to have two entering and two exiting lanes. The eastbound (driveway) 

approach to have separate left and right-turn lane for exiting traffic. 
o The intersection to be unsignalized with a STOP sign on the eastbound approach.  
o A northbound left-turn lane to be constructed on Harmony Road for entering traffic.  
o A southbound deceleration lane to be constructed on Harmony Road for entering traffic. 

 

• Site Driveway 2: Full-access (Northern) driveway on Harmony Road 
o The driveway to have one entering and two exiting lanes. The eastbound (driveway) 

approach to have separate left and right-turn lane for exiting traffic. 
o The intersection to be unsignalized with a STOP sign on the eastbound approach.  
o A northbound left-turn lane to be constructed on Harmony Road for entering traffic.   
o A southbound deceleration lane is recommended to be constructed on Harmony Road 

for entering traffic. 
 

The proposed Helms Farm Campus development will be completed in different phases as determined by 
the market conditions and demand.  The projected phasing of the entire development is given below.  
This study was evaluated to determine improvements for the full build out in year 2025. 
 

LAND USE UNITS PHASE 1 
2023 

PHASE 2 
2024 

PHASE 3 
Early 2025 

PHASE 4 
Late 2025 

Goodwill Store 16,800 sf 16,800 sf - - - 
Helms College 50 Students 25 Students 25 Students - - 
Edgar’s Bakery 7,000 sf 7,000 sf - - - 
Retail 26,920 sf 3400 11,200 sf 12,320 sf - 
Sit-Down Restaurant 13,100 sf - 2,500 sf 2,500 sf 8,100 sf 
Super Market 14,500 sf - - 14,500 sf - 
Multi-family Apartments 127 Units - 42 64 21 
Student Housing 18 Units - 6 9 3 
Vacation Villas 41 Units - - 20 Units 21 Units 
Event Hall/Banquet 22,000 sf - - - 22,000 sf 
Hotel  175 Rooms - - 175 Rooms - 
 

187



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

29 
 
 

The most traffic impact from the project occurs during the AM and PM peak hours.  The traffic volumes 
generated by the project during these peak hours in different directions is shown graphically in figure 6 
on page 16.  As shown on this figure, a maximum of 29 vehicles are projected to turn left at any of the 
two driveways.  The northern driveway has only 35 vehicles turning right while the southern driveway 
will have 140 vehicles turning right.  These turning movements amount to 1 or 2 vehicles per minute.  
This magnitude of traffic volumes will not create any significant impact on traffic on Harmony Road 
especially the development will construct left-turn lanes and deceleration lanes per our 
recommendations. 

 
The results of future traffic operations analysis indicate that after addition of the new traffic generated 
by the proposed Helms Farm Campus development, all study intersections will continue to operate at 
similar levels-of-service as before.  The existing delays at Old Phoenix Road at SR 44 (Greensboro Road) 
intersection will improve after the proposed SR 44 Widening project (PI 0006253) 10 is completed by 
GDOT. 
 

188



 
 
 

 

Appendix  
Existing Intersection Traffic Counts ................................................................................................................  
Linear Regression of Daily Traffic ....................................................................................................................  
Existing Intersection Analysis ..........................................................................................................................  
Future “No-Build” Intersection Analysis .........................................................................................................  
Future “Build” Intersection Analysis ...............................................................................................................  
Traffic Volume Worksheets ............................................................................................................................  

 

189



 
 
 

 

E X I S T I N G  I N T E R S E C T I O N  T R A F F I C  C O U N T S  

190



File Name : 20210171
Site Code : 20210171
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 1

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Village Lane
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Groups Printed- Cars,Buses & Trucks
Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southbound

Village Lane
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

07:00 AM 1 52 0 53 0 38 1 39 2 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 95
07:15 AM 2 48 0 50 0 50 2 52 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 104
07:30 AM 2 58 0 60 0 53 1 54 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 117
07:45 AM 1 75 0 76 0 61 1 62 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 141

Total 6 233 0 239 0 202 5 207 5 0 6 11 0 0 0 0 457

08:00 AM 2 54 0 56 0 59 2 61 2 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 120
08:15 AM 3 46 0 49 0 63 1 64 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 116
08:30 AM 1 42 0 43 0 56 0 56 2 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 102
08:45 AM 1 47 0 48 0 59 2 61 1 0 3 4 0 0 0 0 113

Total 7 189 0 196 0 237 5 242 6 0 7 13 0 0 0 0 451

*** BREAK ***

04:00 PM 1 66 0 67 0 68 1 69 2 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 140
04:15 PM 1 46 0 47 0 55 2 57 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 107
04:30 PM 2 57 0 59 0 60 1 61 3 0 1 4 0 0 0 0 124
04:45 PM 1 55 0 56 0 64 1 65 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 123

Total 5 224 0 229 0 247 5 252 7 0 6 13 0 0 0 0 494

05:00 PM 3 69 0 72 0 100 2 102 2 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 178
05:15 PM 2 63 0 65 0 91 3 94 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 161
05:30 PM 1 48 0 49 0 79 2 81 2 0 3 5 0 0 0 0 135
05:45 PM 1 47 0 48 0 64 1 65 3 0 2 5 0 0 0 0 118

Total 7 227 0 234 0 334 8 342 8 0 8 16 0 0 0 0 592

Grand Total 25 873 0 898 0 1020 23 1043 26 0 27 53 0 0 0 0 1994
Apprch % 2.8 97.2 0  0 97.8 2.2  49.1 0 50.9  0 0 0   

Total % 1.3 43.8 0 45 0 51.2 1.2 52.3 1.3 0 1.4 2.7 0 0 0 0

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

191



File Name : 20210171
Site Code : 20210171
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 2

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Village Lane
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southbound

Village Lane
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:30 AM

07:30 AM 2 58 0 60 0 53 1 54 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 117
07:45 AM 1 75 0 76 0 61 1 62 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 141

08:00 AM 2 54 0 56 0 59 2 61 2 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 120
08:15 AM 3 46 0 49 0 63 1 64 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 116

Total Volume 8 233 0 241 0 236 5 241 5 0 7 12 0 0 0 0 494
% App. Total 3.3 96.7 0  0 97.9 2.1  41.7 0 58.3  0 0 0   

PHF .667 .777 .000 .793 .000 .937 .625 .941 .625 .000 .875 1.00 .000 .000 .000 .000 .876

 Harmony Rd 

 V
ill

a
g
e
 L

a
n
e
 

  

 Harmony Rd 

Right
5 

Thru
236 

Left
0 

InOut Total
238 241 479 

R
ig

h
t0
 

T
h
ru0

 
L
e
ft0

 

O
u
t

T
o
ta

l
In

0
 

0
 

0
 

Left
8 

Thru
233 

Right
0 

Out TotalIn
243 241 484 

L
e
ft

5
 

T
h
ru

0
 

R
ig

h
t7
 

T
o
ta

l
O

u
t

In
1
3
 

1
2
 

2
5
 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:30 AM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

192



File Name : 20210171
Site Code : 20210171
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 3

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Village Lane
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southbound

Village Lane
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 04:00 PM to 05:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 04:45 PM

04:45 PM 1 55 0 56 0 64 1 65 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 123
05:00 PM 3 69 0 72 0 100 2 102 2 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 178

05:15 PM 2 63 0 65 0 91 3 94 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 161
05:30 PM 1 48 0 49 0 79 2 81 2 0 3 5 0 0 0 0 135

Total Volume 7 235 0 242 0 334 8 342 6 0 7 13 0 0 0 0 597
% App. Total 2.9 97.1 0  0 97.7 2.3  46.2 0 53.8  0 0 0   

PHF .583 .851 .000 .840 .000 .835 .667 .838 .750 .000 .583 .650 .000 .000 .000 .000 .838

 Harmony Rd 

 V
ill

a
g

e
 L

a
n

e
 

  

 Harmony Rd 

Right
8 

Thru
334 

Left
0 

InOut Total
241 342 583 

R
ig

h
t0
 

T
h

ru0
 

L
e

ft0
 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

0
 

0
 

0
 

Left
7 

Thru
235 

Right
0 

Out TotalIn
341 242 583 

L
e

ft
6

 
T

h
ru

0
 

R
ig

h
t7
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

1
5

 
1

3
 

2
8

 

Peak Hour Begins at 04:45 PM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

193



File Name : 20210170
Site Code : 20210170
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 1

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ SR 44 Greens boro Rd
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Groups Printed- Cars, Buses - Trucks
Old Phonix Rd

Northbound
Harmony Rd
Southound Eastbound

SR 44 ( Greensboro Rd )
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

07:00 AM 5 36 40 81 19 14 10 43 29 51 9 89 30 36 12 78 291
07:15 AM 18 32 69 119 27 15 16 58 25 68 13 106 37 42 10 89 372
07:30 AM 12 37 68 117 44 22 15 81 28 81 20 129 42 45 10 97 424
07:45 AM 16 43 99 158 34 21 16 71 47 95 12 154 35 41 20 96 479

Total 51 148 276 475 124 72 57 253 129 295 54 478 144 164 52 360 1566

08:00 AM 12 33 85 130 34 16 15 65 28 108 28 164 37 52 19 108 467
08:15 AM 13 30 97 140 54 36 17 107 28 76 16 120 53 36 27 116 483
08:30 AM 22 38 78 138 36 31 17 84 16 78 14 108 53 41 16 110 440
08:45 AM 6 33 85 124 45 28 16 89 15 70 15 100 64 42 19 125 438

Total 53 134 345 532 169 111 65 345 87 332 73 492 207 171 81 459 1828

*** BREAK ***

04:00 PM 10 36 69 115 40 45 17 102 14 51 12 77 90 77 20 187 481
04:15 PM 7 26 65 98 33 35 19 87 21 57 17 95 91 71 18 180 460
04:30 PM 14 20 64 98 31 27 22 80 18 46 17 81 95 77 25 197 456
04:45 PM 18 17 67 102 32 27 24 83 0 0 0 0 82 84 29 195 380

Total 49 99 265 413 136 134 82 352 53 154 46 253 358 309 92 759 1777

05:00 PM 23 15 78 116 40 53 29 122 22 56 17 95 95 87 26 208 541
05:15 PM 0 19 77 96 32 47 26 105 19 57 18 94 99 91 17 207 502
05:30 PM 16 24 76 116 21 38 25 84 17 68 22 107 112 105 13 230 537
05:45 PM 16 22 68 106 19 32 24 75 14 63 15 92 99 101 11 211 484

Total 55 80 299 434 112 170 104 386 72 244 72 388 405 384 67 856 2064

Grand Total 208 461 1185 1854 541 487 308 1336 341 1025 245 1611 1114 1028 292 2434 7235
Apprch % 11.2 24.9 63.9  40.5 36.5 23.1  21.2 63.6 15.2  45.8 42.2 12   

Total % 2.9 6.4 16.4 25.6 7.5 6.7 4.3 18.5 4.7 14.2 3.4 22.3 15.4 14.2 4 33.6
Cars, Buses 200 444 1159 1803 496 459 297 1252 331 948 237 1516 1087 986 261 2334 6905
% Cars, Buses 96.2 96.3 97.8 97.2 91.7 94.3 96.4 93.7 97.1 92.5 96.7 94.1 97.6 95.9 89.4 95.9 95.4

Trucks 8 17 26 51 45 28 11 84 10 77 8 95 27 42 31 100 330
% Trucks 3.8 3.7 2.2 2.8 8.3 5.7 3.6 6.3 2.9 7.5 3.3 5.9 2.4 4.1 10.6 4.1 4.6

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

194



File Name : 20210170
Site Code : 20210170
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 2

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ SR 44 Greens boro Rd
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Old Phonix Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound Eastbound

SR 44 ( Greensboro Rd )
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:45 AM

07:45 AM 16 43 99 158 34 21 16 71 47 95 12 154 35 41 20 96 479
08:00 AM 12 33 85 130 34 16 15 65 28 108 28 164 37 52 19 108 467
08:15 AM 13 30 97 140 54 36 17 107 28 76 16 120 53 36 27 116 483
08:30 AM 22 38 78 138 36 31 17 84 16 78 14 108 53 41 16 110 440

Total Volume 63 144 359 566 158 104 65 327 119 357 70 546 178 170 82 430 1869
% App. Total 11.1 25.4 63.4  48.3 31.8 19.9  21.8 65.4 12.8  41.4 39.5 19.1   

PHF .716 .837 .907 .896 .731 .722 .956 .764 .633 .826 .625 .832 .840 .817 .759 .927 .967
Cars, Buses 61 137 345 543 137 92 62 291 116 328 66 510 168 156 72 396 1740
% Cars, Buses 96.8 95.1 96.1 95.9 86.7 88.5 95.4 89.0 97.5 91.9 94.3 93.4 94.4 91.8 87.8 92.1 93.1

Trucks 2 7 14 23 21 12 3 36 3 29 4 36 10 14 10 34 129
% Trucks 3.2 4.9 3.9 4.1 13.3 11.5 4.6 11.0 2.5 8.1 5.7 6.6 5.6 8.2 12.2 7.9 6.9

 Harmony Rd 

  
 S

R
 4

4
 ( G

re
e

n
sb

o
ro

 R
d

 ) 

 Old Phonix Rd 

Right

62 
3 

65 
Thru

92 
12 

104 
Left

137 
21 

158 

InOut Total
325 291 616 
20 36 56 

345 672 327 

R
ig

h
t

7
2

 
1

0
 

8
2

 
T

h
ru

1
5

6
 

1
4

 
1

7
0

 
L

e
ft

1
6

8
 

1
0

 
1

7
8

 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

8
1

0
 

3
9

6
 

1
2

0
6

 
6

4
 

3
4

 
9

8
 

8
7

4
 

1
3

0
4

 
4

3
0

 

Left
61 
2 

63 

Thru
137 

7 
144 

Right
345 
14 

359 

Out TotalIn

326 543 869 
26 23 49 

352 918 566 

L
e

ft

1
1

6
 

3
 

1
1

9
 

T
h

ru3
2

8
 

2
9

 
3

5
7

 
R

ig
h

t

6
6

 
4

 
7

0
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

2
7

9
 

5
1

0
 

7
8

9
 

1
9

 
3

6
 

5
5

 
2

9
8

 
8

4
4

 
5

4
6

 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:45 AM
 
Cars, Buses
Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

195



File Name : 20210170
Site Code : 20210170
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 3

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ SR 44 Greens boro Rd
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Old Phonix Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound Eastbound

SR 44 ( Greensboro Rd )
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 04:00 PM to 05:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 05:00 PM

05:00 PM 23 15 78 116 40 53 29 122 22 56 17 95 95 87 26 208 541
05:15 PM 0 19 77 96 32 47 26 105 19 57 18 94 99 91 17 207 502
05:30 PM 16 24 76 116 21 38 25 84 17 68 22 107 112 105 13 230 537
05:45 PM 16 22 68 106 19 32 24 75 14 63 15 92 99 101 11 211 484

Total Volume 55 80 299 434 112 170 104 386 72 244 72 388 405 384 67 856 2064
% App. Total 12.7 18.4 68.9  29 44 26.9  18.6 62.9 18.6  47.3 44.9 7.8   

PHF .598 .833 .958 .935 .700 .802 .897 .791 .818 .897 .818 .907 .904 .914 .644 .930 .954
Cars, Buses 53 79 299 431 112 167 102 381 71 239 71 381 400 378 62 840 2033
% Cars, Buses 96.4 98.8 100 99.3 100 98.2 98.1 98.7 98.6 98.0 98.6 98.2 98.8 98.4 92.5 98.1 98.5

Trucks 2 1 0 3 0 3 2 5 1 5 1 7 5 6 5 16 31
% Trucks 3.6 1.3 0 0.7 0 1.8 1.9 1.3 1.4 2.0 1.4 1.8 1.2 1.6 7.5 1.9 1.5

 Harmony Rd 

  
 S

R
 4

4
 ( G

re
e

n
sb

o
ro

 R
d

 ) 

 Old Phonix Rd 

Right

102 
2 

104 
Thru

167 
3 

170 
Left

112 
0 

112 

InOut Total
212 381 593 

7 5 12 
219 605 386 

R
ig

h
t

6
2

 
5

 
6

7
 

T
h

ru

3
7

8
 

6
 

3
8

4
 

L
e

ft

4
0

0
 

5
 

4
0

5
 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

6
5

0
 

8
4

0
 

1
4

9
0

 
5

 
1

6
 

2
1

 
6

5
5

 
1

5
1

1
 

8
5

6
 

Left
53 
2 

55 

Thru
79 
1 

80 

Right
299 

0 
299 

Out TotalIn

638 431 1069 
9 3 12 

647 1081 434 

L
e

ft7
1

 
1

 
7

2
 

T
h

ru2
3

9
 

5
 

2
4

4
 

R
ig

h
t

7
1

 
1

 
7

2
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

5
3

3
 

3
8

1
 

9
1

4
 

1
0

 
7

 
1

7
 

5
4

3
 

9
3

1
 

3
8

8
 

Peak Hour Begins at 05:00 PM
 
Cars, Buses
Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

196



File Name : 20210169
Site Code : 20210169
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 1

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Sammons Ind Pkwy (South)
7-9 am I 4-6 pm

Groups Printed- Cars, Buses - Trucks

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound Eastbound

Sammons Ind Pkwy
(South)

Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

07:00 AM 0 44 10 54 1 38 0 39 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 5 98
07:15 AM 0 42 8 50 4 51 0 55 0 0 0 0 7 0 1 8 113
07:30 AM 0 45 18 63 0 52 0 52 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 6 121
07:45 AM 0 61 17 78 0 62 0 62 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 5 145

Total 0 192 53 245 5 203 0 208 0 0 0 0 23 0 1 24 477

08:00 AM 0 51 8 59 0 62 0 62 0 0 0 0 7 0 2 9 130
08:15 AM 0 48 8 56 1 69 0 70 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 8 134
08:30 AM 0 38 10 48 0 55 0 55 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 9 112
08:45 AM 0 47 6 53 1 59 0 60 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 7 120

Total 0 184 32 216 2 245 0 247 0 0 0 0 31 0 2 33 496

*** BREAK ***

04:00 PM 0 67 5 72 0 64 0 64 0 0 0 0 7 0 1 8 144
04:15 PM 0 50 3 53 0 55 0 55 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 4 112
04:30 PM 0 59 3 62 0 61 0 61 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 125
04:45 PM 0 57 7 64 0 59 0 59 0 0 0 0 8 0 1 9 132

Total 0 233 18 251 0 239 0 239 0 0 0 0 20 0 3 23 513

05:00 PM 0 76 0 76 0 78 0 78 0 0 0 0 23 0 0 23 177
05:15 PM 0 66 1 67 0 81 0 81 0 0 0 0 11 0 1 12 160
05:30 PM 0 47 1 48 0 61 0 61 0 0 0 0 19 0 0 19 128
05:45 PM 0 46 4 50 0 62 0 62 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 4 116

Total 0 235 6 241 0 282 0 282 0 0 0 0 57 0 1 58 581

Grand Total 0 844 109 953 7 969 0 976 0 0 0 0 131 0 7 138 2067
Apprch % 0 88.6 11.4  0.7 99.3 0  0 0 0  94.9 0 5.1   

Total % 0 40.8 5.3 46.1 0.3 46.9 0 47.2 0 0 0 0 6.3 0 0.3 6.7
Cars, Buses 0 798 75 873 6 923 0 929 0 0 0 0 97 0 5 102 1904
% Cars, Buses 0 94.5 68.8 91.6 85.7 95.3 0 95.2 0 0 0 0 74 0 71.4 73.9 92.1

Trucks 0 46 34 80 1 46 0 47 0 0 0 0 34 0 2 36 163
% Trucks 0 5.5 31.2 8.4 14.3 4.7 0 4.8 0 0 0 0 26 0 28.6 26.1 7.9

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

197



File Name : 20210169
Site Code : 20210169
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 2

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Sammons Ind Pkwy (South)
7-9 am I 4-6 pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound Eastbound

Sammons Ind Pkwy
(South)

Westbound
Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:30 AM

07:30 AM 0 45 18 63 0 52 0 52 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 6 121
07:45 AM 0 61 17 78 0 62 0 62 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 5 145
08:00 AM 0 51 8 59 0 62 0 62 0 0 0 0 7 0 2 9 130
08:15 AM 0 48 8 56 1 69 0 70 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 8 134

Total Volume 0 205 51 256 1 245 0 246 0 0 0 0 26 0 2 28 530
% App. Total 0 80.1 19.9  0.4 99.6 0  0 0 0  92.9 0 7.1   

PHF .000 .840 .708 .821 .250 .888 .000 .879 .000 .000 .000 .000 .813 .000 .250 .778 .914
Cars, Buses 0 194 39 233 1 223 0 224 0 0 0 0 13 0 2 15 472
% Cars, Buses 0 94.6 76.5 91.0 100 91.0 0 91.1 0 0 0 0 50.0 0 100 53.6 89.1

Trucks 0 11 12 23 0 22 0 22 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 13 58
% Trucks 0 5.4 23.5 9.0 0 9.0 0 8.9 0 0 0 0 50.0 0 0 46.4 10.9

 Harmony Rd 

  
 S

a
m

m
o

n
s In

d
 P

kw
y (S

o
u

th
) 

 Harmony Rd 

Right

0 
0 
0 

Thru

223 
22 

245 
Left

1 
0 
1 

InOut Total
196 224 420 
11 22 33 

207 453 246 

R
ig

h
t 2
 

0
 

2
 

T
h

ru 0
 

0
 

0
 

L
e

ft 1
3

 
1

3
 

2
6

 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

4
0

 
1

5
 

5
5

 
1

2
 

1
3

 
2

5
 

5
2

 
8

0
 

2
8

 

Left
0 
0 
0 

Thru
194 
11 

205 

Right
39 
12 
51 

Out TotalIn

236 233 469 
35 23 58 

271 527 256 

L
e

ft

0
 

0
 

0
 

T
h

ru

0
 

0
 

0
 

R
ig

h
t0
 

0
 

0
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:30 AM
 
Cars, Buses
Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

198



File Name : 20210169
Site Code : 20210169
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 3

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Sammons Ind Pkwy (South)
7-9 am I 4-6 pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound Eastbound

Sammons Ind Pkwy
(South)

Westbound
Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 04:00 PM to 05:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 04:45 PM

04:45 PM 0 57 7 64 0 59 0 59 0 0 0 0 8 0 1 9 132
05:00 PM 0 76 0 76 0 78 0 78 0 0 0 0 23 0 0 23 177
05:15 PM 0 66 1 67 0 81 0 81 0 0 0 0 11 0 1 12 160
05:30 PM 0 47 1 48 0 61 0 61 0 0 0 0 19 0 0 19 128

Total Volume 0 246 9 255 0 279 0 279 0 0 0 0 61 0 2 63 597
% App. Total 0 96.5 3.5  0 100 0  0 0 0  96.8 0 3.2   

PHF .000 .809 .321 .839 .000 .861 .000 .861 .000 .000 .000 .000 .663 .000 .500 .685 .843
Cars, Buses 0 231 4 235 0 274 0 274 0 0 0 0 60 0 1 61 570
% Cars, Buses 0 93.9 44.4 92.2 0 98.2 0 98.2 0 0 0 0 98.4 0 50.0 96.8 95.5

Trucks 0 15 5 20 0 5 0 5 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2 27
% Trucks 0 6.1 55.6 7.8 0 1.8 0 1.8 0 0 0 0 1.6 0 50.0 3.2 4.5

 Harmony Rd 

  
 S

a
m

m
o

n
s In

d
 P

kw
y (S

o
u

th
) 

 Harmony Rd 

Right

0 
0 
0 

Thru

274 
5 

279 
Left

0 
0 
0 

InOut Total
232 274 506 
16 5 21 

248 527 279 

R
ig

h
t 1
 

1
 

2
 

T
h

ru 0
 

0
 

0
 

L
e

ft 6
0

 
1

 
6

1
 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

4
 

6
1

 
6

5
 

5
 

2
 

7
 

9
 

7
2

 
6

3
 

Left
0 
0 
0 

Thru
231 
15 

246 

Right
4 
5 
9 

Out TotalIn

334 235 569 
6 20 26 

340 595 255 

L
e

ft

0
 

0
 

0
 

T
h

ru

0
 

0
 

0
 

R
ig

h
t0
 

0
 

0
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

Peak Hour Begins at 04:45 PM
 
Cars, Buses
Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

199



File Name : 20210168
Site Code : 20210168
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 1

TMC DATA
Harmony Rd @ Scott Rd
7 am - 7  pm

Groups Printed- Cars,Buses & Trucks
Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound

Private Drwy
Eastbound

Scott Rd
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

07:00 AM 0 17 3 20 9 24 0 33 0 0 1 1 3 0 6 9 63
07:15 AM 0 18 4 22 27 48 0 75 0 1 1 2 10 0 7 17 116
07:30 AM 0 23 5 28 23 59 0 82 0 0 2 2 10 1 4 15 127
07:45 AM 0 20 7 27 35 58 0 93 0 0 0 0 10 0 11 21 141

Total 0 78 19 97 94 189 0 283 0 1 4 5 33 1 28 62 447

08:00 AM 0 18 8 26 22 45 1 68 0 0 0 0 16 0 11 27 121
08:15 AM 0 25 5 30 17 48 0 65 0 0 1 1 7 0 9 16 112
08:30 AM 0 14 4 18 16 30 0 46 0 0 0 0 6 0 11 17 81
08:45 AM 0 19 9 28 18 53 0 71 0 0 0 0 6 0 14 20 119

Total 0 76 26 102 73 176 1 250 0 0 1 1 35 0 45 80 433

09:00 AM 1 27 4 32 27 44 0 71 1 0 1 2 14 0 5 19 124
09:15 AM 0 19 9 28 21 30 0 51 0 0 0 0 5 0 10 15 94
09:30 AM 0 24 7 31 14 26 0 40 0 0 0 0 8 0 6 14 85
09:45 AM 0 24 8 32 16 40 0 56 0 0 0 0 12 0 12 24 112

Total 1 94 28 123 78 140 0 218 1 0 1 2 39 0 33 72 415

10:00 AM 0 19 9 28 13 25 0 38 0 0 0 0 7 0 12 19 85
10:15 AM 0 22 8 30 14 38 0 52 0 0 0 0 9 0 18 27 109
10:30 AM 0 28 4 32 12 29 0 41 0 0 0 0 6 0 18 24 97
10:45 AM 0 22 12 34 22 33 0 55 0 0 0 0 7 0 10 17 106

Total 0 91 33 124 61 125 0 186 0 0 0 0 29 0 58 87 397

11:00 AM 0 18 7 25 16 22 0 38 0 0 0 0 4 0 18 22 85
11:15 AM 0 20 6 26 17 34 0 51 0 0 0 0 7 0 17 24 101
11:30 AM 0 34 12 46 16 40 0 56 0 0 1 1 7 0 14 21 124
11:45 AM 0 31 8 39 14 28 0 42 0 0 0 0 11 0 17 28 109

Total 0 103 33 136 63 124 0 187 0 0 1 1 29 0 66 95 419

12:00 PM 1 22 10 33 14 20 0 34 0 0 0 0 8 0 18 26 93
12:15 PM 0 27 4 31 12 31 0 43 0 0 0 0 7 0 17 24 98
12:30 PM 0 19 9 28 20 34 0 54 0 0 1 1 14 0 20 34 117
12:45 PM 0 27 5 32 14 37 0 51 0 0 0 0 14 0 18 32 115

Total 1 95 28 124 60 122 0 182 0 0 1 1 43 0 73 116 423

01:00 PM 0 33 8 41 18 28 0 46 0 0 0 0 15 0 11 26 113
01:15 PM 0 29 5 34 16 31 0 47 0 0 0 0 6 0 14 20 101
01:30 PM 0 35 6 41 12 33 0 45 0 0 0 0 10 0 17 27 113
01:45 PM 0 18 11 29 13 31 0 44 0 0 0 0 11 0 11 22 95

Total 0 115 30 145 59 123 0 182 0 0 0 0 42 0 53 95 422

02:00 PM 0 32 7 39 8 23 0 31 0 0 0 0 9 0 18 27 97
02:15 PM 0 30 4 34 14 44 0 58 0 0 0 0 11 0 11 22 114
02:30 PM 1 19 8 28 16 30 0 46 0 0 0 0 6 0 19 25 99
02:45 PM 0 46 8 54 12 38 0 50 0 0 0 0 10 0 21 31 135

Total 1 127 27 155 50 135 0 185 0 0 0 0 36 0 69 105 445

03:00 PM 0 42 12 54 19 44 0 63 0 0 0 0 11 0 10 21 138
03:15 PM 0 26 11 37 15 51 0 66 0 0 0 0 10 0 19 29 132
03:30 PM 0 26 7 33 22 36 0 58 0 0 0 0 11 0 25 36 127
03:45 PM 0 32 11 43 18 51 0 69 0 0 0 0 6 0 23 29 141

Total 0 126 41 167 74 182 0 256 0 0 0 0 38 0 77 115 538

04:00 PM 0 28 9 37 12 31 0 43 0 0 0 0 6 0 20 26 106
04:15 PM 0 30 9 39 12 31 0 43 0 0 0 0 6 0 20 26 108

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

200



File Name : 20210168
Site Code : 20210168
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 2

TMC DATA
Harmony Rd @ Scott Rd
7 am - 7  pm

Groups Printed- Cars,Buses & Trucks
Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound

Private Drwy
Eastbound

Scott Rd
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

04:30 PM 0 37 8 45 21 31 0 52 0 0 0 0 15 0 19 34 131
04:45 PM 1 44 7 52 19 37 0 56 0 0 1 1 10 0 30 40 149

Total 1 139 33 173 64 130 0 194 0 0 1 1 37 0 89 126 494

05:00 PM 1 61 6 68 10 35 0 45 0 0 0 0 18 0 29 47 160
05:15 PM 0 53 12 65 18 40 0 58 0 0 0 0 12 0 46 58 181
05:30 PM 0 44 9 53 13 43 0 56 0 0 0 0 9 0 40 49 158
05:45 PM 0 27 10 37 8 44 0 52 0 0 0 0 8 0 23 31 120

Total 1 185 37 223 49 162 0 211 0 0 0 0 47 0 138 185 619

06:00 PM 1 32 8 41 11 31 0 42 0 0 0 0 6 0 11 17 100
06:15 PM 0 37 4 41 17 30 0 47 0 0 0 0 9 0 22 31 119
06:30 PM 2 27 5 34 23 27 0 50 1 0 0 1 6 0 20 26 111
06:45 PM 2 15 2 19 6 31 0 37 0 0 0 0 4 0 11 15 71

Total 5 111 19 135 57 119 0 176 1 0 0 1 25 0 64 89 401

Grand Total 10 1340 354 1704 782 1727 1 2510 2 1 9 12 433 1 793 1227 5453
Apprch % 0.6 78.6 20.8  31.2 68.8 0  16.7 8.3 75  35.3 0.1 64.6   

Total % 0.2 24.6 6.5 31.2 14.3 31.7 0 46 0 0 0.2 0.2 7.9 0 14.5 22.5

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

201



File Name : 20210168
Site Code : 20210168
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 3

TMC DATA
Harmony Rd @ Scott Rd
7 am - 7  pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound

Private Drwy
Eastbound

Scott Rd
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:15 AM

07:15 AM 0 18 4 22 27 48 0 75 0 1 1 2 10 0 7 17 116
07:30 AM 0 23 5 28 23 59 0 82 0 0 2 2 10 1 4 15 127
07:45 AM 0 20 7 27 35 58 0 93 0 0 0 0 10 0 11 21 141
08:00 AM 0 18 8 26 22 45 1 68 0 0 0 0 16 0 11 27 121

Total Volume 0 79 24 103 107 210 1 318 0 1 3 4 46 1 33 80 505
% App. Total 0 76.7 23.3  33.6 66 0.3  0 25 75  57.5 1.2 41.2   

PHF .000 .859 .750 .920 .764 .890 .250 .855 .000 .250 .375 .500 .719 .250 .750 .741 .895

 Harmony Rd 

 P
ri
va

te
 D

rw
y  S

co
tt R

d
 

 Harmony Rd 

Right
1 

Thru
210 

Left
107 

InOut Total
112 318 430 

R
ig

h
t

3
3

 
T

h
ru1

 
L

e
ft4
6

 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

1
3

2
 

8
0

 
2

1
2

 

Left
0 

Thru
79 

Right
24 

Out TotalIn
259 103 362 

L
e

ft
0

 
T

h
ru

1
 

R
ig

h
t3
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

2
 

4
 

6
 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:15 AM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

202



File Name : 20210168
Site Code : 20210168
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 4

TMC DATA
Harmony Rd @ Scott Rd
7 am - 7  pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound

Private Drwy
Eastbound

Scott Rd
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 12:00 PM to 01:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 12:30 PM

12:30 PM 0 19 9 28 20 34 0 54 0 0 1 1 14 0 20 34 117
12:45 PM 0 27 5 32 14 37 0 51 0 0 0 0 14 0 18 32 115
01:00 PM 0 33 8 41 18 28 0 46 0 0 0 0 15 0 11 26 113
01:15 PM 0 29 5 34 16 31 0 47 0 0 0 0 6 0 14 20 101

Total Volume 0 108 27 135 68 130 0 198 0 0 1 1 49 0 63 112 446
% App. Total 0 80 20  34.3 65.7 0  0 0 100  43.8 0 56.2   

PHF .000 .818 .750 .823 .850 .878 .000 .917 .000 .000 .250 .250 .817 .000 .788 .824 .953

 Harmony Rd 

 P
ri
va

te
 D

rw
y  S

co
tt R

d
 

 Harmony Rd 

Right
0 

Thru
130 

Left
68 

InOut Total
171 198 369 

R
ig

h
t

6
3

 
T

h
ru0

 
L

e
ft4
9

 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

9
5

 
1

1
2

 
2

0
7

 

Left
0 

Thru
108 

Right
27 

Out TotalIn
180 135 315 

L
e

ft
0

 
T

h
ru

0
 

R
ig

h
t1
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

0
 

1
 

1
 

Peak Hour Begins at 12:30 PM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

203



File Name : 20210168
Site Code : 20210168
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 5

TMC DATA
Harmony Rd @ Scott Rd
7 am - 7  pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound

Private Drwy
Eastbound

Scott Rd
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 04:00 PM to 06:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 04:45 PM

04:45 PM 1 44 7 52 19 37 0 56 0 0 1 1 10 0 30 40 149
05:00 PM 1 61 6 68 10 35 0 45 0 0 0 0 18 0 29 47 160
05:15 PM 0 53 12 65 18 40 0 58 0 0 0 0 12 0 46 58 181
05:30 PM 0 44 9 53 13 43 0 56 0 0 0 0 9 0 40 49 158

Total Volume 2 202 34 238 60 155 0 215 0 0 1 1 49 0 145 194 648
% App. Total 0.8 84.9 14.3  27.9 72.1 0  0 0 100  25.3 0 74.7   

PHF .500 .828 .708 .875 .789 .901 .000 .927 .000 .000 .250 .250 .681 .000 .788 .836 .895

 Harmony Rd 

 P
ri
va

te
 D

rw
y  S

co
tt R

d
 

 Harmony Rd 

Right
0 

Thru
155 

Left
60 

InOut Total
347 215 562 

R
ig

h
t

1
4

5
 

T
h

ru0
 

L
e

ft4
9

 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

9
4

 
1

9
4

 
2

8
8

 

Left
2 

Thru
202 

Right
34 

Out TotalIn
205 238 443 

L
e

ft
0

 
T

h
ru

0
 

R
ig

h
t1
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

2
 

1
 

3
 

Peak Hour Begins at 04:45 PM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

204



File Name : 20210172
Site Code : 20210172
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 1

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Harmony Lane
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Groups Printed- Cars,Buses & Trucks
Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southbound

Harmony Lane
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

07:00 AM 3 44 0 47 0 35 2 37 2 0 3 5 0 0 0 0 89
07:15 AM 4 41 0 45 0 46 3 49 3 0 5 8 0 0 0 0 102
07:30 AM 4 42 0 46 0 49 4 53 4 0 5 9 0 0 0 0 108
07:45 AM 1 60 0 61 0 60 2 62 4 0 4 8 0 0 0 0 131

Total 12 187 0 199 0 190 11 201 13 0 17 30 0 0 0 0 430

08:00 AM 4 48 0 52 0 55 3 58 4 0 5 9 0 0 0 0 119
08:15 AM 4 44 0 48 0 59 5 64 3 0 4 7 0 0 0 0 119
08:30 AM 2 38 0 40 0 54 3 57 5 0 4 9 0 0 0 0 106
08:45 AM 2 43 0 45 0 57 4 61 2 0 3 5 0 0 0 0 111

Total 12 173 0 185 0 225 15 240 14 0 16 30 0 0 0 0 455

*** BREAK ***

04:00 PM 4 63 0 67 0 64 4 68 3 0 5 8 0 0 0 0 143
04:15 PM 3 45 0 48 0 52 5 57 4 0 4 8 0 0 0 0 113
04:30 PM 2 55 0 57 0 58 3 61 4 0 3 7 0 0 0 0 125
04:45 PM 3 52 0 55 0 57 3 60 5 0 2 7 0 0 0 0 122

Total 12 215 0 227 0 231 15 246 16 0 14 30 0 0 0 0 503

05:00 PM 4 69 0 73 0 77 4 81 2 0 5 7 0 0 0 0 161
05:15 PM 3 63 0 66 0 80 3 83 2 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 153
05:30 PM 4 47 0 51 0 60 4 64 3 0 4 7 0 0 0 0 122
05:45 PM 4 44 0 48 0 60 5 65 4 0 4 8 0 0 0 0 121

Total 15 223 0 238 0 277 16 293 11 0 15 26 0 0 0 0 557

Grand Total 51 798 0 849 0 923 57 980 54 0 62 116 0 0 0 0 1945
Apprch % 6 94 0  0 94.2 5.8  46.6 0 53.4  0 0 0   

Total % 2.6 41 0 43.7 0 47.5 2.9 50.4 2.8 0 3.2 6 0 0 0 0

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

205



File Name : 20210172
Site Code : 20210172
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 2

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Harmony Lane
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southbound

Harmony Lane
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:30 AM

07:30 AM 4 42 0 46 0 49 4 53 4 0 5 9 0 0 0 0 108
07:45 AM 1 60 0 61 0 60 2 62 4 0 4 8 0 0 0 0 131

08:00 AM 4 48 0 52 0 55 3 58 4 0 5 9 0 0 0 0 119
08:15 AM 4 44 0 48 0 59 5 64 3 0 4 7 0 0 0 0 119

Total Volume 13 194 0 207 0 223 14 237 15 0 18 33 0 0 0 0 477
% App. Total 6.3 93.7 0  0 94.1 5.9  45.5 0 54.5  0 0 0   

PHF .813 .808 .000 .848 .000 .929 .700 .926 .938 .000 .900 .917 .000 .000 .000 .000 .910

 Harmony Rd 

 H
a
rm

o
n
y 

L
a
n
e
 

  

 Harmony Rd 

Right
14 

Thru
223 

Left
0 

InOut Total
209 237 446 

R
ig

h
t0
 

T
h
ru0

 
L
e
ft0

 

O
u
t

T
o
ta

l
In

0
 

0
 

0
 

Left
13 

Thru
194 

Right
0 

Out TotalIn
241 207 448 

L
e
ft1
5
 

T
h
ru

0
 

R
ig

h
t

1
8
 

T
o
ta

l
O

u
t

In
2
7
 

3
3
 

6
0
 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:30 AM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

206



File Name : 20210172
Site Code : 20210172
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 3

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Harmony Lane
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southbound

Harmony Lane
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 04:00 PM to 05:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 04:30 PM

04:30 PM 2 55 0 57 0 58 3 61 4 0 3 7 0 0 0 0 125
04:45 PM 3 52 0 55 0 57 3 60 5 0 2 7 0 0 0 0 122
05:00 PM 4 69 0 73 0 77 4 81 2 0 5 7 0 0 0 0 161

05:15 PM 3 63 0 66 0 80 3 83 2 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 153
Total Volume 12 239 0 251 0 272 13 285 13 0 12 25 0 0 0 0 561

% App. Total 4.8 95.2 0  0 95.4 4.6  52 0 48  0 0 0   
PHF .750 .866 .000 .860 .000 .850 .813 .858 .650 .000 .600 .893 .000 .000 .000 .000 .871

 Harmony Rd 

 H
a

rm
o

n
y 

L
a

n
e

 
  

 Harmony Rd 

Right
13 

Thru
272 

Left
0 

InOut Total
252 285 537 

R
ig

h
t0
 

T
h

ru0
 

L
e

ft0
 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

0
 

0
 

0
 

Left
12 

Thru
239 

Right
0 

Out TotalIn
284 251 535 

L
e

ft1
3

 
T

h
ru

0
 

R
ig

h
t

1
2

 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

2
5

 
2

5
 

5
0

 

Peak Hour Begins at 04:30 PM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

207



Page 1 
  
 
 

24-Hour Bi-Directional Counts on Harmony
Rd North of Scott Road

Site Code: 20210173
Date Start: 27-May-21
Date End: 27-May-21

 

A&R Engineering, Inc.
2160 Kingston Court, Suite O

Marietta, GA 30067

 
Start 27-May-2          
Time Thu Northbou Southbou       Total

12:00 AM 3 2 5
01:00 5 5 10
02:00 4 4 8
03:00 3 3 6
04:00 11 15 26
05:00 21 33 54
06:00 81 91 172

07:00 106 222 328

08:00 121 211 332
09:00 127 179 306
10:00 149 154 303

11:00 169 153 322
12:00 PM 168 165 333

01:00 168 175 343
02:00 196 171 367

03:00 203 220 423
04:00 228 167 395

05:00 323 209 532
06:00 175 144 319
07:00 125 95 220
08:00 79 68 147
09:00 51 35 86
10:00 36 28 64
11:00 15 17 32
Total  2567 2566       5133

Percent  50.0% 50.0%        
AM Peak - 11:00 07:00 - - - - - - 08:00

Vol. - 169 222 - - - - - - 332
PM Peak - 17:00 15:00 - - - - - - 17:00

Vol. - 323 220 - - - - - - 532
Grand

Total
 2567 2566       5133

Percent  50.0% 50.0%        
  

ADT ADT 5,133 AADT 5,133

208



 
 
 

 

L I N E A R  R E G R E S S I O N  O F  D A I L Y  T R A F F I C  

209



Location Growth Rate R Squared Station ID Route 2017 2018 2019

Harmony Road (north of Scott R ‐0.7% 0.75 237‐0181 00021800 3,620 3,570 3,570 Major Collector (Rural)

SR 44 (North of Harmony Rd) 4.2% 0.81 237‐0146 00004400 14,000 14,100 15,200 Minor Arterial (Rural)

SR 44 (North of Loch Way) 1.3% 0.65 237‐0145 00004400 5,760 5,740 5,910 Minor Arterial (Rural)

Harmony Road (Northeast of Ha 0.4% 0.75 237‐0183 00021800 2,430 2,450 2,450 Major Collector (Rural)

Weighted Average 2.5% 0.78 25,810 25,860 27,130

Traffic Counter RCLINK 2017 2018 2019 Sum X

237‐0181 00021800 3,620 3,570 3,570 Sum Y

Sum XY

Sum X2

Count

a

b

Mean Y

SStot

SSres

R2

‐0.7% Intercept 54,037 Slope ‐25.00

3,612 3,587 3,562

Traffic Counter RCLINK 2017 2018 2019 Sum X

237‐0146 00004400 14,000 14,100 15,200 Sum Y

Sum XY

Sum X2

Count

a

b

Mean Y

SStot

SSres

R2

4.2% Intercept ‐1,196,367 Slope 600.00

13,833 14,433 15,033

Traffic Counter RCLINK 2017 2018 2019 Sum X

237‐0145 00004400 5,760 5,740 5,910 Sum Y

Sum XY

Sum X2

Count

a

b

Mean Y

SStot

SSres

R2

1.3% Intercept ‐145,547 Slope 75.00

5,728 5,803 5,878

Traffic Counter RCLINK 2017 2018 2019 Sum X

237‐0183 00021800 2,430 2,450 2,450 Sum Y

Sum XY

Sum X2

Count

a

b

Mean Y

SStot

SSres

R2

0.4% Intercept ‐17,737 Slope 10.00

2,433 2,443 2,453

Traffic Counter RCLINK 2017 2018 2019 Sum X

0 0 0 0 0 Sum Y

Sum XY

Sum X2

Count

a

b

Mean Y

SStot

SSres

R2

#DIV/0! Intercept 0 Slope 0.00

0 0 0

Harmony Road (north of Scott Road)

Location

Location

Trend Line

Trend Line

Growth Rate

Sum of Count Stations = 

Location

0

Growth Rate

Trend Line

Trend Line

Growth Rate

Location

SR 44 (North of Loch Way)

Location

SR 44 (North of Harmony Rd)

Harmony Road (Northeast of Harmony Drive)

Growth Rate

Growth Rate

Trend Line

3,520
3,540
3,560
3,580
3,600
3,620
3,640

2017 2018 2019

A
xi
s 
Ti
tl
e

Trend Line

13,000

13,500

14,000

14,500

15,000

15,500

2017 2018 2019

A
xi
s 
Ti
tl
e

Trend Line

5,600

5,700

5,800

5,900

6,000

2017 2018 2019

A
xi
s 
Ti
tl
e

Trend Line

2,410

2,420

2,430

2,440

2,450

2,460

2017 2018 2019

A
xi
s 
Ti
tl
e

Trend Line

0

0

0

1

1

1

2017 2018 2019

A
xi
s 
Ti
tl
e

Trend Line

210



 
 
 

 

E X I S T I N G  I N T E R S E C T I O N  A N A L Y S I S  

211



Timings Existing AM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 130 389 76 194 185 89 69 157 172 113
Future Volume (vph) 130 389 76 194 185 89 69 157 172 113
Lane Group Flow (vph) 134 401 78 200 191 92 71 565 177 189
Turn Type Perm NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 2 1 6 8 7 4
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 8 4
Detector Phase 2 2 2 1 6 6 8 8 7 4
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 5.0 15.0 15.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5
Total Split (s) 39.2 39.2 39.2 15.0 54.2 54.2 47.8 47.8 18.0 65.8
Total Split (%) 32.7% 32.7% 32.7% 12.5% 45.2% 45.2% 39.8% 39.8% 15.0% 54.8%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Lead/Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode C-Min C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None
v/c Ratio 0.37 0.74 0.14 0.70 0.25 0.14 0.19 0.94 0.80 0.24
Control Delay 37.5 47.6 1.9 38.8 23.7 5.0 29.2 55.0 52.7 14.8
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 37.5 47.6 1.9 38.8 23.7 5.0 29.2 55.0 52.7 14.8
Queue Length 50th (ft) 84 289 0 103 97 0 38 336 84 62
Queue Length 95th (ft) 146 #445 11 #182 154 32 74 #547 #199 108
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1244 234 548 408
Turn Bay Length (ft) 580 250 265 225 255 300
Base Capacity (vph) 364 545 557 284 765 679 415 647 222 846
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.37 0.74 0.14 0.70 0.25 0.14 0.17 0.87 0.80 0.22

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 75 (63%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 90
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     1: Harmony Rd & SR 44

212



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Existing AM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 130 389 76 194 185 89 69 157 391 172 113 71
Future Volume (veh/h) 130 389 76 194 185 89 69 157 391 172 113 71
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1856 1781 1811 1811 1781 1722 1856 1826 1841 1707 1737 1826
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 134 401 0 200 191 0 71 162 403 177 116 73
Peak Hour Factor 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 8 6 6 8 12 3 5 4 13 11 5
Cap, veh/h 415 534 289 757 478 164 407 202 482 303
Arrive On Green 0.30 0.30 0.00 0.08 0.42 0.00 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.09 0.48 0.48
Sat Flow, veh/h 1183 1781 1535 1725 1781 1459 1185 464 1154 1626 997 627
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 134 401 0 200 191 0 71 0 565 177 0 189
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1183 1781 1535 1725 1781 1459 1185 0 1618 1626 0 1624
Q Serve(g_s), s 10.7 24.4 0.0 9.5 8.3 0.0 5.0 0.0 41.7 8.1 0.0 8.2
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 10.7 24.4 0.0 9.5 8.3 0.0 5.0 0.0 41.7 8.1 0.0 8.2
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.71 1.00 0.39
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 415 534 289 757 478 0 570 202 0 785
V/C Ratio(X) 0.32 0.75 0.69 0.25 0.15 0.00 0.99 0.88 0.00 0.24
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 415 534 289 757 478 0 570 233 0 816
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 33.2 37.9 0.0 28.5 22.2 0.0 26.8 0.0 38.7 28.8 0.0 18.1
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.1 9.4 0.0 7.0 0.8 0.0 0.1 0.0 35.2 26.4 0.0 0.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 3.2 11.6 0.0 4.3 3.5 0.0 1.4 0.0 21.2 4.4 0.0 2.9
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 35.2 47.3 0.0 35.4 23.0 0.0 26.9 0.0 73.8 55.2 0.0 18.3
LnGrp LOS D D D C C A E E A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 535 A 391 A 636 366
Approach Delay, s/veh 44.3 29.4 68.6 36.1
Approach LOS D C E D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 15.0 41.5 63.5 56.5 15.7 47.8
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 9.5 33.7 60.3 48.7 12.5 42.3
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 11.5 26.4 10.2 10.3 10.1 43.7
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 4.2 0.7 4.9 0.1 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 47.7
HCM 6th LOS D

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [EBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

213



HCM 6th TWSC Existing AM
2: Harmony Rd & Village Ln 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 5 8 9 254 257 5
Future Vol, veh/h 5 8 9 254 257 5
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 6 9 10 289 292 6
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 604 295 298 0 - 0
          Stage 1 295 - - - - -
          Stage 2 309 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 461 744 1263 - - -
          Stage 1 755 - - - - -
          Stage 2 745 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 457 744 1263 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 457 - - - - -
          Stage 1 748 - - - - -
          Stage 2 745 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.2 0.3 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1263 - 599 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.008 - 0.025 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.9 0 11.2 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

214



HCM 6th TWSC Existing AM
3: Harmony Rd & Sammons Industrial Pkwy 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.7

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 28 2 223 56 1 267
Future Vol, veh/h 28 2 223 56 1 267
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 50 2 5 24 2 9
Mvmt Flow 31 2 245 62 1 293
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 571 276 0 0 307 0
          Stage 1 276 - - - - -
          Stage 2 295 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.9 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.9 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.9 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.95 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 411 763 - - 1254 -
          Stage 1 672 - - - - -
          Stage 2 658 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 411 763 - - 1254 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 411 - - - - -
          Stage 1 672 - - - - -
          Stage 2 657 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.2 0 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 424 1254 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.078 0.001 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 14.2 7.9 0
HCM Lane LOS - - B A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.3 0 -

215



HCM 6th TWSC Existing AM
4: Harmony Rd & Harmony Ln 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 16 20 14 211 243 15
Future Vol, veh/h 16 20 14 211 243 15
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 18 22 15 232 267 16
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 537 275 283 0 - 0
          Stage 1 275 - - - - -
          Stage 2 262 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 505 764 1279 - - -
          Stage 1 771 - - - - -
          Stage 2 782 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 498 764 1279 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 498 - - - - -
          Stage 1 761 - - - - -
          Stage 2 782 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.2 0.5 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1279 - 617 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.012 - 0.064 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.8 0 11.2 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

216



HCM 6th TWSC Existing AM
5: Harmony Rd & Private Drwy/Scott Rd 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 1 3 50 1 36 0 86 26 117 229 1
Future Vol, veh/h 0 1 3 50 1 36 0 86 26 117 229 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 92 90 90 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 1 3 56 1 40 0 96 29 127 249 1
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 635 629 250 617 615 111 250 0 0 125 0 0
          Stage 1 504 504 - 111 111 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 131 125 - 506 504 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 391 399 789 402 407 942 1316 - - 1462 - -
          Stage 1 550 541 - 894 804 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 873 792 - 549 541 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 344 359 789 369 366 942 1316 - - 1462 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 344 359 - 369 366 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 550 486 - 894 804 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 835 792 - 490 486 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11 14.1 0 2.6
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1316 - - 607 493 1462 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.007 0.196 0.087 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 11 14.1 7.7 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - B B A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 0.7 0.3 - -

217



Timings Existing PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 73 246 73 409 388 68 56 81 113 172
Future Volume (vph) 73 246 73 409 388 68 56 81 113 172
Lane Group Flow (vph) 77 259 77 431 408 72 59 403 119 292
Turn Type Perm NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 2 1 6 8 7 4
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 8 4
Detector Phase 2 2 2 1 6 6 8 8 7 4
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 5.0 15.0 15.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5
Total Split (s) 33.0 33.0 33.0 34.0 67.0 67.0 38.0 38.0 15.0 53.0
Total Split (%) 27.5% 27.5% 27.5% 28.3% 55.8% 55.8% 31.7% 31.7% 12.5% 44.2%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Lead/Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead Lead Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode C-Min C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None
v/c Ratio 0.22 0.39 0.12 0.65 0.37 0.08 0.48 0.88 0.66 0.51
Control Delay 34.9 34.8 1.9 19.9 15.5 3.4 52.8 48.6 62.2 31.8
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 34.9 34.8 1.9 19.9 15.5 3.4 52.8 48.6 62.2 31.8
Queue Length 50th (ft) 42 151 0 173 159 0 40 195 67 163
Queue Length 95th (ft) 98 272 10 296 271 23 80 300 101 220
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1244 234 548 408
Turn Bay Length (ft) 580 250 265 225 255 300
Base Capacity (vph) 350 669 647 712 1105 917 165 557 204 713
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.22 0.39 0.12 0.61 0.37 0.08 0.36 0.72 0.58 0.41

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 80
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated

Splits and Phases:     1: Harmony Rd & SR 44

218



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Existing PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 73 246 73 409 388 68 56 81 302 113 172 105
Future Volume (veh/h) 73 246 73 409 388 68 56 81 302 113 172 105
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1781 1841 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 77 259 0 431 408 0 59 85 318 119 181 111
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 8 4 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 385 621 627 1038 200 90 337 147 384 235
Arrive On Green 0.33 0.33 0.00 0.18 0.55 0.00 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.05 0.35 0.35
Sat Flow, veh/h 978 1870 1585 1781 1870 1510 1070 345 1292 1781 1085 665
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 77 259 0 431 408 0 59 0 403 119 0 292
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 978 1870 1585 1781 1870 1510 1070 0 1638 1781 0 1751
Q Serve(g_s), s 6.9 12.9 0.0 18.2 14.9 0.0 6.1 0.0 29.0 3.7 0.0 15.5
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 6.9 12.9 0.0 18.2 14.9 0.0 21.6 0.0 29.0 3.7 0.0 15.5
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.79 1.00 0.38
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 385 621 627 1038 200 0 427 147 0 619
V/C Ratio(X) 0.20 0.42 0.69 0.39 0.29 0.00 0.94 0.81 0.00 0.47
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 385 621 735 1038 211 0 444 204 0 693
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 29.0 31.1 0.0 19.3 15.2 0.0 47.9 0.0 43.5 55.3 0.0 30.1
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.2 2.1 0.0 2.2 1.1 0.0 0.8 0.0 28.5 15.6 0.0 0.6
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.7 6.0 0.0 7.3 6.2 0.0 1.6 0.0 14.7 4.1 0.0 6.4
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 30.2 33.1 0.0 21.5 16.3 0.0 48.7 0.0 72.0 70.9 0.0 30.6
LnGrp LOS C C C B D A E E A C
Approach Vol, veh/h 336 A 839 A 462 411
Approach Delay, s/veh 32.5 19.0 69.0 42.3
Approach LOS C B E D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 26.7 45.4 47.9 72.1 11.1 36.8
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 28.5 27.5 47.5 61.5 9.5 32.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 20.2 14.9 17.5 16.9 5.7 31.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 1.0 4.3 1.0 12.7 0.1 0.3

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 37.2
HCM 6th LOS D

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [EBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

219



HCM 6th TWSC Existing PM
2: Harmony Rd & Village Ln 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 6 7 7 237 337 8
Future Vol, veh/h 6 7 7 237 337 8
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 7 8 8 282 401 10
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 704 406 411 0 - 0
          Stage 1 406 - - - - -
          Stage 2 298 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 403 645 1148 - - -
          Stage 1 673 - - - - -
          Stage 2 753 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 400 645 1148 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 400 - - - - -
          Stage 1 668 - - - - -
          Stage 2 753 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12.4 0.2 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1148 - 503 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.007 - 0.031 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.2 0 12.4 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

220



HCM 6th TWSC Existing PM
3: Harmony Rd & Sammons Industrial Pkwy 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.6

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 62 2 248 9 0 282
Future Vol, veh/h 62 2 248 9 0 282
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 50 6 56 2 2
Mvmt Flow 74 2 295 11 0 336
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 637 301 0 0 306 0
          Stage 1 301 - - - - -
          Stage 2 336 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.7 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.75 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 441 639 - - 1255 -
          Stage 1 751 - - - - -
          Stage 2 724 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 441 639 - - 1255 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 441 - - - - -
          Stage 1 751 - - - - -
          Stage 2 724 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.8 0 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 445 1255 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.171 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 14.8 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.6 0 -

221



HCM 6th TWSC Existing PM
4: Harmony Rd & Harmony Ln 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.7

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 13 12 12 241 275 13
Future Vol, veh/h 13 12 12 241 275 13
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 87 87 87 87
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 15 14 14 277 316 15
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 629 324 331 0 - 0
          Stage 1 324 - - - - -
          Stage 2 305 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 446 717 1228 - - -
          Stage 1 733 - - - - -
          Stage 2 748 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 440 717 1228 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 440 - - - - -
          Stage 1 723 - - - - -
          Stage 2 748 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12 0.4 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1228 - 540 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.011 - 0.053 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8 0 12 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

222



HCM 6th TWSC Existing PM
5: Harmony Rd & Private Drwy/Scott Rd 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 49 0 146 2 204 34 61 157 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 49 0 146 2 204 34 61 157 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 92 90 90 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 1 54 0 162 2 227 38 66 171 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 634 572 171 554 553 246 171 0 0 265 0 0
          Stage 1 303 303 - 250 250 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 331 269 - 304 303 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 392 430 873 443 441 793 1406 - - 1299 - -
          Stage 1 706 664 - 754 700 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 682 687 - 705 664 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 298 405 873 423 415 793 1406 - - 1299 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 298 405 - 423 415 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 705 627 - 752 699 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 541 686 - 665 627 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.1 13.3 0.1 2.2
HCM LOS A B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1406 - - 873 650 1299 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.002 - - 0.001 0.333 0.051 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.6 0 - 9.1 13.3 7.9 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A B A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 1.5 0.2 - -

223



 
 
 

 

F U T U R E  “ N O - B U I L D ”  I N T E R S E C T I O N  

A N A L Y S I S  

224



Timings No-Build AM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 143 429 84 214 204 98 76 173 190 125
Future Volume (vph) 143 429 84 214 204 98 76 173 190 125
Lane Group Flow (vph) 147 442 87 221 210 101 78 623 196 209
Turn Type Perm NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 2 1 6 8 7 4
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 8 4
Detector Phase 2 2 2 1 6 6 8 8 7 4
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 5.0 15.0 15.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5
Total Split (s) 41.0 41.0 41.0 15.0 56.0 56.0 47.0 47.0 17.0 64.0
Total Split (%) 34.2% 34.2% 34.2% 12.5% 46.7% 46.7% 39.2% 39.2% 14.2% 53.3%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Lead/Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode C-Min C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None
v/c Ratio 0.42 0.82 0.16 0.90 0.27 0.15 0.20 0.98 0.94 0.26
Control Delay 38.3 53.1 2.6 63.5 23.9 4.6 29.3 63.5 78.3 15.7
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 38.3 53.1 2.6 63.5 23.9 4.6 29.3 63.5 78.3 15.7
Queue Length 50th (ft) 91 319 0 112 105 0 42 407 106 75
Queue Length 95th (ft) 155 #482 17 #231 163 33 82 #656 #255 126
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1244 234 548 408
Turn Bay Length (ft) 580 250 265 225 255 300
Base Capacity (vph) 353 539 554 245 767 687 400 637 209 821
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.42 0.82 0.16 0.90 0.27 0.15 0.20 0.98 0.94 0.25

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 90 (75%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 90
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     1: Harmony Rd & SR 44

225



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary No-Build AM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 143 429 84 214 204 98 76 173 432 190 125 78
Future Volume (veh/h) 143 429 84 214 204 98 76 173 432 190 125 78
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1930 1853 1884 1884 1853 1791 1856 1826 1841 1707 1737 1826
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 147 442 0 221 210 0 78 178 445 196 129 80
Peak Hour Factor 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 8 6 6 8 12 3 5 4 13 11 5
Cap, veh/h 418 548 274 780 462 160 400 216 489 303
Arrive On Green 0.30 0.30 0.00 0.08 0.42 0.00 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.10 0.49 0.49
Sat Flow, veh/h 1209 1853 1596 1794 1853 1518 1163 462 1156 1626 1003 622
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 147 442 0 221 210 0 78 0 623 196 0 209
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1209 1853 1596 1794 1853 1518 1163 0 1618 1626 0 1625
Q Serve(g_s), s 11.7 26.5 0.0 9.5 8.9 0.0 5.6 0.0 41.5 9.8 0.0 9.1
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 11.7 26.5 0.0 9.5 8.9 0.0 5.6 0.0 41.5 9.8 0.0 9.1
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.71 1.00 0.38
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 418 548 274 780 462 0 560 216 0 792
V/C Ratio(X) 0.35 0.81 0.81 0.27 0.17 0.00 1.11 0.91 0.00 0.26
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 418 548 274 780 462 0 560 216 0 792
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 33.9 39.1 0.0 31.4 22.7 0.0 27.5 0.0 39.3 32.1 0.0 18.1
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.3 12.0 0.0 16.2 0.8 0.0 0.2 0.0 73.1 37.2 0.0 0.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 3.6 13.4 0.0 5.4 3.9 0.0 1.5 0.0 27.0 5.4 0.0 3.3
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 36.2 51.1 0.0 47.6 23.5 0.0 27.7 0.0 112.4 69.3 0.0 18.3
LnGrp LOS D D D C C A F E A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 589 A 431 A 701 405
Approach Delay, s/veh 47.4 35.9 102.9 42.9
Approach LOS D D F D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 15.0 41.0 64.0 56.0 17.0 47.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 9.5 35.5 58.5 50.5 11.5 41.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 11.5 28.5 11.1 10.9 11.8 43.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 4.4 0.7 5.6 0.0 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 62.5
HCM 6th LOS E

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [EBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

226



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build AM
2: Harmony Rd & Village Ln 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 6 9 10 280 284 6
Future Vol, veh/h 6 9 10 280 284 6
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 7 10 11 318 323 7
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 667 327 330 0 - 0
          Stage 1 327 - - - - -
          Stage 2 340 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 424 714 1229 - - -
          Stage 1 731 - - - - -
          Stage 2 721 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 419 714 1229 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 419 - - - - -
          Stage 1 723 - - - - -
          Stage 2 721 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.7 0.3 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1229 - 557 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.009 - 0.031 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8 0 11.7 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

227



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build AM
3: Harmony Rd & Sammons Industrial Pkwy 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.8

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 31 2 246 62 1 295
Future Vol, veh/h 31 2 246 62 1 295
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 50 2 5 24 2 9
Mvmt Flow 34 2 270 68 1 324
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 630 304 0 0 338 0
          Stage 1 304 - - - - -
          Stage 2 326 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.9 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.9 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.9 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.95 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 377 736 - - 1221 -
          Stage 1 651 - - - - -
          Stage 2 635 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 377 736 - - 1221 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 377 - - - - -
          Stage 1 651 - - - - -
          Stage 2 634 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 15.2 0 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 388 1221 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.093 0.001 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 15.2 8 0
HCM Lane LOS - - C A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.3 0 -

228



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build AM
4: Harmony Rd & Harmony Ln 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 18 22 15 233 268 17
Future Vol, veh/h 18 22 15 233 268 17
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 20 24 16 256 295 19
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 593 305 314 0 - 0
          Stage 1 305 - - - - -
          Stage 2 288 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 468 735 1246 - - -
          Stage 1 748 - - - - -
          Stage 2 761 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 461 735 1246 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 461 - - - - -
          Stage 1 737 - - - - -
          Stage 2 761 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.7 0.5 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1246 - 580 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.013 - 0.076 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.9 0 11.7 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

229



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build AM
5: Harmony Rd & Private Drwy/Scott Rd 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 1 3 55 1 40 0 95 29 129 253 1
Future Vol, veh/h 0 1 3 55 1 40 0 95 29 129 253 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 92 90 90 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 1 3 61 1 44 0 106 32 140 275 1
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 701 694 276 680 678 122 276 0 0 138 0 0
          Stage 1 556 556 - 122 122 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 145 138 - 558 556 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 353 366 763 365 374 929 1287 - - 1446 - -
          Stage 1 515 513 - 882 795 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 858 782 - 514 513 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 306 324 763 331 331 929 1287 - - 1446 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 306 324 - 331 331 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 515 455 - 882 795 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 816 782 - 452 455 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.4 15.4 0 2.6
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1287 - - 570 452 1446 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.008 0.236 0.097 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 11.4 15.4 7.8 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - B C A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 0.9 0.3 - -

230



Timings No-Build PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 81 272 81 451 428 75 62 89 125 190
Future Volume (vph) 81 272 81 451 428 75 62 89 125 190
Lane Group Flow (vph) 85 286 85 475 451 79 65 445 132 322
Turn Type Perm NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 2 1 6 8 7 4
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 8 4
Detector Phase 2 2 2 1 6 6 8 8 7 4
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 5.0 15.0 15.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5
Total Split (s) 33.0 33.0 33.0 34.0 67.0 67.0 38.0 38.0 15.0 53.0
Total Split (%) 27.5% 27.5% 27.5% 28.3% 55.8% 55.8% 31.7% 31.7% 12.5% 44.2%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Lead/Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode C-Min C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None
v/c Ratio 0.29 0.49 0.15 0.76 0.42 0.09 0.28 0.90 0.66 0.51
Control Delay 39.6 40.5 2.8 26.0 18.0 3.5 39.4 51.4 42.4 29.8
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 39.6 40.5 2.8 26.0 18.0 3.5 39.4 51.4 42.4 29.8
Queue Length 50th (ft) 52 189 0 220 202 0 41 226 69 172
Queue Length 95th (ft) 108 298 17 329 302 24 80 #380 111 248
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1244 234 548 408
Turn Bay Length (ft) 580 250 265 225 255 300
Base Capacity (vph) 293 584 582 659 1073 896 280 557 201 713
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.29 0.49 0.15 0.72 0.42 0.09 0.23 0.80 0.66 0.45

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 90
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     1: Harmony Rd & SR 44

231



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary No-Build PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 81 272 81 451 428 75 62 89 333 125 190 116
Future Volume (veh/h) 81 272 81 451 428 75 62 89 333 125 190 116
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1945 1945 1945 1945 1945 1853 1841 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 85 286 0 475 451 0 65 94 351 132 200 122
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 8 4 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 333 544 604 1019 316 94 350 181 418 255
Arrive On Green 0.28 0.28 0.00 0.20 0.52 0.00 0.27 0.27 0.27 0.07 0.38 0.38
Sat Flow, veh/h 977 1945 1648 1853 1945 1570 1041 346 1292 1781 1088 663
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 85 286 0 475 451 0 65 0 445 132 0 322
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 977 1945 1648 1853 1945 1570 1041 0 1638 1781 0 1751
Q Serve(g_s), s 8.2 14.9 0.0 20.9 17.2 0.0 6.0 0.0 32.5 6.2 0.0 16.6
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 8.2 14.9 0.0 20.9 17.2 0.0 9.0 0.0 32.5 6.2 0.0 16.6
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.79 1.00 0.38
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 333 544 604 1019 316 0 444 181 0 673
V/C Ratio(X) 0.26 0.53 0.79 0.44 0.21 0.00 1.00 0.73 0.00 0.48
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 333 544 677 1019 316 0 444 201 0 693
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 34.1 36.5 0.0 22.6 17.7 0.0 36.4 0.0 43.8 31.9 0.0 27.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.8 3.6 0.0 5.5 1.4 0.0 0.3 0.0 43.5 11.4 0.0 0.5
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.1 7.4 0.0 9.4 7.6 0.0 1.5 0.0 18.0 3.1 0.0 6.8
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 36.0 40.1 0.0 28.2 19.1 0.0 36.7 0.0 87.3 43.3 0.0 28.4
LnGrp LOS D D C B D A F D A C
Approach Vol, veh/h 371 A 926 A 510 454
Approach Delay, s/veh 39.2 23.7 80.8 32.7
Approach LOS D C F C

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 29.3 39.0 51.6 68.4 13.6 38.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 28.5 27.5 47.5 61.5 9.5 32.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 22.9 16.9 18.6 19.2 8.2 34.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.9 4.2 1.1 14.0 0.0 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 41.0
HCM 6th LOS D

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [EBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

232



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build PM
2: Harmony Rd & Village Ln 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 8 8 262 372 9
Future Vol, veh/h 7 8 8 262 372 9
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 8 10 10 312 443 11
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 781 449 454 0 - 0
          Stage 1 449 - - - - -
          Stage 2 332 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 363 610 1107 - - -
          Stage 1 643 - - - - -
          Stage 2 727 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 359 610 1107 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 359 - - - - -
          Stage 1 636 - - - - -
          Stage 2 727 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 13.1 0.2 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1107 - 460 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.009 - 0.039 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 0 13.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

233



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build PM
3: Harmony Rd & Sammons Industrial Pkwy 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.7

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 68 2 274 10 0 311
Future Vol, veh/h 68 2 274 10 0 311
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 50 6 56 2 2
Mvmt Flow 81 2 326 12 0 370
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 702 332 0 0 338 0
          Stage 1 332 - - - - -
          Stage 2 370 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.7 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.75 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 404 612 - - 1221 -
          Stage 1 727 - - - - -
          Stage 2 699 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 404 612 - - 1221 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 404 - - - - -
          Stage 1 727 - - - - -
          Stage 2 699 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 16.1 0 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 408 1221 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.204 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 16.1 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - C A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.8 0 -

234



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build PM
4: Harmony Rd & Harmony Ln 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.7

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 14 13 13 266 304 14
Future Vol, veh/h 14 13 13 266 304 14
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 87 87 87 87
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 16 15 15 306 349 16
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 693 357 365 0 - 0
          Stage 1 357 - - - - -
          Stage 2 336 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 409 687 1194 - - -
          Stage 1 708 - - - - -
          Stage 2 724 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 403 687 1194 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 403 - - - - -
          Stage 1 697 - - - - -
          Stage 2 724 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12.6 0.4 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1194 - 503 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.013 - 0.062 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.1 0 12.6 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

235



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build PM
5: Harmony Rd & Private Drwy/Scott Rd 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 54 0 161 2 225 38 67 173 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 54 0 161 2 225 38 67 173 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 92 90 90 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 1 60 0 179 2 250 42 73 188 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 699 630 188 610 609 271 188 0 0 292 0 0
          Stage 1 334 334 - 275 275 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 365 296 - 335 334 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 354 399 854 407 410 768 1386 - - 1270 - -
          Stage 1 680 643 - 731 683 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 654 668 - 679 643 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 258 373 854 386 383 768 1386 - - 1270 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 258 373 - 386 383 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 679 602 - 730 682 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 501 667 - 635 602 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.2 14.5 0.1 2.2
HCM LOS A B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1386 - - 854 615 1270 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.002 - - 0.001 0.388 0.057 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.6 0 - 9.2 14.5 8 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A B A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 1.8 0.2 - -

236



 
 
 

 

F U T U R E  “ B U I L D ”  I N T E R S E C T I O N  A N A L Y S I S  

237



Timings Build PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 207 429 84 214 204 162 76 205 239 149
Future Volume (vph) 207 429 84 214 204 162 76 205 239 149
Lane Group Flow (vph) 213 442 87 221 210 167 78 656 246 285
Turn Type Perm NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 2 1 6 8 7 4
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 8 4
Detector Phase 2 2 2 1 6 6 8 8 7 4
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 5.0 15.0 15.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5
Total Split (s) 37.0 37.0 37.0 15.0 52.0 52.0 48.0 48.0 20.0 68.0
Total Split (%) 30.8% 30.8% 30.8% 12.5% 43.3% 43.3% 40.0% 40.0% 16.7% 56.7%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Lead/Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode C-Min C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None
v/c Ratio 0.70 0.96 0.18 1.13 0.31 0.25 0.20 1.02 0.99 0.33
Control Delay 54.0 77.0 3.0 131.3 27.2 4.6 28.8 74.3 88.2 14.5
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 54.0 77.0 3.0 131.3 27.2 4.6 28.8 74.3 88.2 14.5
Queue Length 50th (ft) 150 338 0 ~147 112 0 42 ~487 146 98
Queue Length 95th (ft) #255 #543 18 #309 175 44 81 #720 #316 157
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1249 234 550 408
Turn Bay Length (ft) 580 250 265 225 255 300
Base Capacity (vph) 303 461 490 196 681 661 382 642 248 876
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.70 0.96 0.18 1.13 0.31 0.25 0.20 1.02 0.99 0.33

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 120
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
~    Volume exceeds capacity, queue is theoretically infinite.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     1: Harmony Rd & SR 44

238



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Build PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 207 429 84 214 204 162 76 205 432 239 149 127
Future Volume (veh/h) 207 429 84 214 204 162 76 205 432 239 149 127
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1856 1781 1811 1811 1781 1722 1856 1826 1841 1707 1737 1826
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 213 442 0 221 210 0 78 211 445 246 154 131
Peak Hour Factor 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 8 6 6 8 12 3 5 4 13 11 5
Cap, veh/h 365 468 214 690 444 185 391 256 451 384
Arrive On Green 0.26 0.26 0.00 0.08 0.39 0.00 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.12 0.52 0.52
Sat Flow, veh/h 1162 1781 1535 1725 1781 1459 1086 523 1104 1626 867 737
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 213 442 0 221 210 0 78 0 656 246 0 285
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1162 1781 1535 1725 1781 1459 1086 0 1627 1626 0 1604
Q Serve(g_s), s 19.9 29.2 0.0 9.5 9.8 0.0 6.0 0.0 42.5 13.6 0.0 12.4
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 19.9 29.2 0.0 9.5 9.8 0.0 6.0 0.0 42.5 13.6 0.0 12.4
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.68 1.00 0.46
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 365 468 214 690 444 0 576 256 0 836
V/C Ratio(X) 0.58 0.95 1.03 0.30 0.18 0.00 1.14 0.96 0.00 0.34
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 365 468 214 690 444 0 576 256 0 836
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 40.0 43.4 0.0 35.5 25.5 0.0 27.0 0.0 38.8 35.8 0.0 16.8
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 6.7 30.0 0.0 70.2 1.1 0.0 0.2 0.0 81.8 44.8 0.0 0.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 6.1 16.2 0.0 8.5 4.2 0.0 1.5 0.0 29.1 7.1 0.0 4.3
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 46.6 73.4 0.0 105.7 26.7 0.0 27.1 0.0 120.5 80.7 0.0 17.0
LnGrp LOS D E F C C A F F A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 655 A 431 A 734 531
Approach Delay, s/veh 64.7 67.2 110.6 46.5
Approach LOS E E F D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 15.0 37.0 68.0 52.0 20.0 48.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 9.5 31.5 62.5 46.5 14.5 42.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 11.5 31.2 14.4 11.8 15.6 44.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 0.2 1.0 5.3 0.0 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 75.4
HCM 6th LOS E

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [EBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

239



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
2: Harmony Rd & Village Ln 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 6 9 10 440 406 6
Future Vol, veh/h 6 9 10 440 406 6
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 7 10 11 500 461 7
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 987 465 468 0 - 0
          Stage 1 465 - - - - -
          Stage 2 522 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 274 597 1094 - - -
          Stage 1 632 - - - - -
          Stage 2 595 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 270 597 1094 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 270 - - - - -
          Stage 1 623 - - - - -
          Stage 2 595 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.4 0.2 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1094 - 402 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.01 - 0.042 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 0 14.4 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

240



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
3: Harmony Rd & Sammons Industrial Pkwy 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.8

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 31 2 406 62 1 417
Future Vol, veh/h 31 2 406 62 1 417
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 50 2 5 24 2 9
Mvmt Flow 34 2 446 68 1 458
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 940 480 0 0 514 0
          Stage 1 480 - - - - -
          Stage 2 460 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.9 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.9 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.9 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.95 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 241 586 - - 1052 -
          Stage 1 534 - - - - -
          Stage 2 546 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 241 586 - - 1052 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 241 - - - - -
          Stage 1 534 - - - - -
          Stage 2 545 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 21.8 0 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 250 1052 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.145 0.001 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 21.8 8.4 0
HCM Lane LOS - - C A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.5 0 -

241



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
4: Harmony Rd & Harmony Ln 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.9

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 18 22 15 274 321 17
Future Vol, veh/h 18 22 15 274 321 17
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 20 24 16 301 353 19
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 696 363 372 0 - 0
          Stage 1 363 - - - - -
          Stage 2 333 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 408 682 1186 - - -
          Stage 1 704 - - - - -
          Stage 2 726 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 401 682 1186 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 401 - - - - -
          Stage 1 693 - - - - -
          Stage 2 726 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12.6 0.4 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1186 - 518 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.014 - 0.085 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.1 0 12.6 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.3 - -

242



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
5: Harmony Rd & Private Drwy/Scott Rd 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 1 3 66 1 40 0 127 37 129 296 1
Future Vol, veh/h 0 1 3 66 1 40 0 127 37 129 296 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 92 90 90 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 1 3 73 1 44 0 141 41 140 322 1
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 787 785 323 767 765 162 323 0 0 182 0 0
          Stage 1 603 603 - 162 162 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 184 182 - 605 603 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 309 325 718 319 333 883 1237 - - 1393 - -
          Stage 1 486 488 - 840 764 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 818 749 - 485 488 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 265 285 718 287 292 883 1237 - - 1393 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 265 285 - 287 292 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 486 428 - 840 764 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 776 749 - 423 428 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12 18.5 0 2.4
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1237 - - 520 384 1393 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.009 0.31 0.101 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 12 18.5 7.9 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - B C A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 1.3 0.3 - -

243



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
6: Harmony Rd & Site Drwy 1(S) 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 20 97 129 280 319 28
Future Vol, veh/h 20 97 129 280 319 28
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 0 0 - - 175
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 22 105 140 304 347 30
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 931 347 377 0 - 0
          Stage 1 347 - - - - -
          Stage 2 584 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 296 696 1181 - - -
          Stage 1 716 - - - - -
          Stage 2 557 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 261 696 1181 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 261 - - - - -
          Stage 1 631 - - - - -
          Stage 2 557 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12.6 2.7 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1181 - 261 696 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.119 - 0.083 0.151 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.5 - 20 11.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - C B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 - 0.3 0.5 - -

244



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
7: Harmony Rd & Site Drwy 2(N)/Private Drwy 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 8

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 20 0 24 0 0 0 33 268 0 0 322 28
Future Vol, veh/h 20 0 24 0 0 0 33 268 0 0 322 28
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - 0 - - - 235 - - - - 175
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 22 0 26 0 0 0 36 291 0 0 350 30
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 713 713 350 741 743 291 380 0 0 291 0 0
          Stage 1 350 350 - 363 363 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 363 363 - 378 380 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 347 357 693 332 343 748 1178 - - 1271 - -
          Stage 1 666 633 - 656 625 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 656 625 - 644 614 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 339 346 693 312 332 748 1178 - - 1271 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 339 346 - 312 332 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 645 633 - 636 606 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 636 606 - 620 614 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 13.1 0 0.9 0
HCM LOS B A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1178 - - 339 693 - 1271 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.03 - - 0.064 0.038 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.2 - - 16.3 10.4 0 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - C B A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 0.2 0.1 - 0 - -

245



Timings Build PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 156 272 81 451 428 150 62 127 195 225
Future Volume (vph) 156 272 81 451 428 150 62 127 195 225
Lane Group Flow (vph) 164 286 85 475 451 158 65 485 205 433
Turn Type Perm NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 2 1 6 8 7 4
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 8 4
Detector Phase 2 2 2 1 6 6 8 8 7 4
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 5.0 15.0 15.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5
Total Split (s) 36.0 36.0 36.0 27.0 63.0 63.0 39.0 39.0 18.0 57.0
Total Split (%) 30.0% 30.0% 30.0% 22.5% 52.5% 52.5% 32.5% 32.5% 15.0% 47.5%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Lead/Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode C-Min C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None
v/c Ratio 0.65 0.57 0.16 0.93 0.49 0.19 0.27 0.94 0.83 0.58
Control Delay 53.3 43.7 2.8 49.8 22.9 3.2 37.4 61.0 55.1 27.7
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 53.3 43.7 2.8 49.8 22.9 3.2 37.4 61.0 55.1 27.7
Queue Length 50th (ft) 115 196 0 255 233 0 39 291 102 223
Queue Length 95th (ft) #213 290 17 #414 329 36 80 #491 #231 327
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1249 234 550 408
Turn Bay Length (ft) 580 250 265 225 255 300
Base Capacity (vph) 253 504 518 511 923 820 260 541 246 769
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.65 0.57 0.16 0.93 0.49 0.19 0.25 0.90 0.83 0.56

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 90
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     1: Harmony Rd & SR 44

246



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Build PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 156 272 81 451 428 150 62 127 333 195 225 186
Future Volume (veh/h) 156 272 81 451 428 150 62 127 333 195 225 186
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1781 1841 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 164 286 0 475 451 0 65 134 351 205 237 196
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 8 4 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 306 490 520 911 275 128 334 232 399 330
Arrive On Green 0.26 0.26 0.00 0.18 0.49 0.00 0.28 0.28 0.28 0.10 0.42 0.42
Sat Flow, veh/h 940 1870 1585 1781 1870 1510 940 457 1198 1781 947 783
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 164 286 0 475 451 0 65 0 485 205 0 433
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 940 1870 1585 1781 1870 1510 940 0 1655 1781 0 1729
Q Serve(g_s), s 18.7 16.0 0.0 21.5 19.6 0.0 6.9 0.0 33.5 9.5 0.0 23.2
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 18.7 16.0 0.0 21.5 19.6 0.0 13.0 0.0 33.5 9.5 0.0 23.2
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.72 1.00 0.45
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 306 490 520 911 275 0 462 232 0 729
V/C Ratio(X) 0.54 0.58 0.91 0.50 0.24 0.00 1.05 0.88 0.00 0.59
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 306 490 520 911 275 0 462 246 0 742
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 39.6 38.6 0.0 28.0 20.8 0.0 38.4 0.0 43.3 30.5 0.0 26.8
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 6.6 5.0 0.0 20.7 1.9 0.0 0.4 0.0 55.6 28.4 0.0 1.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 4.7 7.8 0.0 12.4 8.5 0.0 1.6 0.0 20.2 5.7 0.0 9.3
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 46.2 43.6 0.0 48.8 22.7 0.0 38.8 0.0 98.8 58.9 0.0 28.0
LnGrp LOS D D D C D A F E A C
Approach Vol, veh/h 450 A 926 A 550 638
Approach Delay, s/veh 44.6 36.1 91.7 38.0
Approach LOS D D F D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 27.0 36.9 56.1 63.9 17.1 39.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 21.5 30.5 51.5 57.5 12.5 33.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 23.5 20.7 25.2 21.6 11.5 35.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 4.4 1.6 13.0 0.1 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 50.0
HCM 6th LOS D

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [EBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

247



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
2: Harmony Rd & Village Ln 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 8 8 450 548 9
Future Vol, veh/h 7 8 8 450 548 9
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 8 10 10 536 652 11
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1214 658 663 0 - 0
          Stage 1 658 - - - - -
          Stage 2 556 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 201 464 926 - - -
          Stage 1 515 - - - - -
          Stage 2 574 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 198 464 926 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 198 - - - - -
          Stage 1 507 - - - - -
          Stage 2 574 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 18.5 0.2 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 926 - 285 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.01 - 0.063 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.9 0 18.5 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A C - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

248



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
3: Harmony Rd & Sammons Industrial Pkwy 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 68 2 462 10 0 487
Future Vol, veh/h 68 2 462 10 0 487
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 50 6 56 2 2
Mvmt Flow 81 2 550 12 0 580
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1136 556 0 0 562 0
          Stage 1 556 - - - - -
          Stage 2 580 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.7 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.75 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 223 449 - - 1009 -
          Stage 1 574 - - - - -
          Stage 2 560 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 223 449 - - 1009 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 223 - - - - -
          Stage 1 574 - - - - -
          Stage 2 560 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 29.9 0 0
HCM LOS D
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 226 1009 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.369 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 29.9 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - D A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 1.6 0 -

249



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
4: Harmony Rd & Harmony Ln 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 14 13 13 325 367 14
Future Vol, veh/h 14 13 13 325 367 14
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 87 87 87 87
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 16 15 15 374 422 16
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 834 430 438 0 - 0
          Stage 1 430 - - - - -
          Stage 2 404 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 338 625 1122 - - -
          Stage 1 656 - - - - -
          Stage 2 674 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 332 625 1122 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 332 - - - - -
          Stage 1 645 - - - - -
          Stage 2 674 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14 0.3 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1122 - 429 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.013 - 0.072 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 0 14 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

250



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
5: Harmony Rd & Private Drwy/Scott Rd 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 67 0 161 2 272 50 67 223 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 67 0 161 2 272 50 67 223 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 92 90 90 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 1 74 0 179 2 302 56 73 242 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 812 750 242 723 722 330 242 0 0 358 0 0
          Stage 1 388 388 - 334 334 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 424 362 - 389 388 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 298 340 797 342 353 712 1324 - - 1201 - -
          Stage 1 636 609 - 680 643 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 608 625 - 635 609 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 211 316 797 323 328 712 1324 - - 1201 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 211 316 - 323 328 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 635 566 - 679 642 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 454 624 - 590 566 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.5 18 0 1.9
HCM LOS A C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1324 - - 797 526 1201 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.002 - - 0.001 0.482 0.061 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.7 0 - 9.5 18 8.2 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A C A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 2.6 0.2 - -

251



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
6: Harmony Rd & Site Drwy 1(S) 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.7

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 52 165 179 286 315 62
Future Vol, veh/h 52 165 179 286 315 62
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 0 0 - - 175
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 57 179 195 311 342 67
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1043 342 409 0 - 0
          Stage 1 342 - - - - -
          Stage 2 701 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 254 701 1150 - - -
          Stage 1 719 - - - - -
          Stage 2 492 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 211 701 1150 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 211 - - - - -
          Stage 1 597 - - - - -
          Stage 2 492 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 15.8 3.4 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1150 - 211 701 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.169 - 0.268 0.256 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.8 - 28.2 11.9 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - D B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.6 - 1 1 - -

252



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
7: Harmony Rd & Site Drwy 2(N)/Private Drwy 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 8

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 44 0 52 0 0 0 56 287 0 0 321 52
Future Vol, veh/h 44 0 52 0 0 0 56 287 0 0 321 52
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - 0 - - - 235 - - - - 175
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 48 0 57 0 0 0 61 312 0 0 349 57
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 783 783 349 840 840 312 406 0 0 312 0 0
          Stage 1 349 349 - 434 434 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 434 434 - 406 406 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 311 325 694 285 302 728 1153 - - 1248 - -
          Stage 1 667 633 - 600 581 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 600 581 - 622 598 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 299 308 694 251 286 728 1153 - - 1248 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 299 308 - 251 286 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 632 633 - 568 550 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 568 550 - 571 598 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.6 0 1.4 0
HCM LOS B A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1153 - - 299 694 - 1248 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.053 - - 0.16 0.081 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 - - 19.3 10.6 0 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - C B A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - 0.6 0.3 - 0 - -

253



 
 
 

 

T R A F F I C  V O L U M E  W O R K S H E E T S  

254



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

1.Harmony Rd @ SR 44

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 63 144 359 566 158 104 65 327 119 357 70 546 178 170 82 430

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 69 157 391 617 172 113 71 356 130 389 76 595 194 185 89 468

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 76 173 432 681 190 125 78 393 143 429 84 656 214 204 98 516

Total New Trips: 0 32 0 32 49 24 49 122 64 0 0 64 0 0 64 64

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 76 205 432 713 239 149 127 515 207 429 84 720 214 204 162 580

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 55 80 299 434 112 170 104 386 72 244 72 388 405 384 67 856

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 56 81 302 439 113 172 105 390 73 246 73 392 409 388 68 865

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 62 89 333 484 125 190 116 431 81 272 81 434 451 428 75 954

Total New Trips: 0 38 0 38 70 35 70 175 75 0 0 75 0 0 75 75

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 62 127 333 522 195 225 186 606 156 272 81 509 451 428 150 1029

Old Phoenix Road Harmony Road SR 44 (Greensboro Road) SR 44 (Greensboro Road)

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

August 2021

Northbound
Old Phoenix Road Harmony Road

Southbound
SR 44 (Greensboro Road)

Eastbound
SR 44 (Greensboro Road)

Westbound

255



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

2. Harmony Rd @ Village Ln

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 8 233 0 241 0 236 5 241 5 0 7 12 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 9 254 0 263 0 257 5 262 5 0 8 13 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 10 280 0 290 0 284 6 290 6 0 9 15 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 0 160 0 160 0 122 0 122 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 10 440 0 450 0 406 6 412 6 0 9 15 0 0 0 0

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 7 235 0 242 0 334 8 342 6 0 7 13 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 7 237 0 244 0 337 8 345 6 0 7 13 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 8 262 0 270 0 372 9 381 7 0 8 15 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 0 188 0 188 0 176 0 176 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 8 450 0 458 0 548 9 557 7 0 8 15 0 0 0 0

August 2021

Harmony Road Harmony Road Village Lane -
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Harmony Road Harmony Road Village Lane -

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

256



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

3. Harmony Rd @ Sammons I Pkwy

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 205 51 256 1 245 0 246 0 0 0 0 26 0 2 28

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 223 56 279 1 267 0 268 0 0 0 0 28 0 2 30

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 246 62 308 1 295 0 296 0 0 0 0 31 0 2 33

Total New Trips: 0 160 0 160 0 122 0 122 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 0 406 62 468 1 417 0 418 0 0 0 0 31 0 2 33

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 246 9 255 0 279 0 279 0 0 0 0 61 0 2 63

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 248 9 257 0 282 0 282 0 0 0 0 62 0 2 64

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 274 10 284 0 311 0 311 0 0 0 0 68 0 2 70

Total New Trips: 0 188 0 188 0 176 0 176 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 0 462 10 472 0 487 0 487 0 0 0 0 68 0 2 70

Harmony Road Harmony Road - Sammons Industrial Parkway 
(South)

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

August 2021

Harmony Road Harmony Road -
Sammons Industrial Parkway 

(South)
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

257



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

4. Harmony Rd @ Harmony Ln

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 13 194 0 207 0 223 14 237 15 0 18 33 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 14 211 0 225 0 243 15 258 16 0 20 36 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 15 233 0 248 0 268 17 285 18 0 22 40 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 0 41 0 41 0 53 0 53 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 15 274 0 289 0 321 17 338 18 0 22 40 0 0 0 0

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 12 239 0 251 0 272 13 285 13 0 12 25 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 12 241 0 253 0 275 13 288 13 0 12 25 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 13 266 0 279 0 304 14 318 14 0 13 27 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 0 59 0 59 0 63 0 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 13 325 0 338 0 367 14 381 14 0 13 27 0 0 0 0

Harmony Road Harmony Road Harmony Lane -

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

August 2021

Harmony Road Harmony Road Harmony Lane -
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

258



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

5. Harmony Rd @ Scott Rd

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 79 24 103 107 210 1 318 0 1 3 4 46 1 33 80

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 86 26 112 117 229 1 347 0 1 3 4 50 1 36 87

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 95 29 124 129 253 1 383 0 1 3 4 55 1 40 96

Total New Trips: 0 32 8 40 0 43 0 43 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 11

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 0 127 37 164 129 296 1 426 0 1 3 4 66 1 40 107

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 2 202 34 238 60 155 0 215 0 0 1 1 49 0 145 194

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 2 204 34 240 61 157 0 218 0 0 1 1 49 0 146 195

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 2 225 38 265 67 173 0 240 0 0 1 1 54 0 161 215

Total New Trips: 0 47 12 59 0 50 0 50 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 13

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 2 272 50 324 67 223 0 290 0 0 1 1 67 0 161 228

Harmony Road Harmony Road Private Drwy Scott Rd

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

August 2021

Harmony Road Harmony Road Private Drwy Scott Rd
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

259



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

6. Harmony Rd @ Site Drwy 1(S)

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 207 0 207 0 246 0 246 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 226 0 226 0 268 0 268 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 249 0 249 0 296 0 296 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 128 32 0 160 0 24 27 51 20 0 97 117 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 1 -1 0 0 0 -1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 129 280 0 409 0 319 28 347 20 0 97 117 0 0 0 0

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 248 0 248 0 279 0 279 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 250 0 250 0 282 0 282 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 276 0 276 0 311 0 311 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 151 38 0 189 0 35 31 66 29 0 140 169 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 28 -28 0 0 0 -31 31 0 23 0 25 48 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 179 286 0 465 0 315 62 377 52 0 165 217 0 0 0 0

Harmony Road Harmony Road Site Driveway 1 (Southern) -

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

August 2021

Harmony Road Harmony Road Site Driveway 1 (Southern) -
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

260



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

7. Harmony Rd @ Site Drwy 2(N)

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 207 0 207 0 246 0 246 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 226 0 226 0 268 0 268 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 249 0 249 0 296 0 296 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 32 20 0 52 0 27 27 54 20 0 24 44 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 1 -1 0 0 0 -1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 33 268 0 301 0 322 28 350 20 0 24 44 0 0 0 0

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 248 0 248 0 279 0 279 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 250 0 250 0 282 0 282 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 276 0 276 0 311 0 311 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 38 29 0 67 0 31 31 62 29 0 35 64 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 18 -18 0 0 0 -21 21 0 15 0 17 32 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 56 287 0 343 0 321 52 373 44 0 52 96 0 0 0 0

Harmony Road Harmony Road Site Driveway 2(Northern) Private Driveway

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

August 2021

Harmony Road Harmony Road Site Driveway 2(Northern) Private Driveway
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

261



    iddle Georgia Regional Commission 
                                   175 Emery Highway, Suite C ▪ Macon, Georgia 31217 ▪ (478) 751-6160 ▪ FAX (478) 751-6517 ▪ www.middlegeorgiarc.org 
 
 Richard L. Bazemore, Chairman  Laura M. Mathis, Executive Director 

 

 
 
July 23, 2021 
 
 
Ms. Lisa Jackson 
Deputy County Manager 
117 Putnam Drive 
Eatonton, GA  31024 
 
Re:  DRI #3377, Lake Oconee Helms College 
 
Dear Ms. Jackson: 
 
The Middle Georgia Regional Commission (MGRC) has completed its review of the Development 
of Regional Impact (DRI) for the Lake Oconee Helms College Development in Putnam County. 
MGRC conducted a careful review of the information submitted by the local government and 
comments received from potentially affected agencies. Two positive comments were received 
from the Putnam County Board of Commissioners and from the City of Eatonton. These 
comments are provided below: 
 

- Putnam County:  
The BOC feels the project will generate sufficient revenue to offset any additional 
requirements for services that the project may require. The project will provide the 
potential for both county employment opportunities and additional sales tax revenue. 

 
- City of Eatonton:  

This project will have significant positive impact on our community in several different 
ways. The increase in property tax revenue along with the educational opportunities as 
well as the housing and retail components are all welcomed additions to our community 
and region. 

 
MGRC also reviewed the proposed project’s potential regional and interjurisdictional impact and 
consistency with the Department of Community Affairs Quality Community Objectives, Middle 
Georgia Regional Plan, and Middle Georgia Regionally Important Resources Plan. After reviewing 
the information, MGRC staff notes that the proposed development site lies within an area of 
projected rapid growth as identified in the 2016 Regional Plan. It is recommended that local 
governments “take action early to ensure that growth occurs in a manner which makes it possible 
to provide necessary public services,” (2016-2036 Plan for a Thriving Middle Georgia, pg. 17-18).  

262



 
 
 
Ms. Lisa Jackson 
Re: DRI 3377 
July 23, 2021 
Page Two 

This project will also help the region take advantage of the identified opportunity for 
“coordination with technical colleges and universities … to provide job skills training to low-skill 
employees,” (2016-2036 Plan for a Thriving Middle Georgia, pg. 45). 
 
Please be advised that this concludes the DRI Review Process and Putnam County may 
proceed with the final official action it deems appropriate regarding the proposed project. It is 
encouraged that Putnam County takes the materials presented in the DRI report into 
consideration when rendering its decision. The enclosed information is advisory in nature and 
under no circumstances should be considered as binding or infringing upon the host 
jurisdiction’s right to determine for itself the appropriateness of development within its 
boundaries.  

 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Greg Boike 
Director of Public Administration 
 
Enclosure 
 
cc: Affected Local Governments and Other Interested Parties (via email) 
 Georgia Department of Community Affairs (via email) 

263



264



265



266



267



File Attachments for Item:

9. Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen & Susan Fox

to rezone 5 acres at 916 Harmony Road Parcel A from AG to C-PUD [Map 103, Parcel 001, District 3] 

(staff-P&D)

268



Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen & Susan Fox 
to rezone 5 acres at 916 Harmony Road Parcel A from AG-C-PUD. [Map 103, Parcel 001, District 3].  

 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT-LISA JACKSON STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 
The applicant is requesting to rezone 5 acres from AG to C-PUD. If approved, the subject property will be combined 
with the exterior property (Map 103, Parcel 001001). The purpose of rezoning this property is to develop a new, 

mixed-use development to support the non-profit mission and vision of Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia’s 
Helms College expansion. Helms Career Institute was established in 2007 as a private, independent, post-secondary 

career school that provides experiential learning and career education for workforce development. The proposed 
development is a part of a strategic plan for expansion that supports the college’s future growth to meet local talent 
needs in high-demand occupations. The proposed development will include retail and hotel components supporting 

and complimenting degrees sponsored by Helms College, residential units for students, recreation amenities such as 
tennis courts, jogging trails, agritourism, a conference retreat center with restaurants. The agritourism aspect will 

include gardens and farms that will provide hands-on experience for students and community members to learn 
about the farm-to-table philosophies and offerings. 
 

According to the traffic study, the proposed development will consist of the following: a Goodwill store; Helms 
College for 50 students; Edgar’s Bakery; retailing including a spa; a high-turn-over sit-down restaurant; a 

supermarket; 127 multi-family residential units; 18 student housing units; 41 vacation villas; an event/banquet 
hall, and a 175-room hotel. Piedmont Water will provide water and sewer. As proposed, the development will be 

completed in four phases as determined by the market conditions and demand. Phase one will consist of the 
Goodwill store, Helms College for 25 students, Edgar’s Bakery, and 3,400 square feet of retail is to be completed by 
2023. The second phase will include an additional 25 students to the college, 11,200 square feet of retail, 42 multi-

family units, and 6 student housing units to be finished in 2024. Phases three and four will consist of 12,320 square 
feet of retail, 10,600 square feet of a sit-down restaurant, a supermarket, 85 Multi-family residential units, 12 

student housing units, 41 vacation villas, an event/banquet hall, and a 175-room hotel.  
  
The traffic analysis projects that the total site-generated trips will be 10,975, and the mixed-use reduction is 1,814. 

Thus the 24-hour total volume of two-way traffic will be 9,161. However, it concludes that the most significant 
impact from the proposed development will be during the am and pm peak hours. There will be a maximum of 29 

vehicles turning left at either driveway, 35 vehicles turning right at the northern driveway, and 140 at the southern 
driveway. The turning movement will average approximately 1 to 2 vehicles per minute, according to the study. It 
further adds that the intersection of Harmony Rd., SR 44, and Old Phoenix Rd. currently has a large volume of 

right-turn movement during peak hours. There are long delays at this intersection, given that there is no dedicated 

269



right-turn lane.  Although delays are in occurrence, the study states that there will be no significant impact on the 
traffic if the developer will construct left-turn lanes and deceleration lanes.  In addition, the current delays will 

improve once GDOT completes the proposed SR 44 widening project.  
 

There will be two full-access entrances on Harmony Road identified as Driveway One (southern) and Driveway Two 
(northern). The study further recommends that the first driveway has two entering and two exit lanes while the 
second driveway has one entering and two exit lanes.  The following is recommended for each driveway: the 

eastbound lane approach should have a separate left and right-turn lane for exiting traffic; a northbound left-turn 
lane to be constructed on Harmony Road for entering traffic; a southbound deceleration lane to be installed on 

Harmony Road for entering traffic. The subject property is adjacent to a combination of residential, commercial, and 
agriculture zoned properties. It fronts Harmony Road, which is a main arterial road. The property also has frontage 
on Lake Drive and Lakemore Drive.   

   
  As stated in Sec. 66-115(b) of the Putnam County Code of Ordinances, the C-PUD zoning allows more than one 

type of use in a building or set of buildings, including some combination of residential and selective nonresidential 
uses such as commercial, office and institutional uses. Furthermore, the proposed development is consistent with 
the existing residential, multi-family, and commercial developments in this area. The comprehensive plan matches 

the proposed use for future residential and mixed-use development. In the final DRI report, the Middle Georgia 
Regional Commission noted that the proposed development site lies within an area of projected rapid growth as 

identified in the 2016 Regional Plan. The report recommends that the local government take action early to ensure 
that growth occurs in a manner that makes it possible to provide necessary public services. 

 
By implementing the required conditions, the proposed project should have minimal impact on the adjacent 
properties, roads, and nearby intersections.  There is no evidence that the proposed development would cause 

excessive or burdensome use of public services, nor should it adversely affect police, fire protection, or sewer 
services. If approved, the staff recommends that the developer should install a deceleration lane and left-turn lane 

at the main entrances of the development. There shall be no entrance on Lakemore Drive and only an emergency 
gated entrance on Lake Drive.  

270



 

271



Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone 5 acres from AG to C-PUD at 916 Harmony Road [Map 
103, Parcel 001, District 3] with the following conditions:  
 

(1) The developer shall construct a deceleration lane and turn lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of 
Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the two main entrances on Harmony 

Road. Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated by 
the developer to the county. It shall be completed by the developer prior to the completion of phase one.  

272



(2) The developer shall direct construction traffic through the second main entrance located the farthest away 
from the intersection of Harmony Road and Hwy 44.  

(3) There shall be no car or truck entrance/exit located on Lakemore Road. There shall be a locked gate for golf cart 
entrance only. 

(4) Only a gated and locked Emergency Exit shall be located on Lake Drive.  
 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
 

The Planning & Zoning Commission’s recommendation is for approval to rezone 5 acres from AG to C-PUD at 916 
Harmony Road [Map 103, Parcel 001, District 3] with the following conditions:  
 

(1) The developer shall construct a deceleration lane and turn lane in accordance with the Georgia Department of 
Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the two main entrances on Harmony 

Road. Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated by 
the developer to the county. It shall be completed by the developer prior to the completion of phase one.  
(2) The developer shall direct construction traffic through the second main entrance located the farthest away 

from the intersection of Harmony Road and Hwy 44.  
(3) There shall be no car or truck entrance/exit located on Lakemore Road. There shall be a locked gate for golf cart 

entrance only. 
(4) Only a gated and locked Emergency Exit shall be located on Lake Drive.  

 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES: 

 
The Putnam County Planning & Zoning Commission conducted a public hearing on Thursday, August 5, 2021 at 6:30 

PM in the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, Eatonton, Georgia. 
 
Present:  Martha Farley, Maurice Hill, Jr., Tim Pierson, John Mitchell  

Staff Present:  Lisa Jackson, Courtney Andrews and Kenteria Williams 
 

The following items 12-13 were heard as one before the board. 
 
Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen & Susan Fox to 

rezone 5 acres at 916 Harmony Road Parcel A from AG to C-PUD. [Map 103, Parcel 001, District 3]. *  

273



Mr. James Stiff represented this request. He stated that he was the president of Goodwill Industries of Middle 
Georgia. They are requesting to rezone the 71 acres so that they can complete the purchase of the property on 

Harmony Road, to create a campus for Goodwill and Helms College. Helms College is affiliated with Goodwill. He 
added that they came to Putnam County in 2010 with the Goodwill store and has since expanded to Milledgeville. 

They would like to grow their presence on the lake. The had a plan to create an agritourism campus, where the 
students could learn about culinary agriculture and be involved with an agritourism business. They would also have 
applied learning on the farm that would be a part of the campus, and an applied learning area for students in the 

school of hospitality. He explained that they are developing a bachelor's degree in hospitality management. It would 
be applied learning in a hotel and villas. Mr. Stiff stated that they were working on an agreement to develop a hotel 

that would allow for planned applied learning for the students. The front of the property would have a town center 
where they would create new economic energy for the community. He added that they would also have Goodwill 
businesses and relocate the Goodwill retail store from Lake Oconee Parkway. He stated that he has had community 

outreach meetings and gained a lot of insight on the project. Mrs. Ellen Garland explained that the proposed 
development includes: a town center, green space for community gatherings, retail, restaurants, institutional use 

for Helms College, Hotel and Retreat Center, gardens, plants, outdoor amenities, as well as a housing component. 
She added that the project is expected to move forward in multiple stages and will be completed based on market 
conditions. Mrs. Garland stated that they intend on implementing staff recommendations based on the traffic 

study. She added that the only additional request they had was to use Lakemore for gated golf cart access. 
Member Mitchell asked Mrs. Garland to explain the duration of the phases. Mrs. Garland stated that they were 

expecting a 3–4-year buildout with multiple phases. This will be based on the market conditions for the various 
uses. 

 
At this time those who signed in to speak in favor of the request, were given 3 minutes. 
 

 Rush Atly 
 Tom Fry 

  
 At this time those who signed in to speak in opposition of the request, were given 3 minutes. 
 

 Tammy Calloway 
  

 At this time Mr. Stiff used the remainder of his time. He thanked those who spoke on their behalf and assured 
the homeowners in opposition that they will follow all requirements of the county. He stated that they own a farm in 
Grovetown and are involved in some of the things Mrs. Calloway mentioned. He added that they are working with a 

third party for the hotel. Mr. Stiff explained that the students will only be there when they have applied learning 

274



when it is appropriate for their curriculum. There will be professional teams that will operate the various enterprises. 
He stated that their goal is to exceed expectations. 

 
Staff recommendation is for approval to rezone 5 acres from AG to C-PUD at 916 Harmony Road [Map 

103, Parcel 001001, District 3] with the following conditions:  
 
(1) The developer shall construct a deceleration lane and turn lane in accordance with the Georgia 

Department of Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the two 
main entrances on Harmony Road. Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a 

ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated by the developer to the county. It shall be completed by the 
developer prior to the completion of phase one.  
(2) The developer shall direct construction traffic through the second main entrance located the 

farthest away from the intersection of Harmony Road and Hwy 44.  
(3) There shall be no car or truck entrance/exit located on Lakemore Road. There shall be a locked gate 

for golf cart entrance only.  
(4) Only a gated and locked Emergency Exit shall be located on Lake Drive.  
 

Motion to approve the request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for 
Peggy Allen & Susan Fox to rezone 5 acres at 916 Harmony Road from AG to C-PUD with the following 

conditions:  
(1) The developer shall construct a deceleration lane and turn lane in accordance with the Georgia 

Department of Transportation Regulations for Driveway & Encroachment Control to service the two 
main entrances on Harmony Road. Additional right-of-way to accommodate the deceleration lane and a 
ten-foot shoulder shall be dedicated by the developer to the county. It shall be completed by the 

developer prior to the completion of phase one.  
(2) The developer shall direct construction traffic through the second main entrance located the 

farthest away from the intersection of Harmony Road and Hwy 44.  
(3) There shall be no car or truck entrance/exit located on Lakemore Road. There shall be a locked gate 
for golf cart entrance only.  

(4) Only a gated and locked Emergency Exit shall be located on Lake Drive. 
made by Member Hill and seconded by Member Mitchell. 

Voting Yea: Vice-Chairman Pierson, Member Hill, Member Farley, Member Mitchel 
 

275



PUTNAM COUNTY, GEORGIA 
COMMISSION DISTRICTS 

MIAPSCALE: 1"=5,8117.28' S(;ALERATIO: 1:t8,387.34 DATE:�NUARY2021 

5. Request by Wallace Gerald Wright for a side yard setback variance at 149 Collis Marina Road.
Presently zoned R-1 {Map 104B, Parcel 013, District 3).

6. Request by Thomas & Gwen Ralston for a rear yard setback variance at 189 S. Spring Road.
Presently zoned R-2 [Map llSC, Parcel 019, District 3).

7. Request by Thomas W Gardner for a side and rear yard setback variance at 348A Cold Branch
Road. Presently zoned R-2 [Map 112C, Parcel 009, District 4).

8. Request by Mt. Pleasant Baptist Church for a side yard setback variance at 1628 Godfrey Road
NW. Presently zoned AG. [Map 016, Parcel 015, District 1).

9. Request by SDH Atlanta LLC, Agent for Maddox Family Partnership LLLP for a side yard
setback variance on Old Phoenix Road. Presently zoned AG. (Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2).

10. Request by SDH Atlanta LLC, agent for Maddox Family Partnership LLLP to rezone 29.54
on Old Phoenix Road from AG to R-PUD. [Map 106, Parcel 002, District 2). *

1 I. Request by Duane Gentes to rezone 5.40 acres on Emory Drive from R-1 to R-2. [Map 111, 
Parcel 001044, District 4). *

12. Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen
& Susan Fox to rezone 66.56 acres at 916 Harmony Road from AG to C-PUD. [Map 103, Parcel
001001, District 3].*

13. Request by James Stiff, Goodwill Industries of Middle Georgia, Inc., Agent for Peggy Allen
& Susan Fox to rezone 5 acres at 916 Harmony Road Parcel A from AG to C-PUD. [Map 103,
Parcel 001, District 3]. *

276

lbarb_000
Highlight



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



 
 
 
 

T R A F F I C  S T U D Y  
F O R  

H E L M S  F A R M  C A M P U S  A T  H A R M O N Y  R O A D  
 

P U T N A M  C O U N T Y ,  G E O R G I A  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared for: 

Goodwill of Middle Georgia & The CSRA 
5171 Eisenhower Parkway 
Macon, GA 31206 

 
 
 
 
Prepared By: 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

June 14, 2021 
Revised August 03, 2021 
A & R Project # 21-082 

A&R Engineering Inc. 
2160 Kingston Court, Suite O 
Marietta, GA 30067 
Tel: (770) 690-9255 Fax: (770) 690-9210 
www.areng.com 

316



 

T A B L E  O F  C O N T E N T S  
 
I t e m  P a g e  
1.0 Introduction ...........................................................................................................................1 
2.0 Existing Facilities / Conditions .................................................................................................4 

2.1.1 SR 44 (Greensboro Road) .......................................................................................................... 4 
2.1.2 Harmony Road .......................................................................................................................... 4 
2.1.3 Village Lane ............................................................................................................................... 4 
2.1.4 Sammons Industrial Parkway .................................................................................................... 4 
2.1.5 Harmony Lane ........................................................................................................................... 4 
2.1.6 Scott Road ................................................................................................................................. 4 

3.0 Study Methodology ................................................................................................................5 
3.1 Unsignalized Intersections ............................................................................................................ 5 
3.2 Signalized Intersections ................................................................................................................ 5 

4.0 Existing 2021 Traffic Analysis ...................................................................................................7 
4.1 Existing Traffic Volumes ................................................................................................................ 7 
4.2 Adjusted 2021 Traffic Volumes ..................................................................................................... 7 
4.3 Existing Traffic Operations .......................................................................................................... 10 

5.0 Proposed Development ......................................................................................................... 12 
5.1 Trip Generation ........................................................................................................................... 14 
5.2 Trip Distribution .......................................................................................................................... 15 

6.0 Future 2022 Traffic Analysis .................................................................................................. 18 
6.1 Future “No-Build” Conditions ..................................................................................................... 18 
6.1.1 Annual Traffic Growth ............................................................................................................. 18 
Future “Build” Conditions ....................................................................................................................... 18 
6.1.2 Auxiliary Lane Analysis ............................................................................................................ 21 
6.1.3 Left Turn Lane Analysis ........................................................................................................... 21 
6.1.4 Deceleration Turn Lane Analysis ............................................................................................. 22 
6.2 Future Traffic Conditions ............................................................................................................ 23 

7.0 Conclusions and Recommendations....................................................................................... 27 
Appendix 

317



 

L I S T  O F  T A B L E S  
 
I t e m  P a g e  
Table 1 – Level-of-service Criteria for Unsignalized Intersections ................................................................ 5 
Table 2 – Level-of-service Criteria for Signalized Intersections .................................................................... 6 
Table 3 – Existing Intersection Operations ................................................................................................. 10 
Table 4 – Trip Generation ........................................................................................................................... 14 
Table 5 - GDOT Requirements for Left Turn Lanes ..................................................................................... 21 
Table 6 - GDOT Requirements for Deceleration Lanes ............................................................................... 22 
Table 7 – Future Intersection Operations ................................................................................................... 23 
 

L I S T  O F  F I G U R E S  
 
I t e m  P a g e  
Figure 1 – Location Map................................................................................................................................ 3 
Figure 2 – Existing Weekday Peak Hour Volumes during Covid-19 .............................................................. 8 
Figure 3 – Adjusted Existing Weekday Peak Hour Volumes ......................................................................... 9 
Figure 4 – Existing Traffic Control and Lane Geometry .............................................................................. 11 
Figure 5 – Site Plan ...................................................................................................................................... 13 
Figure 6 – Outer Leg Trip Distribution and Site Generated Peak Hour Volumes ........................................ 16 
Figure 7 – Site Peak Hour Pass-by Volumes ................................................................................................ 17 
Figure 8 – Future (No-Build) Peak Hour Volumes ....................................................................................... 19 
Figure 9 – Future (Build) Peak Hour Volumes ............................................................................................. 20 
Figure 10 – GDOT’s PI 0006253 – Intersection Design ............................................................................... 25 
Figure 11 – Future Traffic Control and Lane Geometry .............................................................................. 26 
 
 

318



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

1 
 
 

1 . 0  I N T R O D U C T I O N  
 
The purpose of this study is to determine the traffic impact that will result from the proposed Helms 
Farm Campus development that will be located on Harmony Road across from Sammons Industrial 
Parkway (South), north of Village Lane in Putnam County, Georgia. The traffic analysis evaluates the 
current operations compared to the future conditions with the traffic generated by the development. 
The development will consist of: 
 

• Goodwill Store: 16,800 sf 
• Helms College: 50 Students 
• Edgar’s Bakery: 7,000 sf 
• Retail including Spa: 26,920 sf 
• High-Turn-over Sit-Down Restaurant: 13,100 sf 
• Super Market: 14,500 sf 
• Multi-family (mid-rise) Residential: 127 Units 
• Student Housing: 18 Units 
• Vacation Villas (Resorts): 41 Units 
• Event Hall or Banquet Hall: 22,000 sf 
• Hotel: 175 Rooms 

 

 
 
 

319



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

2 
 
 

The development proposes two site driveways at the following locations: 
• Site Driveway 1: Full-access (Southern) driveway on Harmony Road 
• Site Driveway 2: Full-access (Northern) driveway on Harmony Road 

 
Existing and future operations after completion of the project were analyzed at the intersections of: 

• Harmony Road at SR 44 (Greensboro Road) / Old Phoenix Road 
• Harmony Road at Village Lane 
• Harmony Road at Sammons Industrial Parkway (South) 
• Harmony Road at Harmony Lane 
• Harmony Road at Scott Road / Private Driveway 
• Harmony Road at Site Driveway 1 (Southern) 
• Harmony Road at Site Driveway 2 (Northern) / Private Driveway 

 
Recommendations to improve traffic operations have been identified as appropriate and are discussed 
in detail in the following sections of the report. The location of the development and the surrounding 
study network is shown in Figure 1. 

320



SITE

Norris L
n

Moudy
Ln

Sequoia

Dr

Ellm
an

D
r

Clack Ct
Clack Cir

R
iv

er
si

de
D

r

Thunder
Rd

Scott Rd

Scott Rd

Lakeview
Dr

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

Lak
e O

co
ne

e
Pk

wy

Lakeview
Estates Dr

Villa
ge 

Ln

Harm
on

y
Ln

Lake Dr

Farr
iers

 Ln

Sammons Industrial Pkwy

Harmony Rd

Harmony
Rd

Old Phoenix Rd

3

LOCATION MAP
FIGURE 1

A&R Engineering Inc.

Study Intersections

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

321

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

4 
 
 

2 . 0  E X I S T I N G  F A C I L I T I E S  /  C O N D I T I O N S  
The following is a brief description of each of the roadway facilities located in proximity to the site: 

2.1.1 SR 44 (Greensboro Road)  
SR 44 (Greensboro Road) is an east-west, two-lane, undivided roadway with a posted speed limit of 45 
mph in the vicinity of the site. Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) traffic counts (Station ID 
237-0146) indicate that the daily traffic volume on SR 44 (Greensboro Road) in 2019 was 15,200 vehicles 
per day north of Harmony Road. GDOT classifies SR 44 (Greensboro Road) as a Rural Minor Arterial 
roadway. 

2.1.2 Harmony Road 
Harmony Road is a north-south, two-lane, undivided roadway with a posted speed limit of 45 mph in the 
vicinity of the site. GDOT traffic counts (Station ID 237-0181) indicate that the daily traffic volume on 
Harmony Road in 2019 was 3,570 vehicles per day north of Scott Road. GDOT classifies Harmony Road 
as a Rural Minor Collector roadway. 

2.1.3 Village Lane 
Village Lane is an east-west, two-lane, undivided roadway with a posted speed limit of 25 mph in the 
vicinity of the site. 

2.1.4 Sammons Industrial Parkway  
Sammons Industrial Parkway is an east-west, two-lane, undivided roadway with a posted speed limit of 
25 mph in the vicinity of the site. 

2.1.5 Harmony Lane 
Harmony Lane is an east-west, two-lane, undivided roadway with a posted speed limit of 25 mph in the 
vicinity of the site. 

2.1.6 Scott Road 
Scott Road is a northwest-southeast, two-lane, undivided roadway with a posted speed limit of 35 mph 
in the vicinity of the site. 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

322



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

5 
 
 

3 . 0  S T U D Y  M E T H O D O L O G Y  
 
In this study, the methodology used for evaluating traffic operations at each of the subject intersections 
is based on the criteria set forth in the Transportation Research Board’s Highway Capacity Manual, 6th 
edition (HCM 6). Synchro software, which utilizes the HCM methodology, was used for the analysis. The 
following is a description of the methodology employed for the analysis of unsignalized and signalized 
intersections. At specific intersections in which HCM 6 is unable to report results due to limitations of 
the software version, HCM 2000 will be used instead. The following is a description of the methodology 
employed for the analysis of unsignalized and signalized intersections. 

3.1 Unsignalized Intersections 
For unsignalized intersections at which the side street or minor street is controlled by a stop sign, the 
criteria for evaluating traffic operations are the level-of-service (LOS) for the turning movements at the 
intersection and the level-of-service for the overall intersection. Level-of-service is based on the average 
controlled delay incurred at the intersection. Controlled delay for unsignalized intersections includes 
initial deceleration delay, queue move-up time, stopped delay, and final acceleration delay. Several 
factors affect the controlled delay for unsignalized intersections, such as the availability and distribution 
of gaps in the conflicting traffic stream, critical gaps, and follow-up time for a vehicle in the queue. 
 
Level-of-service is assigned a letter designation from “A” through “F”. Level-of-service “A” indicates 
excellent operations with little delay to motorists, while level-of-service “F” exists when there are 
insufficient gaps of acceptable size to allow vehicles on the side street to cross safely, resulting in 
extremely long total delays and long queues. The level-of-service criteria for two-way stop-controlled 
and all-way stop-controlled (unsignalized) intersections are given in Table 1.  
 

Table 1 – Level-of-service Criteria for Unsignalized Intersections 
Level-of-service Average Delay (sec) 

A ≤ 10 
B > 10 and ≤ 15 
C > 15 and ≤ 25 
D > 25 and ≤ 35 
E > 35 and ≤ 50 
F > 50 

Source: Highway Capacity Manual 

3.2 Signalized Intersections 
For signalized intersections, it is necessary to evaluate both capacity and level-of-service in order to 
evaluate the overall operation of the intersection. The capacity analysis of an intersection is performed 
by comparing the volume of traffic using the various lane groups at the intersection to the capacity of 
those lane groups. This results in a volume/capacity (v/c) ratio for each lane group. A v/c ratio greater 

323



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

6 
 
 

than 1.0 indicates that the volume of traffic has exceeded the capacity available, resulting in a 
temporary excess of demand. Although the capacity of the entire intersection is not defined, a 
composite v/c ratio for the sum of the critical lane groups within the intersection is computed. This 
composite v/c ratio is an indication of the overall intersection sufficiency.  
 
Level-of-service for a signalized intersection is defined in terms of average controlled delay per vehicle, 
which is composed of initial deceleration delay, queue move-up time, stopped delay, and final 
acceleration delay. The level-of-service criteria for signalized intersections, based on average controlled 
delay, are shown in Table 2. Level-of-service “A” indicates operations with very low controlled delay, 
while level-of-service “F” describes operations with extremely high average-controlled delay. Level-of-
service “E” is typically considered to be the limit of acceptable delay, and level-of-service “F” is 
considered unacceptable by most drivers. 
 

Table 2 – Level-of-service Criteria for Signalized Intersections 
Level-of-service Average Control Delay (sec) 

A ≤ 10 
B > 10 and ≤ 20 
C > 20 and ≤ 35 
D > 35 and ≤ 55 
E > 55 and ≤ 80 
F > 80 

Source: Highway Capacity Manual 

324



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

7 
 
 

4 . 0  E X I S T I N G  2 0 2 1  T R A F F I C  A N A L Y S I S  

4.1 Existing Traffic Volumes 
Traffic counts were obtained at the following study intersections: 

• Harmony Road at SR 44 (Greensboro Road) / Old Phoenix Road 
• Harmony Road at Village Lane 
• Harmony Road at Sammons Industrial Parkway (South) 
• Harmony Road at Harmony Lane 
• Harmony Road at Scott Road / Private Driveway 

 
Turning movement counts were collected on Thursday, May 27, 2021, at all the study intersections. A 
24-hour bi-directional volume count was also collected on Harmony Road north of Scott Road at the 
same location where GDOT had collected historic ADT in the past. All turning movement counts were 
recorded during the AM and PM peak hours between 7:00am to 9:00am and 4:00pm to 6:00pm, 
respectively. The four consecutive 15-minute interval volumes that summed to produce the highest 
volume at the intersections were then determined. These volumes make up the peak hour traffic 
volumes for the intersections counted and are shown in Figure 2.  

4.2 Adjusted 2021 Traffic Volumes 
To account for the abnormal traffic pattern due to COVID-19, an adjustment factor was determined by 
calculating the difference between GDOT historical turning movements counts and current bi-directional 
counts at Harmony Road north of Scott Road. The historic 2017 turning movement counts from GDOT’s 
(Station ID 237-0181) were increased by an annual growth rate of 2.5% for four years and compared to 
the existing bi-directional counts collected on Thursday, May 27, 2021, at the same location.  The 
comparison of the two counts revealed that the adjusted historic traffic counts are 9% higher in the AM 
peak hour and 1% higher in the PM peak hour. Therefore, the 2021 AM and PM peak hour counts shown 
in Figure 2 were increased by 9% and 1%, respectively. The projected and/or adjusted existing peak hour 
volumes are shown in Figure 3. 
 
 

325



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

08

EXISTING WEEKDAY PEAK-HOUR VOLUMES

(DURING COVID-19) A&R Engineering Inc.

(AM) PM

FIGURE 2

(33) 145

(1) 0
(46) 49

(3) 1
(1) 0

(0) 0

(1) 0
(210) 155
(107) 60

(24) 34

(79) 202

(0) 2

(82) 67

(170) 384

(178) 405

(70) 72(357) 244(119) 72

(65) 104
(104) 170

(158) 112

(359) 299

(144) 80

(63) 55

(7) 7(5) 6

(5) 8
(236) 334

(233) 235

(8) 7

(2) 2
(26) 61

(245) 279
(1) 0

(51) 9

(205) 246

(18) 12(15) 13

(14) 13
(223) 272

(194) 239

(13) 12

326

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

09

ADJUSTED EXISTING WEEKDAY PEAK-HOUR VOLUMES

A&R Engineering Inc.

(AM) PM

FIGURE 3

(36) 146

(1) 0
(50) 49

(3) 1
(1) 0(0) 0

(1) 0
(229) 157
(117) 61 (26) 34

(86) 204

(0) 2

(89) 68

(185) 388

(194) 409

(76) 73(389) 246(130) 73

(71) 105
(113) 172

(172) 113

(391) 302

(157) 81

(69) 56

(8) 7(5) 6

(5) 8
(257) 337

(254) 237

(9) 7

(2) 2
(28) 62

(267) 282
(1) 0

(56) 9

(223) 248

(20) 12(16) 13

(15) 13
(243) 275

(211) 241

(14) 12

327

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

10 
 
 

4.3 Existing Traffic Operations 
Existing 2021 traffic operations were analyzed at the study intersections in accordance with the HCM 
methodology using the volumes in Figure 3. The results of the analyses are shown in Table 3. The 
existing traffic control and lane geometry for the intersections are shown in Figure 4.  
 

Table 3 – Existing Intersection Operations 

Intersection Traffic Control 
LOS (Delay) 

AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 

1 

SR 44 (Greensboro Road) @ Harmony Road / Old 
Phoenix Road 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Westbound Approach 
-Northbound Approach 
-Southbound Approach 

Signalized 

 
D (47.7) 
D (44.3) 
C (29.4) 
E (68.6) 
D (36.1) 

 
D (37.2) 
C (32.5) 
B (19.0) 
E (69.0) 
D (42.3) 

2 
Harmony Road @ Village Lane 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 

Stop Controlled 
on Eastbound 

Approach 

 
B (11.2) 
A (7.9) 

 
B (12.4) 
A (8.2) 

3 
Harmony Road @ Sammons Industrial Parkway (S) 
-Westbound Approach 
-Southbound Left 

Stop Controlled 
on Westbound 

Approach 

 
B (14.2) 
A (7.9) 

 
B (14.8) 
A (0.0) 

4 
Harmony Road @ Harmony Lane 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 

Stop Controlled 
on Eastbound 

Approach 

 
B (11.2) 
A (7.8) 

 
B (12.0) 
A (8.0) 

5 

Harmony Road @ Scott Road / Private Driveway 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Westbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 
-Southbound Left 

Stop Controlled 
on Eastbound and 

Westbound 
Approaches 

 
B (11.0) 
B (14.1) 
A (0.0) 
A (7.7) 

 
A (9.1) 

B (13.3) 
A (7.6) 
A (7.9) 

 
The results of existing traffic operations analysis indicate that all the study intersections are operating at 
an level-of-service “D” or better in both AM and PM peak hours.  
 
 
 
 
 

328



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

11

EXISTING TRAFFIC CONTROL AND LANE GEOMETRY

A&R Engineering Inc.

Existing Lane Geometry

Existing Signed Approach

STOPEx

Existing Traffic SignalEx

LEGEND

FIGURE 4

STO
P

Ex

ST
O

P

Ex

STO
P

Ex

ST
O

P

Ex

STO
P

Ex

Ex

329

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

12 
 
 

5 . 0  P R O P O S E D  D E V E L O P M E N T  
 
The proposed Helms Farm Campus that will be located on Harmony Road at Sammons Industrial 
Parkway (South), northeast of Harmony Road at Village Lane and southwest of Harmony Road at 
Harmony Lane in City of Eatonton, Putnam County, Georgia. The traffic analysis evaluates the current 
operations compared to the future conditions with the traffic generated by the development. A site plan 
is shown in Figure 5. The development will consist of: 
 

•  Goodwill Store: 16,800 sf 
• Helms College: 50 Students 
• Edgar’s Bakery: 7,000 sf 
• Retail including Spa: 26,920 sf 
• High-Turn-over Sit-Down Restaurant: 13,100 sf 
• Super Market: 14,500 sf 
• Multi-family (mid-rise) Residential: 127 Units 
• Student Housing: 18 Units 
• Vacation Villas (Resorts): 41 Units 
• Event Hall or Banquet Hall: 22,000 sf 
• Hotel: 175 Rooms 

 
The development proposes two site driveways at the following locations: 
 

• Site Driveway 1: Full-access (Southern) driveway on Harmony Road 
• Site Driveway 2: Full-access (Northern) driveway on Harmony Road 

 
A site plan is included in Figure 5. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

330



331



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

14 
 
 

5.1 Trip Generation 
Trip generation estimates for the project were based on the rates and equations published in the 10th 
edition of the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation report for the daily, AM and 
PM peak hours. This reference contains traffic volume count data collected at similar facilities 
nationwide. The calculated total trip generation for the proposed developments are shown in Table 4. 
 

Table 4 – Trip Generation 

Land Use Size 
AM Peak Hour PM Peak Hour 24 Hour 

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total Two-way 
815 – Free-Standing Discount Store 16,800 sf 14 6 20 40 41 81 892 

Mixed-Use Reduction -3 -1 -2 -3 -3 -4 -7 
Pass-by Trips (0%) 17% 0 0 0 0 -6 -6 -12 

930 – Fast Casual Restaurant 7,000 sf 10 4 14 54 45 99 2,206 
Mixed-Use Reduction -9 -4 -4 -8 -8 -9 -17 

Pass-by Trips (49%) 50% -66 -3 0 -3 -23 -18 -41 
820 – Shopping Center 26,920 sf 15 10 25 49 54 103 1,016 

Mixed-Use Reduction -3 -2 -2 -4 -4 -4 -8 
Pass-by Trips (0%) 34% 0 0 0 0 -15 -17 -32 

932 -High-Turnover (Sit-Down) Rest. 13,100 sf 71 59 130 79 49 128 1,470 
Mixed-Use Reduction -4 -2 -3 -5 -5 -6 -11 

Pass-by Trips (0%) 43% 0 0 0 0 -32 -18 -50 
850 – Supermarket 14,500 sf 33 22 55 68 66 134 2,241 

Mixed-Use Reduction -6 -4 -4 -8 -8 -9 -17 
Pass-by Trips (0%) 36% 0 0 0 0 -22 -21 -43 

550 - University/Colleges 50 Students 6 2 8 2 6 8 78 
Mixed-Use Reduction -2 -2 0 -2 -1 -1 -2 

221- Multifamily Housing (Mid-Rise) 127 Units 11 32 43 34 22 56 690 
Mixed-Use Reduction -6 -3 -3 -6 -7 -6 -13 

225 - Off-Campus Student Apartment 18 Beds 3 4 7 3 4 7 57 
Mixed-Use Reduction -1 0 0 0 -1 -1 -2 

260 - Recreational Homes 41 Rooms 6 3 9 4 7 11 142 
Mixed-Use Reduction -1 -1 -1 -2 -2 -1 -3 

495 - Recreational Community Center 22,000 sf 26 13 39 24 27 51 634 
Mixed-Use Reduction -6 -2 -2 -4 -6 -5 -11 

310 –Hotel 175 Rooms 48 34 82 53 52 105 1,549 
Mixed-Use Reduction -14 -6 -7 -13 -16 -13 -29 

Total Trips (without Reductions) 243 190 433 410 373 783 10,975 
New External Trips (with Reductions) 213 162 375 251 234 485 7,382 

Daily pass-by reduction estimated to be ten times the PM pass-by volume.  
 

332



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

15 
 
 

The trip generation was based on the following ITE Land Uses: 221 – Multifamily Housing (Mid-Rise),  
225 – Off-Campus Student Apartment, 260 – Recreational Homes, 310 – Hotel, 495 - Recreational 
Community Center, 550 - University/Colleges, 815 - Free-Standing Discount Store, 820 – Shopping 
center, 850 – Supermarket, 932 - High-Turnover (Sit-Down) Restaurant and 930 – Fast Casual 
Restaurant. Due to the nature of the development, pass-by and mixed-use reductions have been applied 
per ITE standards. 

5.2 Trip Distribution 
The trip distribution describes how traffic arrives and departs from the site. An overall trip distribution 
was developed for the site based on a review of GDOT ADT volumes and the locations of major 
roadways and highways that will serve the development. The site-generated peak hour traffic volumes, 
shown in Table 4, were assigned to the study area intersections based on this distribution. The outer-leg 
distribution and AM and PM peak hour new traffic generated by the site are shown in Figure 6. Pass-by 
volumes have also been distributed based on existing travel patterns and are shown in Figure 7. 

333



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

6

Site 
Drwy 1 (S)

Site Drwy 2 (N) 7

16
A&R Engineering Inc.

(0) 0
(0) 0
(11) 13

(0) 0
(0) 0

(0) 0

(0) 0
(43) 50
(0) 0

(8) 12

(32) 47

(0) 0

TRIP DISTRIBUTION AND SITE-GENERATED
WEEKDAY PEAK HOUR VOLUMES

(AM) PM

FIGURE 6

(64) 75

(0) 0
(0) 0

(0) 0
(0) 0(64) 75

(49) 70
(24) 35

(49) 70

(0) 0
(32) 38

(0) 0

(0) 0(0) 0

(0) 0
(122) 176

(160) 188

(0) 0

(0) 0(0) 0

(0) 0
(53) 63

(41) 59

(0) 0

(97) 140(20) 29

(27) 31
(24) 35

(32) 38

(128) 151

(0) 0
(0) 0
(0) 0

(24) 35(0) 0(20) 29

(27) 31
(27) 31
(0) 0

(0) 0
(20) 29

(32) 38

(0) 0
(0) 0

(122) 176
(0) 0

(0) 0
(160) 188

334

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
15%

AutoCAD SHX Text
30%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
5%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
20%%%

AutoCAD SHX Text
30%%%



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

6

Site 
Drwy 1 (S)

Site Drwy 2 (N) 7

17
A&R Engineering Inc.

(AM) PM

FIGURE 7SITE PEAK HOUR PASS-BY VOLUMES

(0) 25(0) 23

(1) 31
(-1) -31

(-1) -28

(1) 28

(0) 0
(0) 0
(0) 0

(0) 17(0) 0(0) 15

(1) 21
(-1) -21

(0) 0

(0) 0
(-1) -18

(1) 18

335

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

18 
 
 

6 . 0  F U T U R E  2 0 2 2  T R A F F I C  A N A L Y S I S  
 
The future 2025 traffic operations are analyzed for the “Build” and “No-Build” conditions. This provides 
a basis of reference for determining both the contribution of the site to overall traffic conditions and the 
additional improvements needed to provide sufficient site access and capacity for passing traffic. Note 
that survey and construction drawings would be needed to verify the feasibility and extent of additional 
right-of-way required for any recommended improvements.  
 
Improvements that are identified as “System Improvements” address deficiencies that are found within 
the existing road network prior to any impacts from the proposed development’s added traffic. 
Improvements that are identified as “Site Mitigation Improvements” address further impacts that are a 
result of the proposed development’s added traffic. 

6.1 Future “No-Build” Conditions 
The “No-Build” (or background) conditions provide an assessment of how traffic will operate in the 
study horizon year without the study site being developed as proposed, with projected increases in 
through traffic volumes due to normal annual growth. The Future “No-Build” volumes consist of the 
adjusted existing traffic volumes (Figure 3) plus increases for annual growth of through traffic. 

6.1.1 Annual Traffic Growth 
In order to evaluate future traffic operations in this area, a projection of normal traffic growth was 
applied to the existing volumes. The Georgia Department of Transportation recorded average daily 
traffic volumes at several locations in the vicinity of the site.  Reviewing the growth over the last three 
years revealed growth of approximately 2.5% in the area. This growth factor was applied to the existing 
traffic volumes between collector and arterial roadways in order to estimate the future year traffic 
volumes prior to the addition of site-generated traffic. The resulting Future “No-Build” volumes on the 
roadway are shown in Figure 8. 

Future “Build” Conditions 
The “Build” or development conditions include the estimated background traffic from the “No-Build” 
conditions plus the added traffic from the proposed development. In order to evaluate future traffic 
operations in this area, the additional traffic volumes from the site (Figure 6) and pass-by volumes 
(Figure 7) were added to base traffic volumes (Figure 8) to calculate the future traffic volumes after the 
construction of the development. These total future traffic volumes are shown in Figure 9. 

336



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

19
A&R Engineering Inc.

FUTURE (NO-BUILD) WEEKDAY PEAK HOUR VOLUMES

(AM) PM

FIGURE 8

(40) 161

(1) 0
(55) 54

(3) 1
(1) 0

(0) 0

(1) 0
(253) 173
(129) 67

(29) 38

(95) 225

(0) 2

(98) 75

(204) 428

(214) 451

(84) 81(429) 272(143) 81

(78) 116
(125) 190

(190) 125

(432) 333

(173) 89

(76) 62

(9) 8(6) 7

(6) 9
(284) 372

(280) 262

(10) 8

(2) 2
(31) 68

(295) 311
(1) 0

(62) 10

(246) 274

(22) 13(18) 14

(17) 14
(268) 304

(233) 266

(15) 13

337

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



SITE

Scott Rd

Villa
ge

Ln

Harm
on

y L
n

Sammons Industrial PkwyHarmony Rd

Harmony Rd

Old Phoenix

Rd

G
re

en
sb

or
o 

R
d

1

2

3

4

5

6

Site 
Drwy 1 (S)

Site Drwy 2 (N) 7

20

FUTURE (BUILD) WEEKDAY PEAK HOUR VOLUMES
A&R Engineering Inc.

(AM) PM

FIGURE 9

(40) 161

(1) 0
(66) 67

(3) 1
(1) 0

(0) 0

(1) 0
(296) 223
(129) 67

(37) 50

(127) 272

(0) 2

(162) 150

(204) 428

(214) 451

(84) 81(429) 272(207) 156

(127) 186
(149) 225

(239) 195

(432) 333

(205) 127

(76) 62

(9) 8(6) 7

(6) 9
(406) 548

(440) 450

(10) 8

(22) 13(18) 14

(17) 14
(321) 367

(274) 325

(15) 13

(97) 165(20) 52

(28) 62
(319) 315

(280) 286

(129) 179

(0) 0
(0) 0
(0) 0

(24) 52(0) 0(20) 44

(28) 52
(322) 321

(0) 0

(0) 0
(268) 287

(33) 56

(2) 2
(31) 68

(417) 487
(1) 0

(62) 10

(406) 462

338

AutoCAD SHX Text
44

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

21 
 
 

6.1.2 Auxiliary Lane Analysis  
Included below are analyses for left-turn lanes and deceleration lanes for all site driveways per GDOT 
standards. The analyses below are based off the “trip distribution”.  According to the trip distribution, 
the total site generated trips is 10,975 and the mixed-use reduction is 1,814. Therefore, the 24-hour 
two-way volume the site is 9,161 vehicles.  

6.1.3 Left Turn Lane Analysis 
For two lane roadways with AADT’s less than 6,000 vehicles and a posted speed limit of 45 mph, the 
daily site generated left-turn threshold to warrant a left-turn lane is 250 left-turning vehicles. The 
projected left-turn volumes per day for each driveway is included below.  
 

 
Since the projected number of left-turning vehicles at Site Driveway 1 and Site Driveway 2 exceed the 
threshold of 250 left turning vehicles, a left-turn lane is warranted at both site driveways per GDOT 
standards.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 5 - GDOT Requirements for Left Turn Lanes 

Intersection 
Left- turn  

traffic 
(% entering) 

Left-turn Volume (vehicle/day) 
Roadway 

Speed/ # lanes 
/ ADT 

GDOT 
Threshold 

(vehicle/day) 

Harmony Road @  
Site Driveway 1 (S) 

60% 
2,748 

 (Total trips – mixed use) ÷ 2 × 0.60 = 
(10,975 – 1,814) ÷ 2 x 0.60 = 2,748 

45 mph /  
2-lane/ <6,000 

250 

Harmony Road @  
Site Driveway 2 (N) 

15% 
687 

 (Total trips – mixed use) ÷ 2 × 0.15 = 
(10,975 – 1,814) ÷ 2 x 0.15 = 687 

45 mph /  
2-lane/ <6,000 

250 

339



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

22 
 
 

6.1.4 Deceleration Turn Lane Analysis 
For two lane roadways with AADT’s less than 6,000 vehicles and a posted speed limit of 45 mph, the 
daily site generated right-turn threshold to warrant a deceleration lane is 150 right turning vehicles. The 
projected right-turn volumes per day for each driveway is included in Table 6. 
 

 
Since the projected number of right turning vehicles at Site Driveway 1 and Site Driveway 2 exceed the 
threshold of 150 right turning vehicles, a deceleration lane is warranted at both site driveways per GDOT 
standards.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 6 - GDOT Requirements for Deceleration Lanes 

Intersection 
Right-turn traffic 
(% total entering) 

Right-turn Volume (vehicle/day) 
Roadway 
Speed/   # 

lanes / ADT 

GDOT 
Threshold 

(vehicle/day) 
Harmony Road @  

Site Driveway 1 
(S) 

12.5% 
573 

 (Total trips – mixed use) ÷ 2 × 0.125 = 
(10,975 – 1,814) ÷ 2 x 0.125 = 573 

45 mph /  
2-lane/ 
<6,000 

150 

Harmony Road @  
Site Driveway 2 

(N) 
12.5% 

573 
 (Total trips – mixed use) ÷ 2 × 0.125 = 

(10,975 – 1,814) ÷ 2 x 0.125 = 573 

45 mph /  
2-lane/ 
<6,000 

150 

340



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

23 
 
 

6.2  Future Traffic Conditions 
The future 2025 “No-Build” and “Build” traffic operations were analyzed using the volumes in Figure 8 
and Figure 9, respectively, and the results are shown in Table 7.  
 

Table 7 – Future Intersection Operations 

Intersection 

Future Condition: LOS (Delay) 
NO-BUILD BUILD 

AM Peak PM 
Peak AM Peak PM Peak 

1 

SR 44 (Greensboro Road) @ Harmony Road 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Westbound Approach 
-Northbound Approach 
-Southbound Approach 

E (62.5) 
D (47.4) 
D (35.9) 
F (102.9) 
D (42.9) 

D (41.0) 
D (39.2) 
C (23.7) 
F (80.8) 
D (32.7) 

E (75.4) 
E (64.7) 
E (67.2) 

F (110.6) 
D (46.5) 

D (50.0) 
D (44.6) 
D (36.1) 
F (91.7) 
D (38.0) 

2 
Harmony Road @ Village Lane 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 

 
B (11.7) 
A (8.0) 

 
B (13.1) 
A (8.3) 

 
B (14.4) 
A (8.3) 

 
C (18.5) 
A (8.9) 

3 
Harmony Road @ Sammons Industrial Parkway (South) 
-Westbound Approach 
-Southbound Left 

 
C (15.2) 
A (8.0) 

 
C (16.1) 
A (0.0) 

 
C (21.8) 
A (8.4) 

 
D (29.9) 
A (0.0) 

4 
Harmony Road @ Harmony Lane 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 

 
B (11.7) 
A (7.9) 

 
B (12.6) 
A (8.1) 

 
B (12.6) 
A (8.1) 

 
B (14.0) 
A (8.3) 

5 

Harmony Road @ Scott Road / Private Driveway 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Westbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 
-Southbound Left 

 
B (11.4) 
C (15.4) 
A (0.0) 
A (7.8) 

 
A (9.2) 

B (14.5) 
A (7.6) 
A (8.0) 

 
B (12.0) 
C (18.5) 
A (0.0) 
A (7.9) 

 
A (9.5) 

C (18.0) 
A (7.7) 
A (8.2) 

6 
Harmony Road @ Site Driveway 1 (S) 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 

- - 
 

B (12.6) 
A (8.5) 

 
C (15.8) 
A (8.8) 

7 

Harmony Road @ Site Driveway 2 (N) / Private Driveway 
-Eastbound Approach 
-Westbound Approach 
-Northbound Left 
-Southbound Left 

- - 

 
B (13.1) 
A (0.0) 
A (8.2) 
A (0.0) 

 
C (14.6) 
A (0.0) 
A (8.3) 
A (0.0) 

 
The results of future ‘No-Build” traffic operations analysis indicate that the intersection of SR 44 
(Greensboro Road) and Harmony Road will operate at level-of-service “E” in AM peak hour and the 
northbound approach of Old Phoenix Road will operate at level-of-service “F”.  This approach has a large 
volume of right-turn movement but does not have a dedicated right-turn lane causing this approach 
experience longer delays.  As part of GDOT’s SR 44 Widening project PI 0006253 this intersection will be 
improved by constructing a northbound right-turn lane on Old Phoenix Road and dual westbound left-
turn lanes on SR 44 and an additional southbound through lane on Harmony Road.  With these 
improvements, the intersection should operate at satisfactory levels-of service.  Since the project 

341



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

24 
 
 

completion dates are not available, we did not include these ‘System Improvements’ in our analysis.  All 
other intersections will be operating at satisfactory levels-of-service in both peak hours.  GDOT’s 
intersection improvement plan is shown below and in Figure 10. In future “Build” conditions all 
intersections will be operating at similar levels-of-service as in “No-Build” conditions.  Recommendations 
for future traffic control and lane geometry is shown in Figure 11.  
 

 
 

342



343



344



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

27 
 
 

7 . 0  C O N C L U S I O N S  A N D  R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S  
 
The purpose of this study is to determine the traffic impact that will result from the proposed Helms 
Farm Campus development that will be located on Harmony Road across from Sammons Industrial 
Parkway (South), north of Village Lane in City of Eatonton, Putnam County, Georgia. The traffic analysis 
evaluates the current operations compared to the future conditions with the traffic generated by the 
development. The development will consist of: 
 

• Goodwill Store: 16,800 sf 
• Helms College: 50 Students 
• Edgar’s Bakery: 7,000 sf 
• Retail including Spa: 26,920 sf 
• High-Turn-over Sit-Down Restaurant: 13,100 sf 
• Super Market: 14,500 sf 
• Multi-family (mid-rise) Residential: 127 Units 
• Student Housing: 18 Units 
• Vacation Villas (Resorts): 41 Units 
• Event Hall or Banquet Hall: 22,000 sf 
• Hotel: 175 Rooms 

 

The development proposes three site accesses at the following locations: 
• Site Driveway 1: Full-access (Southern) driveway on Harmony Road 
• Site Driveway 2: Full-access (Northern) driveway on Harmony Road 

 
Both AM and PM peak hours have been analyzed in this study.  This study includes the evaluation of 
traffic operations at the intersections of: 
 

• Harmony Road at SR 44 (Greensboro Road) / Old Phoenix Road 
• Harmony Road at Village Lane 
• Harmony Road at Sammons Industrial Parkway (South) 
• Harmony Road at Harmony Lane 
• Harmony Road at Scott Road / Private Driveway 
• Harmony Road at Site Driveway 1 (Southern) 
• Harmony Road at Site Driveway 2 (Northern) / Private Driveway 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

345



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

28 
 
 

The analysis included the evaluation of “Existing” operations and future operations for “No-Build” and 
“Build” conditions, both of which account for increases in annual growth of through traffic.  The results 
of the analysis are listed below: 
 
Recommendations for Site Access Configuration 
 

The following access configuration is recommended for the proposed site driveway intersections.  
 

• Site Driveway 1: Full-access (Southern) driveway on Harmony Road 
o The driveway to have two entering and two exiting lanes. The eastbound (driveway) 

approach to have separate left and right-turn lane for exiting traffic. 
o The intersection to be unsignalized with a STOP sign on the eastbound approach.  
o A northbound left-turn lane to be constructed on Harmony Road for entering traffic.  
o A southbound deceleration lane to be constructed on Harmony Road for entering traffic. 

 

• Site Driveway 2: Full-access (Northern) driveway on Harmony Road 
o The driveway to have one entering and two exiting lanes. The eastbound (driveway) 

approach to have separate left and right-turn lane for exiting traffic. 
o The intersection to be unsignalized with a STOP sign on the eastbound approach.  
o A northbound left-turn lane to be constructed on Harmony Road for entering traffic.   
o A southbound deceleration lane is recommended to be constructed on Harmony Road 

for entering traffic. 
 

The proposed Helms Farm Campus development will be completed in different phases as determined by 
the market conditions and demand.  The projected phasing of the entire development is given below.  
This study was evaluated to determine improvements for the full build out in year 2025. 
 

LAND USE UNITS PHASE 1 
2023 

PHASE 2 
2024 

PHASE 3 
Early 2025 

PHASE 4 
Late 2025 

Goodwill Store 16,800 sf 16,800 sf - - - 
Helms College 50 Students 25 Students 25 Students - - 
Edgar’s Bakery 7,000 sf 7,000 sf - - - 
Retail 26,920 sf 3400 11,200 sf 12,320 sf - 
Sit-Down Restaurant 13,100 sf - 2,500 sf 2,500 sf 8,100 sf 
Super Market 14,500 sf - - 14,500 sf - 
Multi-family Apartments 127 Units - 42 64 21 
Student Housing 18 Units - 6 9 3 
Vacation Villas 41 Units - - 20 Units 21 Units 
Event Hall/Banquet 22,000 sf - - - 22,000 sf 
Hotel  175 Rooms - - 175 Rooms - 
 

346



 
 
 

 
A&R Engineering Inc. 

29 
 
 

The most traffic impact from the project occurs during the AM and PM peak hours.  The traffic volumes 
generated by the project during these peak hours in different directions is shown graphically in figure 6 
on page 16.  As shown on this figure, a maximum of 29 vehicles are projected to turn left at any of the 
two driveways.  The northern driveway has only 35 vehicles turning right while the southern driveway 
will have 140 vehicles turning right.  These turning movements amount to 1 or 2 vehicles per minute.  
This magnitude of traffic volumes will not create any significant impact on traffic on Harmony Road 
especially the development will construct left-turn lanes and deceleration lanes per our 
recommendations. 

 
The results of future traffic operations analysis indicate that after addition of the new traffic generated 
by the proposed Helms Farm Campus development, all study intersections will continue to operate at 
similar levels-of-service as before.  The existing delays at Old Phoenix Road at SR 44 (Greensboro Road) 
intersection will improve after the proposed SR 44 Widening project (PI 0006253) 10 is completed by 
GDOT. 
 

347



 
 
 

 

Appendix  
Existing Intersection Traffic Counts ................................................................................................................  
Linear Regression of Daily Traffic ....................................................................................................................  
Existing Intersection Analysis ..........................................................................................................................  
Future “No-Build” Intersection Analysis .........................................................................................................  
Future “Build” Intersection Analysis ...............................................................................................................  
Traffic Volume Worksheets ............................................................................................................................  

 

348



 
 
 

 

E X I S T I N G  I N T E R S E C T I O N  T R A F F I C  C O U N T S  

349



File Name : 20210171
Site Code : 20210171
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 1

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Village Lane
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Groups Printed- Cars,Buses & Trucks
Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southbound

Village Lane
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

07:00 AM 1 52 0 53 0 38 1 39 2 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 95
07:15 AM 2 48 0 50 0 50 2 52 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 104
07:30 AM 2 58 0 60 0 53 1 54 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 117
07:45 AM 1 75 0 76 0 61 1 62 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 141

Total 6 233 0 239 0 202 5 207 5 0 6 11 0 0 0 0 457

08:00 AM 2 54 0 56 0 59 2 61 2 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 120
08:15 AM 3 46 0 49 0 63 1 64 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 116
08:30 AM 1 42 0 43 0 56 0 56 2 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 102
08:45 AM 1 47 0 48 0 59 2 61 1 0 3 4 0 0 0 0 113

Total 7 189 0 196 0 237 5 242 6 0 7 13 0 0 0 0 451

*** BREAK ***

04:00 PM 1 66 0 67 0 68 1 69 2 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 140
04:15 PM 1 46 0 47 0 55 2 57 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 107
04:30 PM 2 57 0 59 0 60 1 61 3 0 1 4 0 0 0 0 124
04:45 PM 1 55 0 56 0 64 1 65 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 123

Total 5 224 0 229 0 247 5 252 7 0 6 13 0 0 0 0 494

05:00 PM 3 69 0 72 0 100 2 102 2 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 178
05:15 PM 2 63 0 65 0 91 3 94 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 161
05:30 PM 1 48 0 49 0 79 2 81 2 0 3 5 0 0 0 0 135
05:45 PM 1 47 0 48 0 64 1 65 3 0 2 5 0 0 0 0 118

Total 7 227 0 234 0 334 8 342 8 0 8 16 0 0 0 0 592

Grand Total 25 873 0 898 0 1020 23 1043 26 0 27 53 0 0 0 0 1994
Apprch % 2.8 97.2 0  0 97.8 2.2  49.1 0 50.9  0 0 0   

Total % 1.3 43.8 0 45 0 51.2 1.2 52.3 1.3 0 1.4 2.7 0 0 0 0

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

350



File Name : 20210171
Site Code : 20210171
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 2

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Village Lane
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southbound

Village Lane
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:30 AM

07:30 AM 2 58 0 60 0 53 1 54 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 117
07:45 AM 1 75 0 76 0 61 1 62 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 141

08:00 AM 2 54 0 56 0 59 2 61 2 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 120
08:15 AM 3 46 0 49 0 63 1 64 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 116

Total Volume 8 233 0 241 0 236 5 241 5 0 7 12 0 0 0 0 494
% App. Total 3.3 96.7 0  0 97.9 2.1  41.7 0 58.3  0 0 0   

PHF .667 .777 .000 .793 .000 .937 .625 .941 .625 .000 .875 1.00 .000 .000 .000 .000 .876

 Harmony Rd 

 V
ill

a
g
e
 L

a
n
e
 

  

 Harmony Rd 

Right
5 

Thru
236 

Left
0 

InOut Total
238 241 479 

R
ig

h
t0
 

T
h
ru0

 
L
e
ft0

 

O
u
t

T
o
ta

l
In

0
 

0
 

0
 

Left
8 

Thru
233 

Right
0 

Out TotalIn
243 241 484 

L
e
ft

5
 

T
h
ru

0
 

R
ig

h
t7
 

T
o
ta

l
O

u
t

In
1
3
 

1
2
 

2
5
 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:30 AM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

351



File Name : 20210171
Site Code : 20210171
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 3

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Village Lane
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southbound

Village Lane
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 04:00 PM to 05:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 04:45 PM

04:45 PM 1 55 0 56 0 64 1 65 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 123
05:00 PM 3 69 0 72 0 100 2 102 2 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 178

05:15 PM 2 63 0 65 0 91 3 94 1 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 161
05:30 PM 1 48 0 49 0 79 2 81 2 0 3 5 0 0 0 0 135

Total Volume 7 235 0 242 0 334 8 342 6 0 7 13 0 0 0 0 597
% App. Total 2.9 97.1 0  0 97.7 2.3  46.2 0 53.8  0 0 0   

PHF .583 .851 .000 .840 .000 .835 .667 .838 .750 .000 .583 .650 .000 .000 .000 .000 .838

 Harmony Rd 

 V
ill

a
g

e
 L

a
n

e
 

  

 Harmony Rd 

Right
8 

Thru
334 

Left
0 

InOut Total
241 342 583 

R
ig

h
t0
 

T
h

ru0
 

L
e

ft0
 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

0
 

0
 

0
 

Left
7 

Thru
235 

Right
0 

Out TotalIn
341 242 583 

L
e

ft
6

 
T

h
ru

0
 

R
ig

h
t7
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

1
5

 
1

3
 

2
8

 

Peak Hour Begins at 04:45 PM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

352



File Name : 20210170
Site Code : 20210170
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 1

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ SR 44 Greens boro Rd
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Groups Printed- Cars, Buses - Trucks
Old Phonix Rd

Northbound
Harmony Rd
Southound Eastbound

SR 44 ( Greensboro Rd )
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

07:00 AM 5 36 40 81 19 14 10 43 29 51 9 89 30 36 12 78 291
07:15 AM 18 32 69 119 27 15 16 58 25 68 13 106 37 42 10 89 372
07:30 AM 12 37 68 117 44 22 15 81 28 81 20 129 42 45 10 97 424
07:45 AM 16 43 99 158 34 21 16 71 47 95 12 154 35 41 20 96 479

Total 51 148 276 475 124 72 57 253 129 295 54 478 144 164 52 360 1566

08:00 AM 12 33 85 130 34 16 15 65 28 108 28 164 37 52 19 108 467
08:15 AM 13 30 97 140 54 36 17 107 28 76 16 120 53 36 27 116 483
08:30 AM 22 38 78 138 36 31 17 84 16 78 14 108 53 41 16 110 440
08:45 AM 6 33 85 124 45 28 16 89 15 70 15 100 64 42 19 125 438

Total 53 134 345 532 169 111 65 345 87 332 73 492 207 171 81 459 1828

*** BREAK ***

04:00 PM 10 36 69 115 40 45 17 102 14 51 12 77 90 77 20 187 481
04:15 PM 7 26 65 98 33 35 19 87 21 57 17 95 91 71 18 180 460
04:30 PM 14 20 64 98 31 27 22 80 18 46 17 81 95 77 25 197 456
04:45 PM 18 17 67 102 32 27 24 83 0 0 0 0 82 84 29 195 380

Total 49 99 265 413 136 134 82 352 53 154 46 253 358 309 92 759 1777

05:00 PM 23 15 78 116 40 53 29 122 22 56 17 95 95 87 26 208 541
05:15 PM 0 19 77 96 32 47 26 105 19 57 18 94 99 91 17 207 502
05:30 PM 16 24 76 116 21 38 25 84 17 68 22 107 112 105 13 230 537
05:45 PM 16 22 68 106 19 32 24 75 14 63 15 92 99 101 11 211 484

Total 55 80 299 434 112 170 104 386 72 244 72 388 405 384 67 856 2064

Grand Total 208 461 1185 1854 541 487 308 1336 341 1025 245 1611 1114 1028 292 2434 7235
Apprch % 11.2 24.9 63.9  40.5 36.5 23.1  21.2 63.6 15.2  45.8 42.2 12   

Total % 2.9 6.4 16.4 25.6 7.5 6.7 4.3 18.5 4.7 14.2 3.4 22.3 15.4 14.2 4 33.6
Cars, Buses 200 444 1159 1803 496 459 297 1252 331 948 237 1516 1087 986 261 2334 6905
% Cars, Buses 96.2 96.3 97.8 97.2 91.7 94.3 96.4 93.7 97.1 92.5 96.7 94.1 97.6 95.9 89.4 95.9 95.4

Trucks 8 17 26 51 45 28 11 84 10 77 8 95 27 42 31 100 330
% Trucks 3.8 3.7 2.2 2.8 8.3 5.7 3.6 6.3 2.9 7.5 3.3 5.9 2.4 4.1 10.6 4.1 4.6

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

353



File Name : 20210170
Site Code : 20210170
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 2

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ SR 44 Greens boro Rd
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Old Phonix Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound Eastbound

SR 44 ( Greensboro Rd )
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:45 AM

07:45 AM 16 43 99 158 34 21 16 71 47 95 12 154 35 41 20 96 479
08:00 AM 12 33 85 130 34 16 15 65 28 108 28 164 37 52 19 108 467
08:15 AM 13 30 97 140 54 36 17 107 28 76 16 120 53 36 27 116 483
08:30 AM 22 38 78 138 36 31 17 84 16 78 14 108 53 41 16 110 440

Total Volume 63 144 359 566 158 104 65 327 119 357 70 546 178 170 82 430 1869
% App. Total 11.1 25.4 63.4  48.3 31.8 19.9  21.8 65.4 12.8  41.4 39.5 19.1   

PHF .716 .837 .907 .896 .731 .722 .956 .764 .633 .826 .625 .832 .840 .817 .759 .927 .967
Cars, Buses 61 137 345 543 137 92 62 291 116 328 66 510 168 156 72 396 1740
% Cars, Buses 96.8 95.1 96.1 95.9 86.7 88.5 95.4 89.0 97.5 91.9 94.3 93.4 94.4 91.8 87.8 92.1 93.1

Trucks 2 7 14 23 21 12 3 36 3 29 4 36 10 14 10 34 129
% Trucks 3.2 4.9 3.9 4.1 13.3 11.5 4.6 11.0 2.5 8.1 5.7 6.6 5.6 8.2 12.2 7.9 6.9

 Harmony Rd 

  
 S

R
 4

4
 ( G

re
e

n
sb

o
ro

 R
d

 ) 

 Old Phonix Rd 

Right

62 
3 

65 
Thru

92 
12 

104 
Left

137 
21 

158 

InOut Total
325 291 616 
20 36 56 

345 672 327 

R
ig

h
t

7
2

 
1

0
 

8
2

 
T

h
ru

1
5

6
 

1
4

 
1

7
0

 
L

e
ft

1
6

8
 

1
0

 
1

7
8

 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

8
1

0
 

3
9

6
 

1
2

0
6

 
6

4
 

3
4

 
9

8
 

8
7

4
 

1
3

0
4

 
4

3
0

 

Left
61 
2 

63 

Thru
137 

7 
144 

Right
345 
14 

359 

Out TotalIn

326 543 869 
26 23 49 

352 918 566 

L
e

ft

1
1

6
 

3
 

1
1

9
 

T
h

ru3
2

8
 

2
9

 
3

5
7

 
R

ig
h

t

6
6

 
4

 
7

0
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

2
7

9
 

5
1

0
 

7
8

9
 

1
9

 
3

6
 

5
5

 
2

9
8

 
8

4
4

 
5

4
6

 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:45 AM
 
Cars, Buses
Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

354



File Name : 20210170
Site Code : 20210170
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 3

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ SR 44 Greens boro Rd
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Old Phonix Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound Eastbound

SR 44 ( Greensboro Rd )
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 04:00 PM to 05:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 05:00 PM

05:00 PM 23 15 78 116 40 53 29 122 22 56 17 95 95 87 26 208 541
05:15 PM 0 19 77 96 32 47 26 105 19 57 18 94 99 91 17 207 502
05:30 PM 16 24 76 116 21 38 25 84 17 68 22 107 112 105 13 230 537
05:45 PM 16 22 68 106 19 32 24 75 14 63 15 92 99 101 11 211 484

Total Volume 55 80 299 434 112 170 104 386 72 244 72 388 405 384 67 856 2064
% App. Total 12.7 18.4 68.9  29 44 26.9  18.6 62.9 18.6  47.3 44.9 7.8   

PHF .598 .833 .958 .935 .700 .802 .897 .791 .818 .897 .818 .907 .904 .914 .644 .930 .954
Cars, Buses 53 79 299 431 112 167 102 381 71 239 71 381 400 378 62 840 2033
% Cars, Buses 96.4 98.8 100 99.3 100 98.2 98.1 98.7 98.6 98.0 98.6 98.2 98.8 98.4 92.5 98.1 98.5

Trucks 2 1 0 3 0 3 2 5 1 5 1 7 5 6 5 16 31
% Trucks 3.6 1.3 0 0.7 0 1.8 1.9 1.3 1.4 2.0 1.4 1.8 1.2 1.6 7.5 1.9 1.5

 Harmony Rd 

  
 S

R
 4

4
 ( G

re
e

n
sb

o
ro

 R
d

 ) 

 Old Phonix Rd 

Right

102 
2 

104 
Thru

167 
3 

170 
Left

112 
0 

112 

InOut Total
212 381 593 

7 5 12 
219 605 386 

R
ig

h
t

6
2

 
5

 
6

7
 

T
h

ru

3
7

8
 

6
 

3
8

4
 

L
e

ft

4
0

0
 

5
 

4
0

5
 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

6
5

0
 

8
4

0
 

1
4

9
0

 
5

 
1

6
 

2
1

 
6

5
5

 
1

5
1

1
 

8
5

6
 

Left
53 
2 

55 

Thru
79 
1 

80 

Right
299 

0 
299 

Out TotalIn

638 431 1069 
9 3 12 

647 1081 434 

L
e

ft7
1

 
1

 
7

2
 

T
h

ru2
3

9
 

5
 

2
4

4
 

R
ig

h
t

7
1

 
1

 
7

2
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

5
3

3
 

3
8

1
 

9
1

4
 

1
0

 
7

 
1

7
 

5
4

3
 

9
3

1
 

3
8

8
 

Peak Hour Begins at 05:00 PM
 
Cars, Buses
Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

355



File Name : 20210169
Site Code : 20210169
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 1

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Sammons Ind Pkwy (South)
7-9 am I 4-6 pm

Groups Printed- Cars, Buses - Trucks

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound Eastbound

Sammons Ind Pkwy
(South)

Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

07:00 AM 0 44 10 54 1 38 0 39 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 5 98
07:15 AM 0 42 8 50 4 51 0 55 0 0 0 0 7 0 1 8 113
07:30 AM 0 45 18 63 0 52 0 52 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 6 121
07:45 AM 0 61 17 78 0 62 0 62 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 5 145

Total 0 192 53 245 5 203 0 208 0 0 0 0 23 0 1 24 477

08:00 AM 0 51 8 59 0 62 0 62 0 0 0 0 7 0 2 9 130
08:15 AM 0 48 8 56 1 69 0 70 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 8 134
08:30 AM 0 38 10 48 0 55 0 55 0 0 0 0 9 0 0 9 112
08:45 AM 0 47 6 53 1 59 0 60 0 0 0 0 7 0 0 7 120

Total 0 184 32 216 2 245 0 247 0 0 0 0 31 0 2 33 496

*** BREAK ***

04:00 PM 0 67 5 72 0 64 0 64 0 0 0 0 7 0 1 8 144
04:15 PM 0 50 3 53 0 55 0 55 0 0 0 0 3 0 1 4 112
04:30 PM 0 59 3 62 0 61 0 61 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 2 125
04:45 PM 0 57 7 64 0 59 0 59 0 0 0 0 8 0 1 9 132

Total 0 233 18 251 0 239 0 239 0 0 0 0 20 0 3 23 513

05:00 PM 0 76 0 76 0 78 0 78 0 0 0 0 23 0 0 23 177
05:15 PM 0 66 1 67 0 81 0 81 0 0 0 0 11 0 1 12 160
05:30 PM 0 47 1 48 0 61 0 61 0 0 0 0 19 0 0 19 128
05:45 PM 0 46 4 50 0 62 0 62 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 4 116

Total 0 235 6 241 0 282 0 282 0 0 0 0 57 0 1 58 581

Grand Total 0 844 109 953 7 969 0 976 0 0 0 0 131 0 7 138 2067
Apprch % 0 88.6 11.4  0.7 99.3 0  0 0 0  94.9 0 5.1   

Total % 0 40.8 5.3 46.1 0.3 46.9 0 47.2 0 0 0 0 6.3 0 0.3 6.7
Cars, Buses 0 798 75 873 6 923 0 929 0 0 0 0 97 0 5 102 1904
% Cars, Buses 0 94.5 68.8 91.6 85.7 95.3 0 95.2 0 0 0 0 74 0 71.4 73.9 92.1

Trucks 0 46 34 80 1 46 0 47 0 0 0 0 34 0 2 36 163
% Trucks 0 5.5 31.2 8.4 14.3 4.7 0 4.8 0 0 0 0 26 0 28.6 26.1 7.9

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

356



File Name : 20210169
Site Code : 20210169
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 2

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Sammons Ind Pkwy (South)
7-9 am I 4-6 pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound Eastbound

Sammons Ind Pkwy
(South)

Westbound
Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:30 AM

07:30 AM 0 45 18 63 0 52 0 52 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 6 121
07:45 AM 0 61 17 78 0 62 0 62 0 0 0 0 5 0 0 5 145
08:00 AM 0 51 8 59 0 62 0 62 0 0 0 0 7 0 2 9 130
08:15 AM 0 48 8 56 1 69 0 70 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 8 134

Total Volume 0 205 51 256 1 245 0 246 0 0 0 0 26 0 2 28 530
% App. Total 0 80.1 19.9  0.4 99.6 0  0 0 0  92.9 0 7.1   

PHF .000 .840 .708 .821 .250 .888 .000 .879 .000 .000 .000 .000 .813 .000 .250 .778 .914
Cars, Buses 0 194 39 233 1 223 0 224 0 0 0 0 13 0 2 15 472
% Cars, Buses 0 94.6 76.5 91.0 100 91.0 0 91.1 0 0 0 0 50.0 0 100 53.6 89.1

Trucks 0 11 12 23 0 22 0 22 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 13 58
% Trucks 0 5.4 23.5 9.0 0 9.0 0 8.9 0 0 0 0 50.0 0 0 46.4 10.9

 Harmony Rd 

  
 S

a
m

m
o

n
s In

d
 P

kw
y (S

o
u

th
) 

 Harmony Rd 

Right

0 
0 
0 

Thru

223 
22 

245 
Left

1 
0 
1 

InOut Total
196 224 420 
11 22 33 

207 453 246 

R
ig

h
t 2
 

0
 

2
 

T
h

ru 0
 

0
 

0
 

L
e

ft 1
3

 
1

3
 

2
6

 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

4
0

 
1

5
 

5
5

 
1

2
 

1
3

 
2

5
 

5
2

 
8

0
 

2
8

 

Left
0 
0 
0 

Thru
194 
11 

205 

Right
39 
12 
51 

Out TotalIn

236 233 469 
35 23 58 

271 527 256 

L
e

ft

0
 

0
 

0
 

T
h

ru

0
 

0
 

0
 

R
ig

h
t0
 

0
 

0
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:30 AM
 
Cars, Buses
Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

357



File Name : 20210169
Site Code : 20210169
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 3

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Sammons Ind Pkwy (South)
7-9 am I 4-6 pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound Eastbound

Sammons Ind Pkwy
(South)

Westbound
Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 04:00 PM to 05:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 04:45 PM

04:45 PM 0 57 7 64 0 59 0 59 0 0 0 0 8 0 1 9 132
05:00 PM 0 76 0 76 0 78 0 78 0 0 0 0 23 0 0 23 177
05:15 PM 0 66 1 67 0 81 0 81 0 0 0 0 11 0 1 12 160
05:30 PM 0 47 1 48 0 61 0 61 0 0 0 0 19 0 0 19 128

Total Volume 0 246 9 255 0 279 0 279 0 0 0 0 61 0 2 63 597
% App. Total 0 96.5 3.5  0 100 0  0 0 0  96.8 0 3.2   

PHF .000 .809 .321 .839 .000 .861 .000 .861 .000 .000 .000 .000 .663 .000 .500 .685 .843
Cars, Buses 0 231 4 235 0 274 0 274 0 0 0 0 60 0 1 61 570
% Cars, Buses 0 93.9 44.4 92.2 0 98.2 0 98.2 0 0 0 0 98.4 0 50.0 96.8 95.5

Trucks 0 15 5 20 0 5 0 5 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 2 27
% Trucks 0 6.1 55.6 7.8 0 1.8 0 1.8 0 0 0 0 1.6 0 50.0 3.2 4.5

 Harmony Rd 

  
 S

a
m

m
o

n
s In

d
 P

kw
y (S

o
u

th
) 

 Harmony Rd 

Right

0 
0 
0 

Thru

274 
5 

279 
Left

0 
0 
0 

InOut Total
232 274 506 
16 5 21 

248 527 279 

R
ig

h
t 1
 

1
 

2
 

T
h

ru 0
 

0
 

0
 

L
e

ft 6
0

 
1

 
6

1
 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

4
 

6
1

 
6

5
 

5
 

2
 

7
 

9
 

7
2

 
6

3
 

Left
0 
0 
0 

Thru
231 
15 

246 

Right
4 
5 
9 

Out TotalIn

334 235 569 
6 20 26 

340 595 255 

L
e

ft

0
 

0
 

0
 

T
h

ru

0
 

0
 

0
 

R
ig

h
t0
 

0
 

0
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

Peak Hour Begins at 04:45 PM
 
Cars, Buses
Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

358



File Name : 20210168
Site Code : 20210168
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 1

TMC DATA
Harmony Rd @ Scott Rd
7 am - 7  pm

Groups Printed- Cars,Buses & Trucks
Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound

Private Drwy
Eastbound

Scott Rd
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

07:00 AM 0 17 3 20 9 24 0 33 0 0 1 1 3 0 6 9 63
07:15 AM 0 18 4 22 27 48 0 75 0 1 1 2 10 0 7 17 116
07:30 AM 0 23 5 28 23 59 0 82 0 0 2 2 10 1 4 15 127
07:45 AM 0 20 7 27 35 58 0 93 0 0 0 0 10 0 11 21 141

Total 0 78 19 97 94 189 0 283 0 1 4 5 33 1 28 62 447

08:00 AM 0 18 8 26 22 45 1 68 0 0 0 0 16 0 11 27 121
08:15 AM 0 25 5 30 17 48 0 65 0 0 1 1 7 0 9 16 112
08:30 AM 0 14 4 18 16 30 0 46 0 0 0 0 6 0 11 17 81
08:45 AM 0 19 9 28 18 53 0 71 0 0 0 0 6 0 14 20 119

Total 0 76 26 102 73 176 1 250 0 0 1 1 35 0 45 80 433

09:00 AM 1 27 4 32 27 44 0 71 1 0 1 2 14 0 5 19 124
09:15 AM 0 19 9 28 21 30 0 51 0 0 0 0 5 0 10 15 94
09:30 AM 0 24 7 31 14 26 0 40 0 0 0 0 8 0 6 14 85
09:45 AM 0 24 8 32 16 40 0 56 0 0 0 0 12 0 12 24 112

Total 1 94 28 123 78 140 0 218 1 0 1 2 39 0 33 72 415

10:00 AM 0 19 9 28 13 25 0 38 0 0 0 0 7 0 12 19 85
10:15 AM 0 22 8 30 14 38 0 52 0 0 0 0 9 0 18 27 109
10:30 AM 0 28 4 32 12 29 0 41 0 0 0 0 6 0 18 24 97
10:45 AM 0 22 12 34 22 33 0 55 0 0 0 0 7 0 10 17 106

Total 0 91 33 124 61 125 0 186 0 0 0 0 29 0 58 87 397

11:00 AM 0 18 7 25 16 22 0 38 0 0 0 0 4 0 18 22 85
11:15 AM 0 20 6 26 17 34 0 51 0 0 0 0 7 0 17 24 101
11:30 AM 0 34 12 46 16 40 0 56 0 0 1 1 7 0 14 21 124
11:45 AM 0 31 8 39 14 28 0 42 0 0 0 0 11 0 17 28 109

Total 0 103 33 136 63 124 0 187 0 0 1 1 29 0 66 95 419

12:00 PM 1 22 10 33 14 20 0 34 0 0 0 0 8 0 18 26 93
12:15 PM 0 27 4 31 12 31 0 43 0 0 0 0 7 0 17 24 98
12:30 PM 0 19 9 28 20 34 0 54 0 0 1 1 14 0 20 34 117
12:45 PM 0 27 5 32 14 37 0 51 0 0 0 0 14 0 18 32 115

Total 1 95 28 124 60 122 0 182 0 0 1 1 43 0 73 116 423

01:00 PM 0 33 8 41 18 28 0 46 0 0 0 0 15 0 11 26 113
01:15 PM 0 29 5 34 16 31 0 47 0 0 0 0 6 0 14 20 101
01:30 PM 0 35 6 41 12 33 0 45 0 0 0 0 10 0 17 27 113
01:45 PM 0 18 11 29 13 31 0 44 0 0 0 0 11 0 11 22 95

Total 0 115 30 145 59 123 0 182 0 0 0 0 42 0 53 95 422

02:00 PM 0 32 7 39 8 23 0 31 0 0 0 0 9 0 18 27 97
02:15 PM 0 30 4 34 14 44 0 58 0 0 0 0 11 0 11 22 114
02:30 PM 1 19 8 28 16 30 0 46 0 0 0 0 6 0 19 25 99
02:45 PM 0 46 8 54 12 38 0 50 0 0 0 0 10 0 21 31 135

Total 1 127 27 155 50 135 0 185 0 0 0 0 36 0 69 105 445

03:00 PM 0 42 12 54 19 44 0 63 0 0 0 0 11 0 10 21 138
03:15 PM 0 26 11 37 15 51 0 66 0 0 0 0 10 0 19 29 132
03:30 PM 0 26 7 33 22 36 0 58 0 0 0 0 11 0 25 36 127
03:45 PM 0 32 11 43 18 51 0 69 0 0 0 0 6 0 23 29 141

Total 0 126 41 167 74 182 0 256 0 0 0 0 38 0 77 115 538

04:00 PM 0 28 9 37 12 31 0 43 0 0 0 0 6 0 20 26 106
04:15 PM 0 30 9 39 12 31 0 43 0 0 0 0 6 0 20 26 108

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

359



File Name : 20210168
Site Code : 20210168
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 2

TMC DATA
Harmony Rd @ Scott Rd
7 am - 7  pm

Groups Printed- Cars,Buses & Trucks
Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound

Private Drwy
Eastbound

Scott Rd
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

04:30 PM 0 37 8 45 21 31 0 52 0 0 0 0 15 0 19 34 131
04:45 PM 1 44 7 52 19 37 0 56 0 0 1 1 10 0 30 40 149

Total 1 139 33 173 64 130 0 194 0 0 1 1 37 0 89 126 494

05:00 PM 1 61 6 68 10 35 0 45 0 0 0 0 18 0 29 47 160
05:15 PM 0 53 12 65 18 40 0 58 0 0 0 0 12 0 46 58 181
05:30 PM 0 44 9 53 13 43 0 56 0 0 0 0 9 0 40 49 158
05:45 PM 0 27 10 37 8 44 0 52 0 0 0 0 8 0 23 31 120

Total 1 185 37 223 49 162 0 211 0 0 0 0 47 0 138 185 619

06:00 PM 1 32 8 41 11 31 0 42 0 0 0 0 6 0 11 17 100
06:15 PM 0 37 4 41 17 30 0 47 0 0 0 0 9 0 22 31 119
06:30 PM 2 27 5 34 23 27 0 50 1 0 0 1 6 0 20 26 111
06:45 PM 2 15 2 19 6 31 0 37 0 0 0 0 4 0 11 15 71

Total 5 111 19 135 57 119 0 176 1 0 0 1 25 0 64 89 401

Grand Total 10 1340 354 1704 782 1727 1 2510 2 1 9 12 433 1 793 1227 5453
Apprch % 0.6 78.6 20.8  31.2 68.8 0  16.7 8.3 75  35.3 0.1 64.6   

Total % 0.2 24.6 6.5 31.2 14.3 31.7 0 46 0 0 0.2 0.2 7.9 0 14.5 22.5

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

360



File Name : 20210168
Site Code : 20210168
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 3

TMC DATA
Harmony Rd @ Scott Rd
7 am - 7  pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound

Private Drwy
Eastbound

Scott Rd
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:15 AM

07:15 AM 0 18 4 22 27 48 0 75 0 1 1 2 10 0 7 17 116
07:30 AM 0 23 5 28 23 59 0 82 0 0 2 2 10 1 4 15 127
07:45 AM 0 20 7 27 35 58 0 93 0 0 0 0 10 0 11 21 141
08:00 AM 0 18 8 26 22 45 1 68 0 0 0 0 16 0 11 27 121

Total Volume 0 79 24 103 107 210 1 318 0 1 3 4 46 1 33 80 505
% App. Total 0 76.7 23.3  33.6 66 0.3  0 25 75  57.5 1.2 41.2   

PHF .000 .859 .750 .920 .764 .890 .250 .855 .000 .250 .375 .500 .719 .250 .750 .741 .895

 Harmony Rd 

 P
ri
va

te
 D

rw
y  S

co
tt R

d
 

 Harmony Rd 

Right
1 

Thru
210 

Left
107 

InOut Total
112 318 430 

R
ig

h
t

3
3

 
T

h
ru1

 
L

e
ft4
6

 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

1
3

2
 

8
0

 
2

1
2

 

Left
0 

Thru
79 

Right
24 

Out TotalIn
259 103 362 

L
e

ft
0

 
T

h
ru

1
 

R
ig

h
t3
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

2
 

4
 

6
 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:15 AM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

361



File Name : 20210168
Site Code : 20210168
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 4

TMC DATA
Harmony Rd @ Scott Rd
7 am - 7  pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound

Private Drwy
Eastbound

Scott Rd
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 12:00 PM to 01:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 12:30 PM

12:30 PM 0 19 9 28 20 34 0 54 0 0 1 1 14 0 20 34 117
12:45 PM 0 27 5 32 14 37 0 51 0 0 0 0 14 0 18 32 115
01:00 PM 0 33 8 41 18 28 0 46 0 0 0 0 15 0 11 26 113
01:15 PM 0 29 5 34 16 31 0 47 0 0 0 0 6 0 14 20 101

Total Volume 0 108 27 135 68 130 0 198 0 0 1 1 49 0 63 112 446
% App. Total 0 80 20  34.3 65.7 0  0 0 100  43.8 0 56.2   

PHF .000 .818 .750 .823 .850 .878 .000 .917 .000 .000 .250 .250 .817 .000 .788 .824 .953

 Harmony Rd 

 P
ri
va

te
 D

rw
y  S

co
tt R

d
 

 Harmony Rd 

Right
0 

Thru
130 

Left
68 

InOut Total
171 198 369 

R
ig

h
t

6
3

 
T

h
ru0

 
L

e
ft4
9

 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

9
5

 
1

1
2

 
2

0
7

 

Left
0 

Thru
108 

Right
27 

Out TotalIn
180 135 315 

L
e

ft
0

 
T

h
ru

0
 

R
ig

h
t1
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

0
 

1
 

1
 

Peak Hour Begins at 12:30 PM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

362



File Name : 20210168
Site Code : 20210168
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 5

TMC DATA
Harmony Rd @ Scott Rd
7 am - 7  pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southound

Private Drwy
Eastbound

Scott Rd
Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 04:00 PM to 06:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 04:45 PM

04:45 PM 1 44 7 52 19 37 0 56 0 0 1 1 10 0 30 40 149
05:00 PM 1 61 6 68 10 35 0 45 0 0 0 0 18 0 29 47 160
05:15 PM 0 53 12 65 18 40 0 58 0 0 0 0 12 0 46 58 181
05:30 PM 0 44 9 53 13 43 0 56 0 0 0 0 9 0 40 49 158

Total Volume 2 202 34 238 60 155 0 215 0 0 1 1 49 0 145 194 648
% App. Total 0.8 84.9 14.3  27.9 72.1 0  0 0 100  25.3 0 74.7   

PHF .500 .828 .708 .875 .789 .901 .000 .927 .000 .000 .250 .250 .681 .000 .788 .836 .895

 Harmony Rd 

 P
ri
va

te
 D

rw
y  S

co
tt R

d
 

 Harmony Rd 

Right
0 

Thru
155 

Left
60 

InOut Total
347 215 562 

R
ig

h
t

1
4

5
 

T
h

ru0
 

L
e

ft4
9

 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

9
4

 
1

9
4

 
2

8
8

 

Left
2 

Thru
202 

Right
34 

Out TotalIn
205 238 443 

L
e

ft
0

 
T

h
ru

0
 

R
ig

h
t1
 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

2
 

1
 

3
 

Peak Hour Begins at 04:45 PM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

363



File Name : 20210172
Site Code : 20210172
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 1

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Harmony Lane
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Groups Printed- Cars,Buses & Trucks
Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southbound

Harmony Lane
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

07:00 AM 3 44 0 47 0 35 2 37 2 0 3 5 0 0 0 0 89
07:15 AM 4 41 0 45 0 46 3 49 3 0 5 8 0 0 0 0 102
07:30 AM 4 42 0 46 0 49 4 53 4 0 5 9 0 0 0 0 108
07:45 AM 1 60 0 61 0 60 2 62 4 0 4 8 0 0 0 0 131

Total 12 187 0 199 0 190 11 201 13 0 17 30 0 0 0 0 430

08:00 AM 4 48 0 52 0 55 3 58 4 0 5 9 0 0 0 0 119
08:15 AM 4 44 0 48 0 59 5 64 3 0 4 7 0 0 0 0 119
08:30 AM 2 38 0 40 0 54 3 57 5 0 4 9 0 0 0 0 106
08:45 AM 2 43 0 45 0 57 4 61 2 0 3 5 0 0 0 0 111

Total 12 173 0 185 0 225 15 240 14 0 16 30 0 0 0 0 455

*** BREAK ***

04:00 PM 4 63 0 67 0 64 4 68 3 0 5 8 0 0 0 0 143
04:15 PM 3 45 0 48 0 52 5 57 4 0 4 8 0 0 0 0 113
04:30 PM 2 55 0 57 0 58 3 61 4 0 3 7 0 0 0 0 125
04:45 PM 3 52 0 55 0 57 3 60 5 0 2 7 0 0 0 0 122

Total 12 215 0 227 0 231 15 246 16 0 14 30 0 0 0 0 503

05:00 PM 4 69 0 73 0 77 4 81 2 0 5 7 0 0 0 0 161
05:15 PM 3 63 0 66 0 80 3 83 2 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 153
05:30 PM 4 47 0 51 0 60 4 64 3 0 4 7 0 0 0 0 122
05:45 PM 4 44 0 48 0 60 5 65 4 0 4 8 0 0 0 0 121

Total 15 223 0 238 0 277 16 293 11 0 15 26 0 0 0 0 557

Grand Total 51 798 0 849 0 923 57 980 54 0 62 116 0 0 0 0 1945
Apprch % 6 94 0  0 94.2 5.8  46.6 0 53.4  0 0 0   

Total % 2.6 41 0 43.7 0 47.5 2.9 50.4 2.8 0 3.2 6 0 0 0 0

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

364



File Name : 20210172
Site Code : 20210172
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 2

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Harmony Lane
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southbound

Harmony Lane
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 07:00 AM to 08:45 AM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 07:30 AM

07:30 AM 4 42 0 46 0 49 4 53 4 0 5 9 0 0 0 0 108
07:45 AM 1 60 0 61 0 60 2 62 4 0 4 8 0 0 0 0 131

08:00 AM 4 48 0 52 0 55 3 58 4 0 5 9 0 0 0 0 119
08:15 AM 4 44 0 48 0 59 5 64 3 0 4 7 0 0 0 0 119

Total Volume 13 194 0 207 0 223 14 237 15 0 18 33 0 0 0 0 477
% App. Total 6.3 93.7 0  0 94.1 5.9  45.5 0 54.5  0 0 0   

PHF .813 .808 .000 .848 .000 .929 .700 .926 .938 .000 .900 .917 .000 .000 .000 .000 .910

 Harmony Rd 

 H
a
rm

o
n
y 

L
a
n
e
 

  

 Harmony Rd 

Right
14 

Thru
223 

Left
0 

InOut Total
209 237 446 

R
ig

h
t0
 

T
h
ru0

 
L
e
ft0

 

O
u
t

T
o
ta

l
In

0
 

0
 

0
 

Left
13 

Thru
194 

Right
0 

Out TotalIn
241 207 448 

L
e
ft1
5
 

T
h
ru

0
 

R
ig

h
t

1
8
 

T
o
ta

l
O

u
t

In
2
7
 

3
3
 

6
0
 

Peak Hour Begins at 07:30 AM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

365



File Name : 20210172
Site Code : 20210172
Start Date : 5/27/2021
Page No : 3

TMC Data
Harmony Rd @ Harmony Lane
7-9 am | 4-6 pm

Harmony Rd
Northbound

Harmony Rd
Southbound

Harmony Lane
Eastbound Westbound

Start Time Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Left Thru Right App. Total Int. Total

Peak Hour Analysis From 04:00 PM to 05:45 PM - Peak 1 of 1
Peak Hour for Entire Intersection Begins at 04:30 PM

04:30 PM 2 55 0 57 0 58 3 61 4 0 3 7 0 0 0 0 125
04:45 PM 3 52 0 55 0 57 3 60 5 0 2 7 0 0 0 0 122
05:00 PM 4 69 0 73 0 77 4 81 2 0 5 7 0 0 0 0 161

05:15 PM 3 63 0 66 0 80 3 83 2 0 2 4 0 0 0 0 153
Total Volume 12 239 0 251 0 272 13 285 13 0 12 25 0 0 0 0 561

% App. Total 4.8 95.2 0  0 95.4 4.6  52 0 48  0 0 0   
PHF .750 .866 .000 .860 .000 .850 .813 .858 .650 .000 .600 .893 .000 .000 .000 .000 .871

 Harmony Rd 

 H
a

rm
o

n
y 

L
a

n
e

 
  

 Harmony Rd 

Right
13 

Thru
272 

Left
0 

InOut Total
252 285 537 

R
ig

h
t0
 

T
h

ru0
 

L
e

ft0
 

O
u

t
T

o
ta

l
In

0
 

0
 

0
 

Left
12 

Thru
239 

Right
0 

Out TotalIn
284 251 535 

L
e

ft1
3

 
T

h
ru

0
 

R
ig

h
t

1
2

 

T
o

ta
l

O
u

t
In

2
5

 
2

5
 

5
0

 

Peak Hour Begins at 04:30 PM
 
Cars,Buses & Trucks

Peak Hour Data

North

A & R Engineering, Inc.
     2160 Kingston Court, Suite 'O',

Marietta, GA 30067

366



Page 1 
  
 
 

24-Hour Bi-Directional Counts on Harmony
Rd North of Scott Road

Site Code: 20210173
Date Start: 27-May-21
Date End: 27-May-21

 

A&R Engineering, Inc.
2160 Kingston Court, Suite O

Marietta, GA 30067

 
Start 27-May-2          
Time Thu Northbou Southbou       Total

12:00 AM 3 2 5
01:00 5 5 10
02:00 4 4 8
03:00 3 3 6
04:00 11 15 26
05:00 21 33 54
06:00 81 91 172

07:00 106 222 328

08:00 121 211 332
09:00 127 179 306
10:00 149 154 303

11:00 169 153 322
12:00 PM 168 165 333

01:00 168 175 343
02:00 196 171 367

03:00 203 220 423
04:00 228 167 395

05:00 323 209 532
06:00 175 144 319
07:00 125 95 220
08:00 79 68 147
09:00 51 35 86
10:00 36 28 64
11:00 15 17 32
Total  2567 2566       5133

Percent  50.0% 50.0%        
AM Peak - 11:00 07:00 - - - - - - 08:00

Vol. - 169 222 - - - - - - 332
PM Peak - 17:00 15:00 - - - - - - 17:00

Vol. - 323 220 - - - - - - 532
Grand

Total
 2567 2566       5133

Percent  50.0% 50.0%        
  

ADT ADT 5,133 AADT 5,133

367



 
 
 

 

L I N E A R  R E G R E S S I O N  O F  D A I L Y  T R A F F I C  

368



Location Growth Rate R Squared Station ID Route 2017 2018 2019

Harmony Road (north of Scott R ‐0.7% 0.75 237‐0181 00021800 3,620 3,570 3,570 Major Collector (Rural)

SR 44 (North of Harmony Rd) 4.2% 0.81 237‐0146 00004400 14,000 14,100 15,200 Minor Arterial (Rural)

SR 44 (North of Loch Way) 1.3% 0.65 237‐0145 00004400 5,760 5,740 5,910 Minor Arterial (Rural)

Harmony Road (Northeast of Ha 0.4% 0.75 237‐0183 00021800 2,430 2,450 2,450 Major Collector (Rural)

Weighted Average 2.5% 0.78 25,810 25,860 27,130

Traffic Counter RCLINK 2017 2018 2019 Sum X

237‐0181 00021800 3,620 3,570 3,570 Sum Y

Sum XY

Sum X2

Count

a

b

Mean Y

SStot

SSres

R2

‐0.7% Intercept 54,037 Slope ‐25.00

3,612 3,587 3,562

Traffic Counter RCLINK 2017 2018 2019 Sum X

237‐0146 00004400 14,000 14,100 15,200 Sum Y

Sum XY

Sum X2

Count

a

b

Mean Y

SStot

SSres

R2

4.2% Intercept ‐1,196,367 Slope 600.00

13,833 14,433 15,033

Traffic Counter RCLINK 2017 2018 2019 Sum X

237‐0145 00004400 5,760 5,740 5,910 Sum Y

Sum XY

Sum X2

Count

a

b

Mean Y

SStot

SSres

R2

1.3% Intercept ‐145,547 Slope 75.00

5,728 5,803 5,878

Traffic Counter RCLINK 2017 2018 2019 Sum X

237‐0183 00021800 2,430 2,450 2,450 Sum Y

Sum XY

Sum X2

Count

a

b

Mean Y

SStot

SSres

R2

0.4% Intercept ‐17,737 Slope 10.00

2,433 2,443 2,453

Traffic Counter RCLINK 2017 2018 2019 Sum X

0 0 0 0 0 Sum Y

Sum XY

Sum X2

Count

a

b

Mean Y

SStot

SSres

R2

#DIV/0! Intercept 0 Slope 0.00

0 0 0

Harmony Road (north of Scott Road)

Location

Location

Trend Line

Trend Line

Growth Rate

Sum of Count Stations = 

Location

0

Growth Rate

Trend Line

Trend Line

Growth Rate

Location

SR 44 (North of Loch Way)

Location

SR 44 (North of Harmony Rd)

Harmony Road (Northeast of Harmony Drive)

Growth Rate

Growth Rate

Trend Line

3,520
3,540
3,560
3,580
3,600
3,620
3,640

2017 2018 2019

A
xi
s 
Ti
tl
e

Trend Line

13,000

13,500

14,000

14,500

15,000

15,500

2017 2018 2019

A
xi
s 
Ti
tl
e

Trend Line

5,600

5,700

5,800

5,900

6,000

2017 2018 2019

A
xi
s 
Ti
tl
e

Trend Line

2,410

2,420

2,430

2,440

2,450

2,460

2017 2018 2019

A
xi
s 
Ti
tl
e

Trend Line

0

0

0

1

1

1

2017 2018 2019

A
xi
s 
Ti
tl
e

Trend Line

369



 
 
 

 

E X I S T I N G  I N T E R S E C T I O N  A N A L Y S I S  

370



Timings Existing AM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 130 389 76 194 185 89 69 157 172 113
Future Volume (vph) 130 389 76 194 185 89 69 157 172 113
Lane Group Flow (vph) 134 401 78 200 191 92 71 565 177 189
Turn Type Perm NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 2 1 6 8 7 4
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 8 4
Detector Phase 2 2 2 1 6 6 8 8 7 4
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 5.0 15.0 15.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5
Total Split (s) 39.2 39.2 39.2 15.0 54.2 54.2 47.8 47.8 18.0 65.8
Total Split (%) 32.7% 32.7% 32.7% 12.5% 45.2% 45.2% 39.8% 39.8% 15.0% 54.8%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Lead/Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode C-Min C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None
v/c Ratio 0.37 0.74 0.14 0.70 0.25 0.14 0.19 0.94 0.80 0.24
Control Delay 37.5 47.6 1.9 38.8 23.7 5.0 29.2 55.0 52.7 14.8
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 37.5 47.6 1.9 38.8 23.7 5.0 29.2 55.0 52.7 14.8
Queue Length 50th (ft) 84 289 0 103 97 0 38 336 84 62
Queue Length 95th (ft) 146 #445 11 #182 154 32 74 #547 #199 108
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1244 234 548 408
Turn Bay Length (ft) 580 250 265 225 255 300
Base Capacity (vph) 364 545 557 284 765 679 415 647 222 846
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.37 0.74 0.14 0.70 0.25 0.14 0.17 0.87 0.80 0.22

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 75 (63%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 90
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     1: Harmony Rd & SR 44

371



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Existing AM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 130 389 76 194 185 89 69 157 391 172 113 71
Future Volume (veh/h) 130 389 76 194 185 89 69 157 391 172 113 71
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1856 1781 1811 1811 1781 1722 1856 1826 1841 1707 1737 1826
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 134 401 0 200 191 0 71 162 403 177 116 73
Peak Hour Factor 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 8 6 6 8 12 3 5 4 13 11 5
Cap, veh/h 415 534 289 757 478 164 407 202 482 303
Arrive On Green 0.30 0.30 0.00 0.08 0.42 0.00 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.09 0.48 0.48
Sat Flow, veh/h 1183 1781 1535 1725 1781 1459 1185 464 1154 1626 997 627
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 134 401 0 200 191 0 71 0 565 177 0 189
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1183 1781 1535 1725 1781 1459 1185 0 1618 1626 0 1624
Q Serve(g_s), s 10.7 24.4 0.0 9.5 8.3 0.0 5.0 0.0 41.7 8.1 0.0 8.2
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 10.7 24.4 0.0 9.5 8.3 0.0 5.0 0.0 41.7 8.1 0.0 8.2
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.71 1.00 0.39
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 415 534 289 757 478 0 570 202 0 785
V/C Ratio(X) 0.32 0.75 0.69 0.25 0.15 0.00 0.99 0.88 0.00 0.24
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 415 534 289 757 478 0 570 233 0 816
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 33.2 37.9 0.0 28.5 22.2 0.0 26.8 0.0 38.7 28.8 0.0 18.1
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.1 9.4 0.0 7.0 0.8 0.0 0.1 0.0 35.2 26.4 0.0 0.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 3.2 11.6 0.0 4.3 3.5 0.0 1.4 0.0 21.2 4.4 0.0 2.9
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 35.2 47.3 0.0 35.4 23.0 0.0 26.9 0.0 73.8 55.2 0.0 18.3
LnGrp LOS D D D C C A E E A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 535 A 391 A 636 366
Approach Delay, s/veh 44.3 29.4 68.6 36.1
Approach LOS D C E D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 15.0 41.5 63.5 56.5 15.7 47.8
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 9.5 33.7 60.3 48.7 12.5 42.3
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 11.5 26.4 10.2 10.3 10.1 43.7
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 4.2 0.7 4.9 0.1 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 47.7
HCM 6th LOS D

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [EBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

372



HCM 6th TWSC Existing AM
2: Harmony Rd & Village Ln 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 5 8 9 254 257 5
Future Vol, veh/h 5 8 9 254 257 5
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 6 9 10 289 292 6
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 604 295 298 0 - 0
          Stage 1 295 - - - - -
          Stage 2 309 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 461 744 1263 - - -
          Stage 1 755 - - - - -
          Stage 2 745 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 457 744 1263 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 457 - - - - -
          Stage 1 748 - - - - -
          Stage 2 745 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.2 0.3 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1263 - 599 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.008 - 0.025 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.9 0 11.2 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

373



HCM 6th TWSC Existing AM
3: Harmony Rd & Sammons Industrial Pkwy 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.7

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 28 2 223 56 1 267
Future Vol, veh/h 28 2 223 56 1 267
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 50 2 5 24 2 9
Mvmt Flow 31 2 245 62 1 293
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 571 276 0 0 307 0
          Stage 1 276 - - - - -
          Stage 2 295 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.9 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.9 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.9 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.95 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 411 763 - - 1254 -
          Stage 1 672 - - - - -
          Stage 2 658 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 411 763 - - 1254 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 411 - - - - -
          Stage 1 672 - - - - -
          Stage 2 657 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.2 0 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 424 1254 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.078 0.001 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 14.2 7.9 0
HCM Lane LOS - - B A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.3 0 -

374



HCM 6th TWSC Existing AM
4: Harmony Rd & Harmony Ln 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 16 20 14 211 243 15
Future Vol, veh/h 16 20 14 211 243 15
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 18 22 15 232 267 16
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 537 275 283 0 - 0
          Stage 1 275 - - - - -
          Stage 2 262 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 505 764 1279 - - -
          Stage 1 771 - - - - -
          Stage 2 782 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 498 764 1279 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 498 - - - - -
          Stage 1 761 - - - - -
          Stage 2 782 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.2 0.5 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1279 - 617 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.012 - 0.064 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.8 0 11.2 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

375



HCM 6th TWSC Existing AM
5: Harmony Rd & Private Drwy/Scott Rd 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 1 3 50 1 36 0 86 26 117 229 1
Future Vol, veh/h 0 1 3 50 1 36 0 86 26 117 229 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 92 90 90 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 1 3 56 1 40 0 96 29 127 249 1
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 635 629 250 617 615 111 250 0 0 125 0 0
          Stage 1 504 504 - 111 111 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 131 125 - 506 504 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 391 399 789 402 407 942 1316 - - 1462 - -
          Stage 1 550 541 - 894 804 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 873 792 - 549 541 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 344 359 789 369 366 942 1316 - - 1462 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 344 359 - 369 366 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 550 486 - 894 804 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 835 792 - 490 486 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11 14.1 0 2.6
HCM LOS B B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1316 - - 607 493 1462 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.007 0.196 0.087 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 11 14.1 7.7 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - B B A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 0.7 0.3 - -

376



Timings Existing PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 73 246 73 409 388 68 56 81 113 172
Future Volume (vph) 73 246 73 409 388 68 56 81 113 172
Lane Group Flow (vph) 77 259 77 431 408 72 59 403 119 292
Turn Type Perm NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 2 1 6 8 7 4
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 8 4
Detector Phase 2 2 2 1 6 6 8 8 7 4
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 5.0 15.0 15.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5
Total Split (s) 33.0 33.0 33.0 34.0 67.0 67.0 38.0 38.0 15.0 53.0
Total Split (%) 27.5% 27.5% 27.5% 28.3% 55.8% 55.8% 31.7% 31.7% 12.5% 44.2%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Lead/Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead Lead Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode C-Min C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None
v/c Ratio 0.22 0.39 0.12 0.65 0.37 0.08 0.48 0.88 0.66 0.51
Control Delay 34.9 34.8 1.9 19.9 15.5 3.4 52.8 48.6 62.2 31.8
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 34.9 34.8 1.9 19.9 15.5 3.4 52.8 48.6 62.2 31.8
Queue Length 50th (ft) 42 151 0 173 159 0 40 195 67 163
Queue Length 95th (ft) 98 272 10 296 271 23 80 300 101 220
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1244 234 548 408
Turn Bay Length (ft) 580 250 265 225 255 300
Base Capacity (vph) 350 669 647 712 1105 917 165 557 204 713
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.22 0.39 0.12 0.61 0.37 0.08 0.36 0.72 0.58 0.41

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 80
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated

Splits and Phases:     1: Harmony Rd & SR 44

377



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Existing PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 73 246 73 409 388 68 56 81 302 113 172 105
Future Volume (veh/h) 73 246 73 409 388 68 56 81 302 113 172 105
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1781 1841 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 77 259 0 431 408 0 59 85 318 119 181 111
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 8 4 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 385 621 627 1038 200 90 337 147 384 235
Arrive On Green 0.33 0.33 0.00 0.18 0.55 0.00 0.26 0.26 0.26 0.05 0.35 0.35
Sat Flow, veh/h 978 1870 1585 1781 1870 1510 1070 345 1292 1781 1085 665
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 77 259 0 431 408 0 59 0 403 119 0 292
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 978 1870 1585 1781 1870 1510 1070 0 1638 1781 0 1751
Q Serve(g_s), s 6.9 12.9 0.0 18.2 14.9 0.0 6.1 0.0 29.0 3.7 0.0 15.5
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 6.9 12.9 0.0 18.2 14.9 0.0 21.6 0.0 29.0 3.7 0.0 15.5
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.79 1.00 0.38
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 385 621 627 1038 200 0 427 147 0 619
V/C Ratio(X) 0.20 0.42 0.69 0.39 0.29 0.00 0.94 0.81 0.00 0.47
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 385 621 735 1038 211 0 444 204 0 693
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 29.0 31.1 0.0 19.3 15.2 0.0 47.9 0.0 43.5 55.3 0.0 30.1
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.2 2.1 0.0 2.2 1.1 0.0 0.8 0.0 28.5 15.6 0.0 0.6
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 1.7 6.0 0.0 7.3 6.2 0.0 1.6 0.0 14.7 4.1 0.0 6.4
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 30.2 33.1 0.0 21.5 16.3 0.0 48.7 0.0 72.0 70.9 0.0 30.6
LnGrp LOS C C C B D A E E A C
Approach Vol, veh/h 336 A 839 A 462 411
Approach Delay, s/veh 32.5 19.0 69.0 42.3
Approach LOS C B E D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 26.7 45.4 47.9 72.1 11.1 36.8
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 28.5 27.5 47.5 61.5 9.5 32.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 20.2 14.9 17.5 16.9 5.7 31.0
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 1.0 4.3 1.0 12.7 0.1 0.3

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 37.2
HCM 6th LOS D

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [EBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

378



HCM 6th TWSC Existing PM
2: Harmony Rd & Village Ln 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 6 7 7 237 337 8
Future Vol, veh/h 6 7 7 237 337 8
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 7 8 8 282 401 10
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 704 406 411 0 - 0
          Stage 1 406 - - - - -
          Stage 2 298 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 403 645 1148 - - -
          Stage 1 673 - - - - -
          Stage 2 753 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 400 645 1148 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 400 - - - - -
          Stage 1 668 - - - - -
          Stage 2 753 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12.4 0.2 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1148 - 503 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.007 - 0.031 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.2 0 12.4 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

379



HCM 6th TWSC Existing PM
3: Harmony Rd & Sammons Industrial Pkwy 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.6

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 62 2 248 9 0 282
Future Vol, veh/h 62 2 248 9 0 282
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 50 6 56 2 2
Mvmt Flow 74 2 295 11 0 336
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 637 301 0 0 306 0
          Stage 1 301 - - - - -
          Stage 2 336 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.7 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.75 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 441 639 - - 1255 -
          Stage 1 751 - - - - -
          Stage 2 724 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 441 639 - - 1255 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 441 - - - - -
          Stage 1 751 - - - - -
          Stage 2 724 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.8 0 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 445 1255 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.171 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 14.8 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - B A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.6 0 -

380



HCM 6th TWSC Existing PM
4: Harmony Rd & Harmony Ln 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.7

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 13 12 12 241 275 13
Future Vol, veh/h 13 12 12 241 275 13
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 87 87 87 87
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 15 14 14 277 316 15
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 629 324 331 0 - 0
          Stage 1 324 - - - - -
          Stage 2 305 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 446 717 1228 - - -
          Stage 1 733 - - - - -
          Stage 2 748 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 440 717 1228 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 440 - - - - -
          Stage 1 723 - - - - -
          Stage 2 748 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12 0.4 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1228 - 540 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.011 - 0.053 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8 0 12 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

381



HCM 6th TWSC Existing PM
5: Harmony Rd & Private Drwy/Scott Rd 06/10/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 49 0 146 2 204 34 61 157 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 49 0 146 2 204 34 61 157 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 92 90 90 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 1 54 0 162 2 227 38 66 171 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 634 572 171 554 553 246 171 0 0 265 0 0
          Stage 1 303 303 - 250 250 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 331 269 - 304 303 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 392 430 873 443 441 793 1406 - - 1299 - -
          Stage 1 706 664 - 754 700 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 682 687 - 705 664 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 298 405 873 423 415 793 1406 - - 1299 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 298 405 - 423 415 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 705 627 - 752 699 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 541 686 - 665 627 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.1 13.3 0.1 2.2
HCM LOS A B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1406 - - 873 650 1299 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.002 - - 0.001 0.333 0.051 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.6 0 - 9.1 13.3 7.9 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A B A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 1.5 0.2 - -

382



 
 
 

 

F U T U R E  “ N O - B U I L D ”  I N T E R S E C T I O N  

A N A L Y S I S  

383



Timings No-Build AM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 143 429 84 214 204 98 76 173 190 125
Future Volume (vph) 143 429 84 214 204 98 76 173 190 125
Lane Group Flow (vph) 147 442 87 221 210 101 78 623 196 209
Turn Type Perm NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 2 1 6 8 7 4
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 8 4
Detector Phase 2 2 2 1 6 6 8 8 7 4
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 5.0 15.0 15.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5
Total Split (s) 41.0 41.0 41.0 15.0 56.0 56.0 47.0 47.0 17.0 64.0
Total Split (%) 34.2% 34.2% 34.2% 12.5% 46.7% 46.7% 39.2% 39.2% 14.2% 53.3%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Lead/Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode C-Min C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None
v/c Ratio 0.42 0.82 0.16 0.90 0.27 0.15 0.20 0.98 0.94 0.26
Control Delay 38.3 53.1 2.6 63.5 23.9 4.6 29.3 63.5 78.3 15.7
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 38.3 53.1 2.6 63.5 23.9 4.6 29.3 63.5 78.3 15.7
Queue Length 50th (ft) 91 319 0 112 105 0 42 407 106 75
Queue Length 95th (ft) 155 #482 17 #231 163 33 82 #656 #255 126
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1244 234 548 408
Turn Bay Length (ft) 580 250 265 225 255 300
Base Capacity (vph) 353 539 554 245 767 687 400 637 209 821
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.42 0.82 0.16 0.90 0.27 0.15 0.20 0.98 0.94 0.25

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 90 (75%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 90
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     1: Harmony Rd & SR 44

384



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary No-Build AM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 143 429 84 214 204 98 76 173 432 190 125 78
Future Volume (veh/h) 143 429 84 214 204 98 76 173 432 190 125 78
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1930 1853 1884 1884 1853 1791 1856 1826 1841 1707 1737 1826
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 147 442 0 221 210 0 78 178 445 196 129 80
Peak Hour Factor 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 8 6 6 8 12 3 5 4 13 11 5
Cap, veh/h 418 548 274 780 462 160 400 216 489 303
Arrive On Green 0.30 0.30 0.00 0.08 0.42 0.00 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.10 0.49 0.49
Sat Flow, veh/h 1209 1853 1596 1794 1853 1518 1163 462 1156 1626 1003 622
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 147 442 0 221 210 0 78 0 623 196 0 209
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1209 1853 1596 1794 1853 1518 1163 0 1618 1626 0 1625
Q Serve(g_s), s 11.7 26.5 0.0 9.5 8.9 0.0 5.6 0.0 41.5 9.8 0.0 9.1
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 11.7 26.5 0.0 9.5 8.9 0.0 5.6 0.0 41.5 9.8 0.0 9.1
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.71 1.00 0.38
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 418 548 274 780 462 0 560 216 0 792
V/C Ratio(X) 0.35 0.81 0.81 0.27 0.17 0.00 1.11 0.91 0.00 0.26
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 418 548 274 780 462 0 560 216 0 792
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 33.9 39.1 0.0 31.4 22.7 0.0 27.5 0.0 39.3 32.1 0.0 18.1
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 2.3 12.0 0.0 16.2 0.8 0.0 0.2 0.0 73.1 37.2 0.0 0.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 3.6 13.4 0.0 5.4 3.9 0.0 1.5 0.0 27.0 5.4 0.0 3.3
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 36.2 51.1 0.0 47.6 23.5 0.0 27.7 0.0 112.4 69.3 0.0 18.3
LnGrp LOS D D D C C A F E A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 589 A 431 A 701 405
Approach Delay, s/veh 47.4 35.9 102.9 42.9
Approach LOS D D F D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 15.0 41.0 64.0 56.0 17.0 47.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 9.5 35.5 58.5 50.5 11.5 41.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 11.5 28.5 11.1 10.9 11.8 43.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 4.4 0.7 5.6 0.0 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 62.5
HCM 6th LOS E

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [EBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

385



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build AM
2: Harmony Rd & Village Ln 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 6 9 10 280 284 6
Future Vol, veh/h 6 9 10 280 284 6
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 7 10 11 318 323 7
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 667 327 330 0 - 0
          Stage 1 327 - - - - -
          Stage 2 340 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 424 714 1229 - - -
          Stage 1 731 - - - - -
          Stage 2 721 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 419 714 1229 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 419 - - - - -
          Stage 1 723 - - - - -
          Stage 2 721 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.7 0.3 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1229 - 557 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.009 - 0.031 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8 0 11.7 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

386



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build AM
3: Harmony Rd & Sammons Industrial Pkwy 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.8

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 31 2 246 62 1 295
Future Vol, veh/h 31 2 246 62 1 295
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 50 2 5 24 2 9
Mvmt Flow 34 2 270 68 1 324
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 630 304 0 0 338 0
          Stage 1 304 - - - - -
          Stage 2 326 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.9 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.9 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.9 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.95 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 377 736 - - 1221 -
          Stage 1 651 - - - - -
          Stage 2 635 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 377 736 - - 1221 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 377 - - - - -
          Stage 1 651 - - - - -
          Stage 2 634 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 15.2 0 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 388 1221 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.093 0.001 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 15.2 8 0
HCM Lane LOS - - C A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.3 0 -

387



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build AM
4: Harmony Rd & Harmony Ln 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 18 22 15 233 268 17
Future Vol, veh/h 18 22 15 233 268 17
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 20 24 16 256 295 19
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 593 305 314 0 - 0
          Stage 1 305 - - - - -
          Stage 2 288 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 468 735 1246 - - -
          Stage 1 748 - - - - -
          Stage 2 761 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 461 735 1246 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 461 - - - - -
          Stage 1 737 - - - - -
          Stage 2 761 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.7 0.5 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1246 - 580 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.013 - 0.076 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.9 0 11.7 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

388



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build AM
5: Harmony Rd & Private Drwy/Scott Rd 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 1 3 55 1 40 0 95 29 129 253 1
Future Vol, veh/h 0 1 3 55 1 40 0 95 29 129 253 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 92 90 90 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 1 3 61 1 44 0 106 32 140 275 1
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 701 694 276 680 678 122 276 0 0 138 0 0
          Stage 1 556 556 - 122 122 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 145 138 - 558 556 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 353 366 763 365 374 929 1287 - - 1446 - -
          Stage 1 515 513 - 882 795 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 858 782 - 514 513 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 306 324 763 331 331 929 1287 - - 1446 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 306 324 - 331 331 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 515 455 - 882 795 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 816 782 - 452 455 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 11.4 15.4 0 2.6
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1287 - - 570 452 1446 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.008 0.236 0.097 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 11.4 15.4 7.8 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - B C A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 0.9 0.3 - -

389



Timings No-Build PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 81 272 81 451 428 75 62 89 125 190
Future Volume (vph) 81 272 81 451 428 75 62 89 125 190
Lane Group Flow (vph) 85 286 85 475 451 79 65 445 132 322
Turn Type Perm NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 2 1 6 8 7 4
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 8 4
Detector Phase 2 2 2 1 6 6 8 8 7 4
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 5.0 15.0 15.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5
Total Split (s) 33.0 33.0 33.0 34.0 67.0 67.0 38.0 38.0 15.0 53.0
Total Split (%) 27.5% 27.5% 27.5% 28.3% 55.8% 55.8% 31.7% 31.7% 12.5% 44.2%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Lead/Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode C-Min C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None
v/c Ratio 0.29 0.49 0.15 0.76 0.42 0.09 0.28 0.90 0.66 0.51
Control Delay 39.6 40.5 2.8 26.0 18.0 3.5 39.4 51.4 42.4 29.8
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 39.6 40.5 2.8 26.0 18.0 3.5 39.4 51.4 42.4 29.8
Queue Length 50th (ft) 52 189 0 220 202 0 41 226 69 172
Queue Length 95th (ft) 108 298 17 329 302 24 80 #380 111 248
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1244 234 548 408
Turn Bay Length (ft) 580 250 265 225 255 300
Base Capacity (vph) 293 584 582 659 1073 896 280 557 201 713
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.29 0.49 0.15 0.72 0.42 0.09 0.23 0.80 0.66 0.45

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 90
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     1: Harmony Rd & SR 44

390



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary No-Build PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 81 272 81 451 428 75 62 89 333 125 190 116
Future Volume (veh/h) 81 272 81 451 428 75 62 89 333 125 190 116
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1945 1945 1945 1945 1945 1853 1841 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 85 286 0 475 451 0 65 94 351 132 200 122
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 8 4 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 333 544 604 1019 316 94 350 181 418 255
Arrive On Green 0.28 0.28 0.00 0.20 0.52 0.00 0.27 0.27 0.27 0.07 0.38 0.38
Sat Flow, veh/h 977 1945 1648 1853 1945 1570 1041 346 1292 1781 1088 663
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 85 286 0 475 451 0 65 0 445 132 0 322
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 977 1945 1648 1853 1945 1570 1041 0 1638 1781 0 1751
Q Serve(g_s), s 8.2 14.9 0.0 20.9 17.2 0.0 6.0 0.0 32.5 6.2 0.0 16.6
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 8.2 14.9 0.0 20.9 17.2 0.0 9.0 0.0 32.5 6.2 0.0 16.6
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.79 1.00 0.38
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 333 544 604 1019 316 0 444 181 0 673
V/C Ratio(X) 0.26 0.53 0.79 0.44 0.21 0.00 1.00 0.73 0.00 0.48
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 333 544 677 1019 316 0 444 201 0 693
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 34.1 36.5 0.0 22.6 17.7 0.0 36.4 0.0 43.8 31.9 0.0 27.9
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 1.8 3.6 0.0 5.5 1.4 0.0 0.3 0.0 43.5 11.4 0.0 0.5
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 2.1 7.4 0.0 9.4 7.6 0.0 1.5 0.0 18.0 3.1 0.0 6.8
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 36.0 40.1 0.0 28.2 19.1 0.0 36.7 0.0 87.3 43.3 0.0 28.4
LnGrp LOS D D C B D A F D A C
Approach Vol, veh/h 371 A 926 A 510 454
Approach Delay, s/veh 39.2 23.7 80.8 32.7
Approach LOS D C F C

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 29.3 39.0 51.6 68.4 13.6 38.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 28.5 27.5 47.5 61.5 9.5 32.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 22.9 16.9 18.6 19.2 8.2 34.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.9 4.2 1.1 14.0 0.0 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 41.0
HCM 6th LOS D

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [EBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

391



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build PM
2: Harmony Rd & Village Ln 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 8 8 262 372 9
Future Vol, veh/h 7 8 8 262 372 9
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 8 10 10 312 443 11
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 781 449 454 0 - 0
          Stage 1 449 - - - - -
          Stage 2 332 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 363 610 1107 - - -
          Stage 1 643 - - - - -
          Stage 2 727 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 359 610 1107 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 359 - - - - -
          Stage 1 636 - - - - -
          Stage 2 727 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 13.1 0.2 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1107 - 460 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.009 - 0.039 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 0 13.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

392



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build PM
3: Harmony Rd & Sammons Industrial Pkwy 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.7

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 68 2 274 10 0 311
Future Vol, veh/h 68 2 274 10 0 311
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 50 6 56 2 2
Mvmt Flow 81 2 326 12 0 370
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 702 332 0 0 338 0
          Stage 1 332 - - - - -
          Stage 2 370 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.7 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.75 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 404 612 - - 1221 -
          Stage 1 727 - - - - -
          Stage 2 699 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 404 612 - - 1221 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 404 - - - - -
          Stage 1 727 - - - - -
          Stage 2 699 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 16.1 0 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 408 1221 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.204 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 16.1 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - C A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.8 0 -

393



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build PM
4: Harmony Rd & Harmony Ln 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.7

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 14 13 13 266 304 14
Future Vol, veh/h 14 13 13 266 304 14
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 87 87 87 87
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 16 15 15 306 349 16
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 693 357 365 0 - 0
          Stage 1 357 - - - - -
          Stage 2 336 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 409 687 1194 - - -
          Stage 1 708 - - - - -
          Stage 2 724 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 403 687 1194 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 403 - - - - -
          Stage 1 697 - - - - -
          Stage 2 724 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12.6 0.4 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1194 - 503 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.013 - 0.062 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.1 0 12.6 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

394



HCM 6th TWSC No-Build PM
5: Harmony Rd & Private Drwy/Scott Rd 06/14/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farms Campus Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 54 0 161 2 225 38 67 173 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 54 0 161 2 225 38 67 173 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 92 90 90 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 1 60 0 179 2 250 42 73 188 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 699 630 188 610 609 271 188 0 0 292 0 0
          Stage 1 334 334 - 275 275 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 365 296 - 335 334 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 354 399 854 407 410 768 1386 - - 1270 - -
          Stage 1 680 643 - 731 683 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 654 668 - 679 643 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 258 373 854 386 383 768 1386 - - 1270 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 258 373 - 386 383 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 679 602 - 730 682 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 501 667 - 635 602 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.2 14.5 0.1 2.2
HCM LOS A B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1386 - - 854 615 1270 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.002 - - 0.001 0.388 0.057 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.6 0 - 9.2 14.5 8 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A B A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 1.8 0.2 - -

395



 
 
 

 

F U T U R E  “ B U I L D ”  I N T E R S E C T I O N  A N A L Y S I S  

396



Timings Build PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 207 429 84 214 204 162 76 205 239 149
Future Volume (vph) 207 429 84 214 204 162 76 205 239 149
Lane Group Flow (vph) 213 442 87 221 210 167 78 656 246 285
Turn Type Perm NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 2 1 6 8 7 4
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 8 4
Detector Phase 2 2 2 1 6 6 8 8 7 4
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 5.0 15.0 15.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5
Total Split (s) 37.0 37.0 37.0 15.0 52.0 52.0 48.0 48.0 20.0 68.0
Total Split (%) 30.8% 30.8% 30.8% 12.5% 43.3% 43.3% 40.0% 40.0% 16.7% 56.7%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Lead/Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode C-Min C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None
v/c Ratio 0.70 0.96 0.18 1.13 0.31 0.25 0.20 1.02 0.99 0.33
Control Delay 54.0 77.0 3.0 131.3 27.2 4.6 28.8 74.3 88.2 14.5
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 54.0 77.0 3.0 131.3 27.2 4.6 28.8 74.3 88.2 14.5
Queue Length 50th (ft) 150 338 0 ~147 112 0 42 ~487 146 98
Queue Length 95th (ft) #255 #543 18 #309 175 44 81 #720 #316 157
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1249 234 550 408
Turn Bay Length (ft) 580 250 265 225 255 300
Base Capacity (vph) 303 461 490 196 681 661 382 642 248 876
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.70 0.96 0.18 1.13 0.31 0.25 0.20 1.02 0.99 0.33

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 120
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
~    Volume exceeds capacity, queue is theoretically infinite.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     1: Harmony Rd & SR 44

397



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Build PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 207 429 84 214 204 162 76 205 432 239 149 127
Future Volume (veh/h) 207 429 84 214 204 162 76 205 432 239 149 127
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1856 1781 1811 1811 1781 1722 1856 1826 1841 1707 1737 1826
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 213 442 0 221 210 0 78 211 445 246 154 131
Peak Hour Factor 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97 0.97
Percent Heavy Veh, % 3 8 6 6 8 12 3 5 4 13 11 5
Cap, veh/h 365 468 214 690 444 185 391 256 451 384
Arrive On Green 0.26 0.26 0.00 0.08 0.39 0.00 0.35 0.35 0.35 0.12 0.52 0.52
Sat Flow, veh/h 1162 1781 1535 1725 1781 1459 1086 523 1104 1626 867 737
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 213 442 0 221 210 0 78 0 656 246 0 285
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 1162 1781 1535 1725 1781 1459 1086 0 1627 1626 0 1604
Q Serve(g_s), s 19.9 29.2 0.0 9.5 9.8 0.0 6.0 0.0 42.5 13.6 0.0 12.4
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 19.9 29.2 0.0 9.5 9.8 0.0 6.0 0.0 42.5 13.6 0.0 12.4
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.68 1.00 0.46
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 365 468 214 690 444 0 576 256 0 836
V/C Ratio(X) 0.58 0.95 1.03 0.30 0.18 0.00 1.14 0.96 0.00 0.34
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 365 468 214 690 444 0 576 256 0 836
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 40.0 43.4 0.0 35.5 25.5 0.0 27.0 0.0 38.8 35.8 0.0 16.8
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 6.7 30.0 0.0 70.2 1.1 0.0 0.2 0.0 81.8 44.8 0.0 0.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 6.1 16.2 0.0 8.5 4.2 0.0 1.5 0.0 29.1 7.1 0.0 4.3
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 46.6 73.4 0.0 105.7 26.7 0.0 27.1 0.0 120.5 80.7 0.0 17.0
LnGrp LOS D E F C C A F F A B
Approach Vol, veh/h 655 A 431 A 734 531
Approach Delay, s/veh 64.7 67.2 110.6 46.5
Approach LOS E E F D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 15.0 37.0 68.0 52.0 20.0 48.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 9.5 31.5 62.5 46.5 14.5 42.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 11.5 31.2 14.4 11.8 15.6 44.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 0.2 1.0 5.3 0.0 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 75.4
HCM 6th LOS E

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [EBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

398



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
2: Harmony Rd & Village Ln 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 6 9 10 440 406 6
Future Vol, veh/h 6 9 10 440 406 6
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 7 10 11 500 461 7
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 987 465 468 0 - 0
          Stage 1 465 - - - - -
          Stage 2 522 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 274 597 1094 - - -
          Stage 1 632 - - - - -
          Stage 2 595 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 270 597 1094 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 270 - - - - -
          Stage 1 623 - - - - -
          Stage 2 595 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.4 0.2 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1094 - 402 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.01 - 0.042 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 0 14.4 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.1 - -

399



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
3: Harmony Rd & Sammons Industrial Pkwy 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.8

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 31 2 406 62 1 417
Future Vol, veh/h 31 2 406 62 1 417
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 50 2 5 24 2 9
Mvmt Flow 34 2 446 68 1 458
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 940 480 0 0 514 0
          Stage 1 480 - - - - -
          Stage 2 460 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.9 6.22 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.9 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.9 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.95 3.318 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 241 586 - - 1052 -
          Stage 1 534 - - - - -
          Stage 2 546 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 241 586 - - 1052 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 241 - - - - -
          Stage 1 534 - - - - -
          Stage 2 545 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 21.8 0 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 250 1052 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.145 0.001 -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 21.8 8.4 0
HCM Lane LOS - - C A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 0.5 0 -

400



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
4: Harmony Rd & Harmony Ln 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.9

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 18 22 15 274 321 17
Future Vol, veh/h 18 22 15 274 321 17
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 20 24 16 301 353 19
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 696 363 372 0 - 0
          Stage 1 363 - - - - -
          Stage 2 333 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 408 682 1186 - - -
          Stage 1 704 - - - - -
          Stage 2 726 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 401 682 1186 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 401 - - - - -
          Stage 1 693 - - - - -
          Stage 2 726 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12.6 0.4 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1186 - 518 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.014 - 0.085 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.1 0 12.6 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.3 - -

401



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
5: Harmony Rd & Private Drwy/Scott Rd 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.4

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 1 3 66 1 40 0 127 37 129 296 1
Future Vol, veh/h 0 1 3 66 1 40 0 127 37 129 296 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 92 90 90 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 1 3 73 1 44 0 141 41 140 322 1
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 787 785 323 767 765 162 323 0 0 182 0 0
          Stage 1 603 603 - 162 162 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 184 182 - 605 603 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 309 325 718 319 333 883 1237 - - 1393 - -
          Stage 1 486 488 - 840 764 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 818 749 - 485 488 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 265 285 718 287 292 883 1237 - - 1393 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 265 285 - 287 292 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 486 428 - 840 764 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 776 749 - 423 428 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12 18.5 0 2.4
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1237 - - 520 384 1393 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - 0.009 0.31 0.101 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 12 18.5 7.9 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - B C A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 1.3 0.3 - -

402



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
6: Harmony Rd & Site Drwy 1(S) 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 20 97 129 280 319 28
Future Vol, veh/h 20 97 129 280 319 28
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 0 0 - - 175
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 22 105 140 304 347 30
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 931 347 377 0 - 0
          Stage 1 347 - - - - -
          Stage 2 584 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 296 696 1181 - - -
          Stage 1 716 - - - - -
          Stage 2 557 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 261 696 1181 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 261 - - - - -
          Stage 1 631 - - - - -
          Stage 2 557 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 12.6 2.7 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1181 - 261 696 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.119 - 0.083 0.151 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.5 - 20 11.1 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - C B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.4 - 0.3 0.5 - -

403



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
7: Harmony Rd & Site Drwy 2(N)/Private Drwy 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 8

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 20 0 24 0 0 0 33 268 0 0 322 28
Future Vol, veh/h 20 0 24 0 0 0 33 268 0 0 322 28
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - 0 - - - 235 - - - - 175
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 22 0 26 0 0 0 36 291 0 0 350 30
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 713 713 350 741 743 291 380 0 0 291 0 0
          Stage 1 350 350 - 363 363 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 363 363 - 378 380 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 347 357 693 332 343 748 1178 - - 1271 - -
          Stage 1 666 633 - 656 625 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 656 625 - 644 614 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 339 346 693 312 332 748 1178 - - 1271 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 339 346 - 312 332 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 645 633 - 636 606 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 636 606 - 620 614 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 13.1 0 0.9 0
HCM LOS B A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1178 - - 339 693 - 1271 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.03 - - 0.064 0.038 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.2 - - 16.3 10.4 0 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - C B A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - 0.2 0.1 - 0 - -

404



Timings Build PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 1

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 156 272 81 451 428 150 62 127 195 225
Future Volume (vph) 156 272 81 451 428 150 62 127 195 225
Lane Group Flow (vph) 164 286 85 475 451 158 65 485 205 433
Turn Type Perm NA Perm pm+pt NA Perm Perm NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 2 1 6 8 7 4
Permitted Phases 2 2 6 6 8 4
Detector Phase 2 2 2 1 6 6 8 8 7 4
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 15.0 15.0 15.0 5.0 15.0 15.0 6.0 6.0 5.0 6.0
Minimum Split (s) 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5 23.5 23.5 23.5 15.0 23.5
Total Split (s) 36.0 36.0 36.0 27.0 63.0 63.0 39.0 39.0 18.0 57.0
Total Split (%) 30.0% 30.0% 30.0% 22.5% 52.5% 52.5% 32.5% 32.5% 15.0% 47.5%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5
All-Red Time (s) 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Lead/Lag Lag Lag Lag Lead Lag Lag Lead
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode C-Min C-Min C-Min None C-Min C-Min None None None None
v/c Ratio 0.65 0.57 0.16 0.93 0.49 0.19 0.27 0.94 0.83 0.58
Control Delay 53.3 43.7 2.8 49.8 22.9 3.2 37.4 61.0 55.1 27.7
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 53.3 43.7 2.8 49.8 22.9 3.2 37.4 61.0 55.1 27.7
Queue Length 50th (ft) 115 196 0 255 233 0 39 291 102 223
Queue Length 95th (ft) #213 290 17 #414 329 36 80 #491 #231 327
Internal Link Dist (ft) 1249 234 550 408
Turn Bay Length (ft) 580 250 265 225 255 300
Base Capacity (vph) 253 504 518 511 923 820 260 541 246 769
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.65 0.57 0.16 0.93 0.49 0.19 0.25 0.90 0.83 0.56

Intersection Summary
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:EBTL and 6:WBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 90
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     1: Harmony Rd & SR 44

405



HCM 6th Signalized Intersection Summary Build PM
1: Harmony Rd & SR 44 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (veh/h) 156 272 81 451 428 150 62 127 333 195 225 186
Future Volume (veh/h) 156 272 81 451 428 150 62 127 333 195 225 186
Initial Q (Qb), veh 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Ped-Bike Adj(A_pbT) 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Parking Bus, Adj 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Work Zone On Approach No No No No
Adj Sat Flow, veh/h/ln 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870 1781 1841 1870 1870 1870 1870 1870
Adj Flow Rate, veh/h 164 286 0 475 451 0 65 134 351 205 237 196
Peak Hour Factor 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.95
Percent Heavy Veh, % 2 2 2 2 2 8 4 2 2 2 2 2
Cap, veh/h 306 490 520 911 275 128 334 232 399 330
Arrive On Green 0.26 0.26 0.00 0.18 0.49 0.00 0.28 0.28 0.28 0.10 0.42 0.42
Sat Flow, veh/h 940 1870 1585 1781 1870 1510 940 457 1198 1781 947 783
Grp Volume(v), veh/h 164 286 0 475 451 0 65 0 485 205 0 433
Grp Sat Flow(s),veh/h/ln 940 1870 1585 1781 1870 1510 940 0 1655 1781 0 1729
Q Serve(g_s), s 18.7 16.0 0.0 21.5 19.6 0.0 6.9 0.0 33.5 9.5 0.0 23.2
Cycle Q Clear(g_c), s 18.7 16.0 0.0 21.5 19.6 0.0 13.0 0.0 33.5 9.5 0.0 23.2
Prop In Lane 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.72 1.00 0.45
Lane Grp Cap(c), veh/h 306 490 520 911 275 0 462 232 0 729
V/C Ratio(X) 0.54 0.58 0.91 0.50 0.24 0.00 1.05 0.88 0.00 0.59
Avail Cap(c_a), veh/h 306 490 520 911 275 0 462 246 0 742
HCM Platoon Ratio 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00
Upstream Filter(I) 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 0.00 1.00 1.00 0.00 1.00
Uniform Delay (d), s/veh 39.6 38.6 0.0 28.0 20.8 0.0 38.4 0.0 43.3 30.5 0.0 26.8
Incr Delay (d2), s/veh 6.6 5.0 0.0 20.7 1.9 0.0 0.4 0.0 55.6 28.4 0.0 1.2
Initial Q Delay(d3),s/veh 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
%ile BackOfQ(50%),veh/ln 4.7 7.8 0.0 12.4 8.5 0.0 1.6 0.0 20.2 5.7 0.0 9.3
Unsig. Movement Delay, s/veh
LnGrp Delay(d),s/veh 46.2 43.6 0.0 48.8 22.7 0.0 38.8 0.0 98.8 58.9 0.0 28.0
LnGrp LOS D D D C D A F E A C
Approach Vol, veh/h 450 A 926 A 550 638
Approach Delay, s/veh 44.6 36.1 91.7 38.0
Approach LOS D D F D

Timer - Assigned Phs 1 2 4 6 7 8
Phs Duration (G+Y+Rc), s 27.0 36.9 56.1 63.9 17.1 39.0
Change Period (Y+Rc), s 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5
Max Green Setting (Gmax), s 21.5 30.5 51.5 57.5 12.5 33.5
Max Q Clear Time (g_c+I1), s 23.5 20.7 25.2 21.6 11.5 35.5
Green Ext Time (p_c), s 0.0 4.4 1.6 13.0 0.1 0.0

Intersection Summary
HCM 6th Ctrl Delay 50.0
HCM 6th LOS D

Notes
Unsignalized Delay for [EBR, WBR] is excluded from calculations of the approach delay and intersection delay.

406



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
2: Harmony Rd & Village Ln 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 3

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.4

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 7 8 8 450 548 9
Future Vol, veh/h 7 8 8 450 548 9
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 8 10 10 536 652 11
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1214 658 663 0 - 0
          Stage 1 658 - - - - -
          Stage 2 556 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 201 464 926 - - -
          Stage 1 515 - - - - -
          Stage 2 574 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 198 464 926 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 198 - - - - -
          Stage 1 507 - - - - -
          Stage 2 574 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 18.5 0.2 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 926 - 285 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.01 - 0.063 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.9 0 18.5 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A C - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

407



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
3: Harmony Rd & Sammons Industrial Pkwy 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 4

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2

Movement WBL WBR NBT NBR SBL SBT
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 68 2 462 10 0 487
Future Vol, veh/h 68 2 462 10 0 487
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - 0 - - 0
Grade, % 0 - 0 - - 0
Peak Hour Factor 84 84 84 84 84 84
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 50 6 56 2 2
Mvmt Flow 81 2 550 12 0 580
 

Major/Minor Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1136 556 0 0 562 0
          Stage 1 556 - - - - -
          Stage 2 580 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.7 - - 4.12 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.75 - - 2.218 -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 223 449 - - 1009 -
          Stage 1 574 - - - - -
          Stage 2 560 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 223 449 - - 1009 -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 223 - - - - -
          Stage 1 574 - - - - -
          Stage 2 560 - - - - -
 

Approach WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 29.9 0 0
HCM LOS D
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT NBRWBLn1 SBL SBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - 226 1009 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - 0.369 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - - 29.9 0 -
HCM Lane LOS - - D A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - 1.6 0 -

408



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
4: Harmony Rd & Harmony Ln 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 5

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 14 13 13 325 367 14
Future Vol, veh/h 14 13 13 325 367 14
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 87 87 87 87 87 87
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 16 15 15 374 422 16
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 834 430 438 0 - 0
          Stage 1 430 - - - - -
          Stage 2 404 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 338 625 1122 - - -
          Stage 1 656 - - - - -
          Stage 2 674 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 332 625 1122 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 332 - - - - -
          Stage 1 645 - - - - -
          Stage 2 674 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14 0.3 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1122 - 429 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.013 - 0.072 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 0 14 - -
HCM Lane LOS A A B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - 0.2 - -

409



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
5: Harmony Rd & Private Drwy/Scott Rd 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 6

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 5.6

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 67 0 161 2 272 50 67 223 0
Future Vol, veh/h 0 0 1 67 0 161 2 272 50 67 223 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 90 90 90 90 90 90 92 90 90 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 0 0 1 74 0 179 2 302 56 73 242 0
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 812 750 242 723 722 330 242 0 0 358 0 0
          Stage 1 388 388 - 334 334 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 424 362 - 389 388 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 298 340 797 342 353 712 1324 - - 1201 - -
          Stage 1 636 609 - 680 643 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 608 625 - 635 609 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 211 316 797 323 328 712 1324 - - 1201 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 211 316 - 323 328 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 635 566 - 679 642 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 454 624 - 590 566 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 9.5 18 0 1.9
HCM LOS A C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1324 - - 797 526 1201 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.002 - - 0.001 0.482 0.061 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 7.7 0 - 9.5 18 8.2 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A A - A C A A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 2.6 0.2 - -

410



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
6: Harmony Rd & Site Drwy 1(S) 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 7

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 4.7

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 52 165 179 286 315 62
Future Vol, veh/h 52 165 179 286 315 62
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length 0 0 0 - - 175
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 57 179 195 311 342 67
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 1043 342 409 0 - 0
          Stage 1 342 - - - - -
          Stage 2 701 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 6.42 6.22 4.12 - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 5.42 - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 5.42 - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 3.318 2.218 - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 254 701 1150 - - -
          Stage 1 719 - - - - -
          Stage 2 492 - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 211 701 1150 - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 211 - - - - -
          Stage 1 597 - - - - -
          Stage 2 492 - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 15.8 3.4 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT EBLn1 EBLn2 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1150 - 211 701 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.169 - 0.268 0.256 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.8 - 28.2 11.9 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - D B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.6 - 1 1 - -

411



HCM 6th TWSC Build PM
7: Harmony Rd & Site Drwy 2(N)/Private Drwy 08/03/2021

A&R Engineering, Inc Synchro 11 Report
21-082 Helms Farm Campus Page 8

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 44 0 52 0 0 0 56 287 0 0 321 52
Future Vol, veh/h 44 0 52 0 0 0 56 287 0 0 321 52
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Free Free Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - 0 - - - 235 - - - - 175
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92 92
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Mvmt Flow 48 0 57 0 0 0 61 312 0 0 349 57
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Minor1 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All 783 783 349 840 840 312 406 0 0 312 0 0
          Stage 1 349 349 - 434 434 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 434 434 - 406 406 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy 7.12 6.52 6.22 7.12 6.52 6.22 4.12 - - 4.12 - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 6.12 5.52 - 6.12 5.52 - - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy 3.518 4.018 3.318 3.518 4.018 3.318 2.218 - - 2.218 - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 311 325 694 285 302 728 1153 - - 1248 - -
          Stage 1 667 633 - 600 581 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 600 581 - 622 598 - - - - - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 299 308 694 251 286 728 1153 - - 1248 - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver 299 308 - 251 286 - - - - - - -
          Stage 1 632 633 - 568 550 - - - - - - -
          Stage 2 568 550 - 571 598 - - - - - - -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 14.6 0 1.4 0
HCM LOS B A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBL NBT NBR EBLn1 EBLn2WBLn1 SBL SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) 1153 - - 299 694 - 1248 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.053 - - 0.16 0.081 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.3 - - 19.3 10.6 0 0 - -
HCM Lane LOS A - - C B A A - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 - - 0.6 0.3 - 0 - -

412



 
 
 

 

T R A F F I C  V O L U M E  W O R K S H E E T S  

413



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

1.Harmony Rd @ SR 44

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 63 144 359 566 158 104 65 327 119 357 70 546 178 170 82 430

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 69 157 391 617 172 113 71 356 130 389 76 595 194 185 89 468

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 76 173 432 681 190 125 78 393 143 429 84 656 214 204 98 516

Total New Trips: 0 32 0 32 49 24 49 122 64 0 0 64 0 0 64 64

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 76 205 432 713 239 149 127 515 207 429 84 720 214 204 162 580

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 55 80 299 434 112 170 104 386 72 244 72 388 405 384 67 856

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 56 81 302 439 113 172 105 390 73 246 73 392 409 388 68 865

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 62 89 333 484 125 190 116 431 81 272 81 434 451 428 75 954

Total New Trips: 0 38 0 38 70 35 70 175 75 0 0 75 0 0 75 75

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 62 127 333 522 195 225 186 606 156 272 81 509 451 428 150 1029

Old Phoenix Road Harmony Road SR 44 (Greensboro Road) SR 44 (Greensboro Road)

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

August 2021

Northbound
Old Phoenix Road Harmony Road

Southbound
SR 44 (Greensboro Road)

Eastbound
SR 44 (Greensboro Road)

Westbound

414



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

2. Harmony Rd @ Village Ln

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 8 233 0 241 0 236 5 241 5 0 7 12 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 9 254 0 263 0 257 5 262 5 0 8 13 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 10 280 0 290 0 284 6 290 6 0 9 15 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 0 160 0 160 0 122 0 122 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 10 440 0 450 0 406 6 412 6 0 9 15 0 0 0 0

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 7 235 0 242 0 334 8 342 6 0 7 13 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 7 237 0 244 0 337 8 345 6 0 7 13 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 8 262 0 270 0 372 9 381 7 0 8 15 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 0 188 0 188 0 176 0 176 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 8 450 0 458 0 548 9 557 7 0 8 15 0 0 0 0

August 2021

Harmony Road Harmony Road Village Lane -
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

Harmony Road Harmony Road Village Lane -

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

415



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

3. Harmony Rd @ Sammons I Pkwy

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 205 51 256 1 245 0 246 0 0 0 0 26 0 2 28

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 223 56 279 1 267 0 268 0 0 0 0 28 0 2 30

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 246 62 308 1 295 0 296 0 0 0 0 31 0 2 33

Total New Trips: 0 160 0 160 0 122 0 122 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 0 406 62 468 1 417 0 418 0 0 0 0 31 0 2 33

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 246 9 255 0 279 0 279 0 0 0 0 61 0 2 63

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 248 9 257 0 282 0 282 0 0 0 0 62 0 2 64

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 274 10 284 0 311 0 311 0 0 0 0 68 0 2 70

Total New Trips: 0 188 0 188 0 176 0 176 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 0 462 10 472 0 487 0 487 0 0 0 0 68 0 2 70

Harmony Road Harmony Road - Sammons Industrial Parkway 
(South)

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

August 2021

Harmony Road Harmony Road -
Sammons Industrial Parkway 

(South)
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

416



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

4. Harmony Rd @ Harmony Ln

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 13 194 0 207 0 223 14 237 15 0 18 33 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 14 211 0 225 0 243 15 258 16 0 20 36 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 15 233 0 248 0 268 17 285 18 0 22 40 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 0 41 0 41 0 53 0 53 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 15 274 0 289 0 321 17 338 18 0 22 40 0 0 0 0

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 12 239 0 251 0 272 13 285 13 0 12 25 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 12 241 0 253 0 275 13 288 13 0 12 25 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 13 266 0 279 0 304 14 318 14 0 13 27 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 0 59 0 59 0 63 0 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 13 325 0 338 0 367 14 381 14 0 13 27 0 0 0 0

Harmony Road Harmony Road Harmony Lane -

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

August 2021

Harmony Road Harmony Road Harmony Lane -
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

417



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

5. Harmony Rd @ Scott Rd

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 79 24 103 107 210 1 318 0 1 3 4 46 1 33 80

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 86 26 112 117 229 1 347 0 1 3 4 50 1 36 87

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 95 29 124 129 253 1 383 0 1 3 4 55 1 40 96

Total New Trips: 0 32 8 40 0 43 0 43 0 0 0 0 11 0 0 11

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 0 127 37 164 129 296 1 426 0 1 3 4 66 1 40 107

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 2 202 34 238 60 155 0 215 0 0 1 1 49 0 145 194

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 2 204 34 240 61 157 0 218 0 0 1 1 49 0 146 195

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 2 225 38 265 67 173 0 240 0 0 1 1 54 0 161 215

Total New Trips: 0 47 12 59 0 50 0 50 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 13

Pass-by's Trips: 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 2 272 50 324 67 223 0 290 0 0 1 1 67 0 161 228

Harmony Road Harmony Road Private Drwy Scott Rd

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

August 2021

Harmony Road Harmony Road Private Drwy Scott Rd
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

418



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

6. Harmony Rd @ Site Drwy 1(S)

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 207 0 207 0 246 0 246 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 226 0 226 0 268 0 268 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 249 0 249 0 296 0 296 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 128 32 0 160 0 24 27 51 20 0 97 117 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 1 -1 0 0 0 -1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 129 280 0 409 0 319 28 347 20 0 97 117 0 0 0 0

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 248 0 248 0 279 0 279 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 250 0 250 0 282 0 282 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 276 0 276 0 311 0 311 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 151 38 0 189 0 35 31 66 29 0 140 169 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 28 -28 0 0 0 -31 31 0 23 0 25 48 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 179 286 0 465 0 315 62 377 52 0 165 217 0 0 0 0

Harmony Road Harmony Road Site Driveway 1 (Southern) -

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

August 2021

Harmony Road Harmony Road Site Driveway 1 (Southern) -
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

419



21-082 - Helms Farm Campus - Harmony Road A&R Engineering
Traffic Volumes

7. Harmony Rd @ Site Drwy 2(N)

A.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 207 0 207 0 246 0 246 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 226 0 226 0 268 0 268 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 249 0 249 0 296 0 296 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 32 20 0 52 0 27 27 54 20 0 24 44 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 1 -1 0 0 0 -1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 33 268 0 301 0 322 28 350 20 0 24 44 0 0 0 0

P.M. Peak Hour

Condition L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot L T R Tot

Existing 2021 Counts during Covid-19: 0 248 0 248 0 279 0 279 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Adjusted Existing 2021 Volumes: 0 250 0 250 0 282 0 282 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Growth Factor (%): 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5

No-Build 2025 Volumes: 0 276 0 276 0 311 0 311 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total New Trips: 38 29 0 67 0 31 31 62 29 0 35 64 0 0 0 0

Pass-by's Trips: 18 -18 0 0 0 -21 21 0 15 0 17 32 0 0 0 0

Future 2025 Traffic Volumes: 56 287 0 343 0 321 52 373 44 0 52 96 0 0 0 0

Harmony Road Harmony Road Site Driveway 2(Northern) Private Driveway

Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

August 2021

Harmony Road Harmony Road Site Driveway 2(Northern) Private Driveway
Northbound Southbound Eastbound Westbound

420



    iddle Georgia Regional Commission 
                                   175 Emery Highway, Suite C ▪ Macon, Georgia 31217 ▪ (478) 751-6160 ▪ FAX (478) 751-6517 ▪ www.middlegeorgiarc.org 
 
 Richard L. Bazemore, Chairman  Laura M. Mathis, Executive Director 

 

 
 
July 23, 2021 
 
 
Ms. Lisa Jackson 
Deputy County Manager 
117 Putnam Drive 
Eatonton, GA  31024 
 
Re:  DRI #3377, Lake Oconee Helms College 
 
Dear Ms. Jackson: 
 
The Middle Georgia Regional Commission (MGRC) has completed its review of the Development 
of Regional Impact (DRI) for the Lake Oconee Helms College Development in Putnam County. 
MGRC conducted a careful review of the information submitted by the local government and 
comments received from potentially affected agencies. Two positive comments were received 
from the Putnam County Board of Commissioners and from the City of Eatonton. These 
comments are provided below: 
 

- Putnam County:  
The BOC feels the project will generate sufficient revenue to offset any additional 
requirements for services that the project may require. The project will provide the 
potential for both county employment opportunities and additional sales tax revenue. 

 
- City of Eatonton:  

This project will have significant positive impact on our community in several different 
ways. The increase in property tax revenue along with the educational opportunities as 
well as the housing and retail components are all welcomed additions to our community 
and region. 

 
MGRC also reviewed the proposed project’s potential regional and interjurisdictional impact and 
consistency with the Department of Community Affairs Quality Community Objectives, Middle 
Georgia Regional Plan, and Middle Georgia Regionally Important Resources Plan. After reviewing 
the information, MGRC staff notes that the proposed development site lies within an area of 
projected rapid growth as identified in the 2016 Regional Plan. It is recommended that local 
governments “take action early to ensure that growth occurs in a manner which makes it possible 
to provide necessary public services,” (2016-2036 Plan for a Thriving Middle Georgia, pg. 17-18).  

421



 
 
 
Ms. Lisa Jackson 
Re: DRI 3377 
July 23, 2021 
Page Two 

This project will also help the region take advantage of the identified opportunity for 
“coordination with technical colleges and universities … to provide job skills training to low-skill 
employees,” (2016-2036 Plan for a Thriving Middle Georgia, pg. 45). 
 
Please be advised that this concludes the DRI Review Process and Putnam County may 
proceed with the final official action it deems appropriate regarding the proposed project. It is 
encouraged that Putnam County takes the materials presented in the DRI report into 
consideration when rendering its decision. The enclosed information is advisory in nature and 
under no circumstances should be considered as binding or infringing upon the host 
jurisdiction’s right to determine for itself the appropriateness of development within its 
boundaries.  

 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Greg Boike 
Director of Public Administration 
 
Enclosure 
 
cc: Affected Local Governments and Other Interested Parties (via email) 
 Georgia Department of Community Affairs (via email) 

422



423



424



425



426



File Attachments for Item:

14. Consent Agenda

a. Approval of Minutes - August 6, 2021 Regular Meeting (staff-CC)

b. Approval of Minutes - August 6, 2021 Executive Session (staff-CC)

c. Approval of Minutes - August 6, 2021 Budget Work Session (staff-CC)

427



Draft Minutes Page 1 of 4  

August 6, 2021   

 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Minutes 

Friday, August 6, 2021 ◊ 9:00 AM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

The Putnam County Board of Commissioners met on Friday, August 6, 2021 at approximately 

9:00 AM in the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam Drive, Room 203, 

Eatonton, Georgia. 

 

PRESENT  

Chairman Billy Webster 

Commissioner Gary McElhenney 

Commissioner Daniel Brown 

Commissioner Bill Sharp 

Commissioner Jeff Wooten 

 

STAFF PRESENT 

County Attorney Simon Williams 

County Manager Paul Van Haute 

County Clerk Lynn Butterworth 

 

 

Opening 
1. Welcome - Call to Order 

Chairman Webster called the meeting to order at approximately 9:00 a.m. 

(Copy of agenda made a part of the minutes on minute book page ___________.) 

 

2. Approval of Agenda 

Motion to approve the Agenda. 

Motion made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Wooten. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner McElhenney, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Wooten 
 

3. Invocation - Mrs. Judy Fain 

Mrs. Judy Fain gave the invocation. 

 

4. Pledge of Allegiance (JW) 

Commissioner Wooten led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

 

428



Draft Minutes Page 2 of 4  

August 6, 2021   

 

5. Special Presentation - Eatonton-Putnam Chamber of Commerce Bi-Annual Report 

Eatonton-Putnam Chamber of Commerce President Maggie Milner gave a report on the year-to-

date activities of the Chamber.  No action was taken. 

(Copy of report made a part of the minutes on minute book pages __________ to __________.) 

 

Regular Business Meeting 
6. Public Comments 

Mr. Steve Sammons commented on Sammons Parkway and the new convenience center that is 

being built there.  He submitted photos of the area. 

(Copy of photos made a part of the minutes on minute book pages ___________ to 

__________.) 

 

7. Consent Agenda 

a. Approval of Minutes - July 2, 2021 Regular Meeting (staff-CC) 

b. Approval of Minutes - July 12, 2021 Budget Work Session (staff-CC) 

c. Approval of Minutes - July 13, 2021 Budget Work Session (staff-CC) 

d. Approval of Minutes - July 20, 2021 Listening Session (staff-CC) 

e. Approval of Minutes - July 20, 2021 Executive Session (staff-CC) 

f. Authorization for Chairman to sign ACCG Group Self-Insurance Workers' Compensation 

Fund (GSIWCF) Safety Discount Verification Form (staff-HR) 

g. Authorization for Chairman to sign ACCG Interlocal Risk Management Agency (IRMA) 

Safety Discount Verification Form (staff-HR) 

Motion to approve the Consent Agenda. 

Motion made by Commissioner McElhenney, Seconded by Commissioner Sharp. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner McElhenney, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Wooten 

(Copy of documents made a part of the minutes on minute book pages __________ to 

__________.) 

 

8. Appointment to the Central Georgia Joint Development Authority (staff-CC) 

Commissioner Brown nominated Bill Sharp to continue serving on the Central Georgia 

Joint Development Authority. 

Nomination made by Commissioner Brown, Seconded by Commissioner Wooten. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner McElhenney, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Wooten 

Voting Abstaining: Commissioner Sharp 
 

9. Appointment of the Chairman of the Planning and Zoning Commission (staff-CC) 

Chairman Webster nominated Alan Foster to serve as Chairman of the Planning & Zoning 

Commission. 

Nomination made by Chairman Webster, Seconded by Commissioner Brown. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, Commissioner Wooten 

Voting Nay: Commissioner McElhenney 
 

Reports/Announcements 
10. County Manager Report 

No report. 

429



Draft Minutes Page 3 of 4  

August 6, 2021   

 

11. County Attorney Report 

No report, but an Executive Session is needed for litigation purposes. 

 

12. Commissioner Announcements 

Commissioner McElhenney: congratulated Commissioner Wooten for completing the 

commissioner training program 

 

Commissioner Brown: congratulated Vincent Hancock on winning another gold medal in the 

Olympics 

 

Commissioner Sharp: thanked the Fire Department, EMS and Sheriff's Office for participating in 

Sebastian Cove's National Night Out on August 3, 2021 

 

Commissioner Wooten: none 

 

Chairman Webster: announced that the Twin Bridges memorial ceremony for Mr. Wayne Moore 

has been postponed from August 7, 2021 to August 28, 2021 

 

Executive Session 

13. Enter Executive Session as allowed by O.C.G.A. 50-14-4 for Personnel, Litigation, or Real 

Estate 

Motion to enter Executive Session as allowed by O.C.G.A. 50-14-4 for Litigation. 

Motion made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Brown. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner McElhenney, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Wooten 

 

 

Meeting closed at approximately 9:36 a.m. 

 

 

14. Reopen meeting and execute Affidavit concerning the subject matter of the closed portion of 

the meeting 

Motion to reopen the meeting and execute the Affidavit concerning the subject matter of 

the closed portion of the meeting. 

Motion made by Commissioner McElhenney, Seconded by Commissioner Wooten. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner McElhenney, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Wooten 

 

 

Meeting reopened at approximately 9:45 a.m. 

 

 

15. Action, if any, resulting from the Executive Session 

No action was taken. 

 

 

430



Draft Minutes Page 4 of 4  

August 6, 2021   

 

Closing 
16. Adjournment 

Motion to adjourn the meeting. 

Motion made by Commissioner Wooten, Seconded by Commissioner Sharp. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner McElhenney, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Wooten 

 

 

Meeting adjourned at approximately 9:46 a.m. 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

Lynn Butterworth      Billy Webster 

County Clerk       Chairman 

431



PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

Office of the County Clerk 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 

706-485-5826 (main office) ◊ 706-485-1877 (direct line) ◊ 706-923-2345 (fax) 

lbutterworth@putnamcountyga.us ◊ www.putnamcountyga.us 

 

 

 

 

The draft minutes of the August 6, 2021 Executive 

Session are available for Commissioner review in the 

Clerk’s office. 
 

432

mailto:lbutterworth@putnamcountyga.us
http://www.putnamcountyga.us/


Draft Minutes Page 1 of 2  

January 19, 2021   

 

PUTNAM COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
 

117 Putnam Drive, Suite A ◊ Eatonton, GA  31024 
 

Budget Work Session 

Minutes 

Friday, August 6, 2021 ◊ 9:00 AM* 

*To follow after regular board meeting 

which starts at 9:00 AM 

Putnam County Administration Building – Room 203 

 

The Putnam County Board of Commissioners met for a Budget Work Session on Friday, August 

6, 2021 at approximately 9:47 AM in the Putnam County Administration Building, 117 Putnam 

Drive, Room 203, Eatonton, Georgia. 

 

PRESENT  

Chairman Billy Webster 

Commissioner Gary McElhenney 

Commissioner Daniel Brown 

Commissioner Bill Sharp 

Commissioner Jeff Wooten 

 

STAFF PRESENT 

County Manager Paul Van Haute 

County Clerk Lynn Butterworth 

Finance Director Linda Cook 

 

 

Opening 
1. Call to Order 

Chairman Webster called the Budget Work Session to order at approximately 9:47 a.m. 

(Copy of agenda made a part of the minutes on minute book page __________.) 

 

Work Session 
2. Budget Discussions 

Two agencies requested additional funding for the FY22 budget.  Comments were made by Bob 

Betzel, Alan Horton, Anita Morris (handout) and Pam Douglas for Putnam General Hospital and 

Walt Rocker III for Putnam Development Authority 

 

 

Work Session was recessed at approximately 9:56 a.m. for the Board of Elections ribbon cutting. 

(After Mr. Horton spoke) 

Work Session reconvened at approximately 10:11 a.m. 

433



Draft Minutes Page 2 of 2  

January 19, 2021   

 

 

 

County Manager Van Haute made a presentation regarding Putnam General Hospital. 

(Copy of handout and presentation made a part of the minutes on minute book pages 

__________ to __________.) 

 

Closing 
3. Adjournment 

Chairman Webster announced the next budget related meeting is the Public Hearing on August 

17, 2021 and the budget will be adopted on August 27, 2021. 

 

Motion to adjourn the meeting. 

Motion made by Commissioner Sharp, Seconded by Commissioner Wooten. 

Voting Yea: Commissioner McElhenney, Commissioner Brown, Commissioner Sharp, 

Commissioner Wooten 

 

 

Meeting adjourned at approximately 11:13 a.m. 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

Lynn Butterworth      Billy Webster 

County Clerk       Chairman 

434



File Attachments for Item:

15. Request for Final Plat Subdivision Approval for Eagles Rest at Cuscowilla Cottages (staff-P&D)

435



436



437



438



439



File Attachments for Item:

16. Petition to waive final six-month time interval regarding the Application for Rezoning from Danny 

Copelan at 931 Pea Ridge Road [Map 092, Parcel 017001001] (DB)

440



Good morning. I hope all is well. I would like to add the following to the August 17th, Board of 
Commissioner’s Meeting:  
 
Petition to waive final six-month time interval regarding the following re-Application for Rezoning: 
 
Applicant/ Owner:                           W. Davie (“Danny”) Copelan 
Location:                                              931 Pea Ridge Road, Eatonton, GA 31024 
Description:                                        Rezoning from A-2 to C-1 
Tax Parcel:                                          Tax Parcel No.: 092 017001 001 
Total Acreage:                                   Approximately 5.00 acres 
 
Currently, Sec. 66-161. - Application for a zoning change, Putnam County Code of Ordinances, provides:  
 
(a)Authority to initiate amendments. Applications to amend this chapter may be in the form of 
proposals to amend the text, or proposals to amend part or all of the official zoning maps (a rezoning) or 
by actions initiated by the board of commissioners. An application for an amendment to the official 
zoning map, affecting the same property, shall not be submitted more than once every 12 months. Such 
interval begins with the date of the final decision by the board of commissioners. The board of 
commissioners, in its discretion and by unanimous vote, may reduce or waive the final six-month time 
interval to amend the official zoning map affecting the same property. However, an application to alter 
conditions of rezoning as contemplated in subsection 66-166(b) of this division may be submitted at any 
time. Applications shall be the same as for a rezoning and shall comply with the requirements of this 
section, excluding subsections (b) and (c) hereof. 
 
I would like to address the Board, on behalf of Mr. Copelan, to request that they waive the final six 
month time interval set forth in Sec. 66-161, so that we can re-apply for rezoning.   
 
To be clear, this is NOT a vote to approve or deny the rezoning.  This is simply a vote to consider 
allowing Mr. Copelan to re-apply for rezoning without the necessity of waiting until January of 
2022.  This will allow him to move on with his plans for the property, one way or another.  
 
I can prepare a more formal letter before the meeting, but I just wanted to go ahead and get this over to 
you.  Let me know if you need anything else.  Thank you.  
 
Best, 
Russell 
 
Russell W. Wall 
Law Office of Russell W. Wall, LLC                            
122 North Main Street, Suite B                                  
Greensboro, Georgia 30642                                        
(706) 453-0089 phone                                                    
(706) 453-0094 fax                              

441



442

lbarb_000
Received



443

lbarb_000
Received



File Attachments for Item:

17. Approval of Changes to the Personnel Policy (staff-HR & CM)

444



Page 1 of 32 
 

 
 

 

 

 

PUTNAM COUNTY 

 

PERSONNEL MANUAL 

 

 

Employee Handbook 

 

 

Officials of Putnam County, Georgia  

At the time this policy was last amended: 

 

Billy Webster, Chairman 

Kelvin Irvin, Gary McElhenney, District One Commissioner 

Daniel Brown, District Two Commissioner 

B. W. “Bill” Sharp, District Three Commissioner 

Vacant, Jeff Wooten, District Four Commissioner 

 

ADMINISTRATION 

 

Paul Van Haute, County Manager 

Lynn Butterworth, County Clerk 

Linda A. Cook, Finance Director 

Cynthia Miller, Human Resources Director 

Fleming & Nelson, LLP, General Counsel 

 

 

 

Adopted August 19, 2003 

Amended December 5, 2003; June 3, 2005; November 20, 2007; 

December 2, 2011; May 1, 2015; July 5, 2019, October 2, 2020 

 

Proposed Changes August 17, 2021 

 

445



Page 2 of 32 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

I. Foreword          3 

II. Recruitment         8 

III. Appointments        11 

IV. Training Period        12 

V. Remuneration        14 

VI. Conditions of Employment      16 

VII. Observed Holidays        20 

VIII. Leave         21 

IX. Transfers         33 

X. Employee Performance Evaluations     34 

XI. Disciplinary Actions       35 

XII. Separations         38 

XIII. Appeals         41 

XIV. Grievances         43 

XV. Training and Development Activities     46 

XVI. Outside Employment       47 

XVII. Acceptance of Gifts and Gratuities     48 

XVIII. Code of Conduct Policy       48 

XIX. Use of County Vehicles       49 

XX. Political Activities        50 

XXI. Unlawful Acts Prohibited       51 

XXII. Records and Reports       51 

XXIII. Penalties         52 

XXIV. Separability        52 

XXV. Official Copy        52 

XXVI. Status of Present Employees      52 

XXVII. Employee Insurance       52 

XXVIII. Retirement Plan        55 

XXIX. Payroll Deductions and Paychecks     56 

XXX. Harassment Policy        56 

XXXI. Repealer         57 

XXXII. Computer Usage        58 

Appendix A        62 

Acknowledgement of Receipt      63  

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

446



Page 3 of 32 
 

 

I.  FOREWORD 

 

A. INTRODUCTION 

The following policies have been developed and implemented to provide all employees 

with a clear and precise declaration of the policies and procedures relating to employees' 

employment, benefits, rights and actions.  Any authority or responsibility not officially 

delegated to others is retained by the Putnam County Board of Commissioners. 

This manual may be modified or changed by the Putnam County Board of Commissioners, 

through a resolution approved by the Board of Commissioners in a duly convened meeting.  

Employees will be notified of changes to this manual and required to sign an 

Acknowledgment of Receipt of the handbook. 

The following policies shall be known collectively as the "Putnam County Personnel 

Manual" and is established to provide a fair, equitable, and productive work environment 

for all Putnam County employees. These policies recognize that the employees covered by 

the system should be selected and promoted according to their knowledge, skills and 

abilities, and regardless of factors extraneous to their performance and conduct. 

 

B. PURPOSE 

The purpose of the Putnam County Personnel Policies is to establish a system of 

employment that implements and perpetuates the recognized merit principles of public 

employment. These principles include: 

1. Recruitment, selection, and advancement of employees based on their knowledge, 

skills, and abilities; 

2. The establishment of consistent pay rates and schedules which provide equitable 

and adequate compensation; 

3. The retention of employees based on the adequacy of job performance, correction 

of inadequate performance when possible, and separation of employees when 

inadequacy cannot be corrected; 

4. The assurance that Putnam County is an equal opportunity employer and that 

there is equal opportunity to applicants and employees alike in all aspects of 

personnel administration without regard to political affiliation, race, national origin, 

age, sex, handicap status, or religion and with proper regard for privacy and 

constitutional rights as citizens; and 

5. The establishment of a uniform system for handling grievances and appeal rights 

based on the principles of due process. 

 

These policies apply to the employees in all departments under the administration of the 

County Manager, and the County Manager, as the chief administrative officer, is 

responsible for administering these policies in an efficient, effective, and equitable manner.  

 

Constitutional Officers, including Probate Judge, Superior Court Clerk, Tax 

Commissioner, and Sheriff, as well as employees under their authority, are not subject to 

the provisions of the Putnam County Personnel Manual. Constitutional Officers may, at 

their discretion, enforce any or all parts of the Personnel Manual.  

 

447



Page 4 of 32 
 

C. DEFINITIONS 

 

1. Adverse Action – An action taken for causes that result in a disciplinary suspension, 

disciplinary salary reduction, disciplinary demotion, or disciplinary dismissal. 

 

2. Adverse Effect – The results of an action or decision that is not an adverse action 

but which deprives the employee of income or the opportunity to earn more income. 

 

3. Anniversary Date – Used in calculating annual and sick leave, this is the day and 

date one calendar year after the date of original appointment and that same date in 

subsequent years. 

 

4. Appointing Authority – The person who has, among other authorities, the authority 

to appoint and discharge all employees.  The County Manager is the appointing 

authority for Putnam County. 

 

5. County – The Putnam County Board of Commissioners, the County Manager, or 

their designee as management representatives or agents. 

 

6. Days – When used as a means of counting, means calendar days unless otherwise 

stated. 

 

7. Designee – The person or persons to whom the appointing authority delegates 

certain authority for the administration of the County. 

 

8. Disabled – Any person who has a physical or mental impairment that substantially 

limits one or more major life activities, who has a record of such impairment, or 

who is regarded as having such impairment. 

 

9. Employees – Employees who work for Putnam County and whose positions are 

included in the classification plan. 

 

10. Employment Evaluation – Used in determining job performance.  An employment 

evaluation is completed on an annual basis. 

 

11. Gender Expression – An individual’s characteristics and behaviors (such as 

appearance, dress, mannerisms, speech patterns, and social interactions) that may 

be perceived as masculine or feminine. 

12. Gender Identity – A person’s internal, deeply felt sense of being male, female, or 

something other or in-between, regardless of the sex they were assigned at birth. 

Everyone has a gender identity. 

13. Gender Non-Conforming – This term describes people who have, or are perceived 

to have, gender characteristics and/or behaviors that do not conform to traditional 

448



Page 5 of 32 
 

or societal expectations. Keep in mind that these expectations can vary across 

cultures and have changed over time.  

14. Immediate Family – That part of an employee’s family which includes spouse, 

father, stepfather, grandfather, father-in-law, mother, stepmother, grandmother, 

mother-in-law, son, stepson, daughter, stepdaughter, brother, or sister.  

 

15.  LGBT – A common abbreviation that refers to the lesbian, gay, bisexual, and 

transgender community.  

16. May – May is conditional and implies that there is discretion as to whether a 

condition exists, or an act or action will take place. 

 

17. Separation – The termination of an employee from the services and payroll of the 

County. 

 

18. Sexual Orientation – A person’s physical or emotional attraction to people of the 

same and/or other gender. Straight, gay, and bisexual are some ways to describe 

sexual orientation. It is important to note that sexual orientation is distinct from 

gender identity and expression. Transgender people can be gay, lesbian, bisexual, 

or straight, just like non-transgender people.  

19. Shall/Will – Terms which are unconditional and imply that a condition exists or an 

act or action will take place. 

 

20. Training Period – A six (6)-month period of time, during which a new employee or 

an employee who has been promoted to a higher position is tested on job capability 

and performance.  Those new or promoted employees who are required to have 

state certification as a requirement for their continued employment in their 

respective positions must do so within the required timeframe, i.e. firefighters, code 

enforcement, tax assessors, etc. 

 

21. Transgender – An umbrella term that can be used to describe people whose gender 

identity and/or expression is different from their sex assigned at birth. A person 

whose sex assigned at birth was female but who identifies as male is a transgender 

man (also known as female-to-male transgender person, or FTM). A person whose 

sex assigned at birth was male but who identifies as female is a transgender woman 

(also known as male-to-female transgender person, or MTF). Some people 

described by this definition do not consider themselves transgender – they may use 

other words or may identify simply as a man or woman. A person does not need to 

identify as transgender in order for the County’s nondiscrimination policies to apply 

to them. 

22. Transition – The process of changing one’s gender from the sex assigned at birth 

to one’s gender identity. There are many different ways to transition. For some 

449



Page 6 of 32 
 

people, it is a complex process that takes place over a long period of time, while for 

others it is a one- or two-step process that happens more quickly. Transition may 

include “coming out” (telling family, friends, and coworkers); changing the name 

and/or sex on legal documents; and, for many transgender people, accessing 

medical treatment such as hormones and surgery. 

23. Unlawful Discrimination – Employment practices which are prohibited by state 

and/or federal laws and which include discrimination because of race, color, sex, 

religion, national origin, age, mental or physical disability,  political affiliation, 

military status, or other characteristic protected by law. 

 

D. PERSONNEL CATEGORIES 

Each employee is designated as either “Nonexempt” or “Exempt” from federal and state 

wage and hour laws.  Nonexempt employees are entitled to overtime pay under the specific 

provisions of federal and state laws. Exempt employees are excluded from specific 

provisions of federal and state wage and hour laws. An employee’s Exempt or Nonexempt 

status may be changed only upon written notification by the Putnam County Board of 

Commissioners. In addition to the above classifications, each County employee will fall 

under one of the following employment categories: 

 

1. Executive Personnel 

 

Generally, in order to qualify as an "executive" employee, an employee’s primary 

duties must involve the exercise of discretionary powers and take up 80 percent or 

more of his/her time, and must include (1) management of an organization or 

management of a subdivision or department of an organization, (2) supervision of 

two or more employees, and (3) the firing and hiring decisions.  If the employee 

earns $455 or more per week, manages an organization or department, and 

supervises the work of two or more employees, then the employee is automatically 

presumed to be an "executive" employee (29 C.F.R. Sec. 541.1).  

 

2. Administrative Personnel 

 

In order to qualify as an "administrative" employee, an employee’s primary duties 

which  involve 80 percent or more of his/her time must (1) consist of non-manual 

work directly related to management policies or business operations or 

administrative work, and (2) involve the exercise of discretion or independent 

judgment.  An administrator is automatically presumed to be an "administrative" 

employee if he/she makes $455 or more per week (29 C.F.R. Sec. 541.2). 

 

3. Professional Personnel 

 

In order to qualify as a "professional" employee, an employee’s primary duties 

which take up 80 percent or more of his/her time must consist of (1) work requiring 

advanced knowledge of the type acquired through specialized study (e.g., 

accounting, law, medicine), or (2) original or creative work involving "artistic 

450



Page 7 of 32 
 

endeavor."  Additionally, the employee's work must (1) require the exercise of 

discretion and (2) be intellectual and varied in nature and involve output, which 

cannot be measured on the basis of standardized units of time.  Generally, a person 

making $455 or more per week whose duties include work involving advanced 

knowledge acquired through specialized training (e.g., accounting, law, medicine) 

will automatically be considered a "professional" employee (29 C.F.R. Sec. 541.3). 

 

4. Seasonal Personnel 

 

Employees hired to perform County functions on a seasonal basis.  No hourly 

restrictions, maximum or minimum, apply to seasonal personnel. Seasonal 

personnel may include grass cutters, recreational personnel, amusement personnel, 

and any others deemed necessary by the Putnam County Board of Commissioners. 

 

5. Part-Time Personnel 

 

Employees hired for twenty-eight (28) or less hours per week averaged over a 

twenty-six (26) week period.  Part-time employees are not eligible for County 

paid benefits.  Firefighters and emergency medical service part-time employees 

may be hired as needed, not to exceed twenty-eight (28) hours per week averaged 

over a twenty-six (26) week period   

This type of personnel hiring does not have to be advertised.   

 

6. Temporary or Substitute Personnel 

 

Employees hired to fill intermittent positions.  These may be current employees, 

temporary agency help, or others.  Those temporaries hired for a long-term project 

may not work longer than twenty-four (24) hours per week averaged over a twenty-

six (26) week period Firefighters and emergency medical service part-time 

employees may be hired as needed, not to exceed twenty-eight (28) hours per week 

averaged over a twenty-six (26) week period. 

 

This type of personnel hiring does not have to be advertised.   

 

7. Personnel-in-Training 

 Employees hired to fill a full-time position but who  have not completed the initial 

training period as outlined in Section IV. 

 

8. Full-Time Personnel 

Employees who have successfully completed their training period and are eligible 

for full-time status and the benefits applicable under the classification as detailed 

in the Putnam County Personnel Manual. 

 

9. Contract Personnel 

 

Those individuals who enter into a contract with Putnam County to provide 

451



Page 8 of 32 
 

specified services for a specified period of time. 

 

10. Intern 

 

Employees who are students, paid or unpaid, who work with Putnam County on a 

temporary basis as part of an academic program of study, either for credit or non-

credit. An internship may be full-time or part-time and does not imply the promise 

of regular employment at the end of the internship period.  

 

II.  RECRUITMENT 

 

A. EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY AND PREJUDICIAL ACTS 

 

Policy Putnam County is an equal opportunity employer and is committed to the principles 

of non-discrimination and equality of employment opportunities. In accordance with 

applicable law, Putnam County prohibits and will not tolerate discrimination, harassment 

or retaliation against any applicant or employee based on any legally-recognized basis, 

including, but not limited to: race, color, religion, sex, pregnancy (including childbirth, 

lactation or related medical conditions), sexual orientation, gender identity or expression, 

age (40 and over), national origin or ancestry, physical or mental disability, genetic 

information (including testing and characteristics), veteran status, uniformed service-

member status, or any other consideration protected by federal, state or local law. Such 

prohibition includes but is not limited to Georgia law’s prohibition against discrimination 

of employees and applicants for employment based on age (40-70) and disability, and 

against wage differentials based on sex.  

Putnam County’s commitment to equal opportunity employment applies to all persons 

involved in County operations and prohibits unlawful discrimination, harassment, or 

retaliation by any employee, including supervisors and co-workers. In addition, any acts or 

threats of violence, property damage, harassment, intimidation, or other acts designed to 

infringe upon employees’ rights as described by federal anti-discrimination laws or Putnam 

County Personnel Policies will not be tolerated.  

This policy is designed to strictly prohibit all discrimination and harassment, including 

sexual harassment, by or against supervisory officials, employees, nonemployees, as well 

as clients and customers. Please note that employees may be found to be in violation of this 

policy even if their conduct does not rise to the level of legally cognizable discrimination, 

harassment, or retaliation. 

 

B. TRANSGENDER NON-DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT 

 

Putnam County does not discriminate in any way on the basis of sex, sexual orientation, 

gender identity, or gender expression. The purpose of this policy is to articulate Putnam 

County’s commitment to comply with all non-discrimination provisions pursuant to Title 

VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, and demonstrate the County’s desire to 

welcome and include transgender, gender non-conforming, and transitioning employees. 

This policy is designed to create a safe, productive, and inclusive workplace environment 

for all employees. This policy sets forth guidelines to address the needs of transgender and 

452



Page 9 of 32 
 

gender non-conforming employees and clarifies how the relevant law and County policies 

should be implemented in situations where questions may arise about how to protect the 

rights or safety of such employees. 

 

C.  ANTI-DISCRIMINATION/HARASSMENT/RETALIATION 

 

It is unlawful and a violation of County policy to discriminate in any way (including, but 

not limited to, failure to hire, failure to promote, or unlawful termination) against an 

employee because of the employee’s actual or perceived gender identity. Additionally, it 

is also unlawful and contrary to this policy to retaliate against any person objecting to, or 

supporting enforcement of legal protections against, gender identity discrimination in 

employment. The County is committed to creating a safe work environment for transgender 

and gender non-conforming employees. Any incident of discrimination, harassment, or 

violence based on gender identity or expression will be given immediate and effective 

attention, including, but not limited to, investigating the incident, taking suitable corrective 

action, and providing employees and staff with appropriate resources. These policies do 

not create a contract of employment. Employment for non-classified employees remains 

“at will”. 

 

A. STATEMENT OF EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY (EEO) POLICY 

 

It is the policy of Putnam County to foster, maintain, and promote equal employment 

opportunity.  Putnam County is an Equal Opportunity Employer and shall select employees 

on the basis of applicants’ qualifications and ability to perform the duties of the job; without 

regard to race, color, sex, religion, national origin, age, mental or physical disability, 

political affiliation, military status, or other characteristic protected by law. 

 

B. IMPLEMENTATION OF EEO POLICY 

 

All personnel responsible for recruitment and employment shall continue to review 

regularly the implementation of this personnel policy and relevant practices to assure that 

equal employment opportunity based on reasonable performance-related job requirements 

is being actively observed to the end that no employee or applicant for employment shall 

suffer unlawful discrimination. The Human Resources Supervisor shall serve as Equal 

Employment Opportunity Officer. Notices with regard to equal employment matters shall 

be posted in conspicuous places on the premises in places where notices are customarily 

posted. 

 

D. ANNOUNCEMENT OF VACANT POSITIONS 

 

Upon the request of the Department Head, and with the approval of the County Manager, 

the County Clerk or Human Resources Supervisor shall publicize vacant full-time positions 

by advertising internally by posting a notice at the Putnam County Administration Office 

and at all departments for ten (10) working days.  If a qualified applicant is not found 

internally after the initial ten (10) working days, Putnam County shall publicize vacant full-

time positions by posting a notice at the Putnam County Administration Office and at all 

453



Page 10 of 32 
 

departments for ten (10) working days, in addition to advertising for two (2) weeks in the 

designated Putnam County legal organ and on the Putnam County website. Additional 

efforts should be made to advertise for the position through additional avenues including 

but not limited to the Georgia Department of Labor, the Georgia Municipal Association, 

and the Association County Commissioners of Georgia. The announcement shall specify 

the title, salary dependent upon qualifications, skills, experience, position qualifications, 

application form availability, work hours, and position closing date. 

 

E. APPLICATION FOR EMPLOYMENT 

 

All persons expressing interest in employment with Putnam County shall be given the 

opportunity to file an application for employment. Standard application forms shall be 

available at the Human Resources office and the Putnam County website.  In employment 

areas such as public safety and finance where the public has a compelling interest in the 

security of property and life, applicants for employment, promotion, and transfer may be 

asked to supply personal information that would not be needed in other employment areas. 

Applicants may be required to furnish various criminal histories and other documents as 

requested and is applicable to job requirements.  The requested documents will be 

furnished at the applicant’s expense.  All costs will be reimbursed upon hire. 

 

All completed applications shall be returned to the Human Resources office.  

 

F. TESTING 

 

Putnam County reserves the right to require tests for selected positions. All such tests will 

be job related and fairly administered. Said tests will be given and evaluated by qualified, 

unbiased personnel. 

 

G. DURATION OF APPLICATIONS 

 

Applications will only be accepted for the position(s) advertised and only for the specific 

vacancy (ies). All qualified applications submitted for an advertised position will be kept 

for the duration of the training period (6 months) of the person hired.  If the hired employee 

does not complete the training period, the applications on file can be reviewed in an attempt 

to fill the position instead of re-advertising the position. 

 

H.        TYPES OF RECRUITMENT 

 

All full-time positions shall be filled as provided in Section II.C (Announcement of Vacant 

Positions).  Temporary and part-time positions need not be advertised and may be filled as 

needed under the authorization of the County Manager.  

 

I. QUALIFICATIONS 

 

All applicants shall meet the qualifications and requirements established for the position in 

the job description. It is Putnam County’s desire to fill vacancies from within its current 

454



Page 11 of 32 
 

workforce. County employees interested in a newly opened position must file an 

application indicating a desire to be considered during the internal advertising period. 

 

III.  APPOINTMENTS 

 

A.  GENERAL 

Appointments and promotions to all positions shall be solely on the basis of merit, which 

shall be determined by evaluation of the applicant’s (1) training, education, experience, 

and physical fitness (if applicable); (2) oral interview; or (3) whenever practical, an 

examination or demonstration test.  Position vacancies shall be filled by qualified 

applicants.  Employees in the department where the vacancy occurs may apply for available 

positions if they possess the required qualifications. 

 

B. APPLICATION REVIEW 

 

The Human Resources Supervisor, once applications are reviewed for completeness, shall 

forward all applications to the proper Department Head and the County Manager for 

review. The Department Head will interview all qualified applicants, except as noted 

below, and present his/her findings to the County Manager with recommendations. It shall 

be the sole responsibility of the County Manager and Department Head to fill the vacancy. 

They may accept or reject any and all applications; the County Manager shall determine 

the proper grade/step salary rate for the position.  The County Manager shall have the 

responsibility to hire and/or remove all employees, except those appointments made by the 

Board of Commissioners under current legislation. The Putnam County Board of 

Commissioners reserves the authority to appoint and/or remove those appointments made 

under current legislation. The County Manager shall notify the Board of Commissioners 

of his/her appointments and/or removals.   

 

C. CONDITIONS 

 

Job offers are subject to a pre-employment substance abuse screening by a qualified 

physician to be paid for by the County.  Part-Time, temporary, and seasonal jobs will be 

subject to a substance abuse screening only.  Full-time jobs will be subject to a substance 

abuse screening and physical. The physician must be presented with a general job 

description and must provide a statement of the applicant's ability to perform that job. The 

physician's statement and pre-employment substance abuse test results must be mailed or 

delivered directly to the Human Resources Supervisor. Other conditions of hiring may 

include, but not be limited to, written and/or performance tests and a physical examination. 

The Department Head and/or County Manager may require proof of education and/or 

certification. 

 

Putnam County shall enroll in and participate in E-Verify, the electronic verification of 

work authorization program operated by the United States Department of Homeland 

Security, pursuant to the Illegal Immigration Reform and Immigration Responsibility Act 

of 1996. The Human Resources Supervisor shall ensure that the E-Verify process is applied 

to all persons to be hired by Putnam County as County employees. 

455



Page 12 of 32 
 

Motor Vehicle Records (MVRs) will be examined prior to the date of employment and 

every one (1) year thereafter.  Any job offer made where the job requires a valid driver’s 

license will be contingent upon a MVR meeting the required standards.  Continued 

employment with the County in a position requiring a valid driver’s license will require a 

MVR meeting the specified standards. Also anyone subject to utilizing their personal cars 

on County business will require a MVR meeting the specified standards. 

 

D. FORMS 

 

All new employees must complete the Federal (I-9) "illegal alien" form as required by law, 

notice of Workers’ Compensation procedures, the federal and State of Georgia tax 

withholding forms, and various other forms when applicable. 

 

All new employees shall be briefed on their rights, benefits, disciplinary codes and all 

matters contained in this manual.  A copy of this manual must be given to the new employee 

and his/her signature obtained as receipt of this manual for the personnel file. The 

Department Head will provide the employee with a job description, as well as introduction 

to fellow workers and County facilities. 

 

IV.  TRAINING PERIOD 

 

A. INTENT 

 

The training period shall be regarded as an integral part of the selection process and shall 

be utilized for closely observing the employee's work for securing the most effective 

adjustment of a new employee or his/her position and for rejecting any employee whose 

performance is not satisfactory. 

 

B. CONDITIONS 

 

All new Putnam County employees shall spend the first 180 working days (approximately 

6 months) of their employment in a training period. All new employees hired to full-time 

positions shall serve this training period during which there shall be no responsibility on 

the part of the County for their continued employment.  Employees in full-time positions 

who are promoted or laterally transferred shall also serve a training period associated with 

a new position but shall retain the benefits they received before promotion during the 

training period including the automatic right to appeal a termination. Employees serving a 

training period shall receive all benefits provided in accordance with this policy with the 

following exceptions.  

   

1. Dismissal of a new employee during a training period shall deny the employee the 

right to appeal the dismissal.  (In the case of an employee promoted to a higher 

position in the County service, failure to successfully perform the duties in the 

higher position does not deny the employee the right to return to the position 

formerly held, or similar position, if the position is vacant and necessary or in the 

extreme the right to appeal a dismissal. 

456



Page 13 of 32 
 

 

2. If an employee is laid off during a training period, and performance of duties has 

been satisfactory, then if rehired to the same department, that employee shall be 

given credit for the portion of the training period completed prior to the layoff. 

 

3. Should the employee's performance be deemed questionable, unsatisfactory or 

 further evaluation deemed necessary, for any reason including injury or illness, the 

County Manager may extend the training period for an additional period of time, 

with entire training period to last no more than 365 days. If the training period is 

extended, the employee’s personnel record must be so annotated and acknowledged 

by the employee.  If deemed necessary, the employee may be terminated subject to 

the conditions contained in paragraph B. above. 

 

C. REPORTS 

 

The Department Head shall meet with the employee twice during the training period to 

inform the employee of his/her progress. The mid-point training period review shall be 

conducted at the end of the first ninety (90) days of the training period.  At least twenty 

(20) working days prior to the end of the employee's training period, the Department Head 

shall notify the County Manager in writing: 

 

 1. Whether the employee is performing satisfactory work; 

 

2. Whether the employee should be retained in the current position; 

 

3. Whether the employee should be given full-time status; 

 

4. Whether the employee, if a new hire, should be discharged;   

 

5. Whether the employee, if in training following a promotion, should be reinstated to 

the employee's previous classification; or 

 

6. Whether the training period should be extended.  

 

The County Manager shall accept or reject the Department Head’s recommendation.  The 

County Manager’s decision shall be final. 

 

D. DISMISSAL 

 

At any time during the training period, the Department Head may recommend the removal 

of an employee if, in his/her opinion, the training period indicates that such employee is 

unable or unwilling to perform the duties of the position satisfactorily or that his/her habits 

and lack of dependability do not merit his/her continuance with the service.  Upon such 

recommendation, the Department Head shall immediately submit to the County Manager 

a written report establishing cause. Disciplinary decisions, including dismissal, are 

ultimately the responsibility of the County Manager.  An employee serving their initial 

457



Page 14 of 32 
 

training period does not have the right of appeal unless it is alleged that the civil rights of 

the employee as offered by the U.S. Constitution have been violated.  

 

If an employee has committed an offense, which is considered cause for disciplinary action 

under the provisions of these regulations, the County Manager may dismiss the employee 

without prior notice. The written report described above is mandatory. 

 

An employee found to have been hired through fraud or intentional error on the part of the 

employee shall be removed immediately. 

 

V.  REMUNERATION 

 

A. THE PAY PLAN 

 

The schedule of salary ranges and class titles assigned to salary ranges, as most recently 

adopted and subsequent amendments thereto is the pay plan for Putnam County. The 

County Manager, with assistance from the Finance Director and Human Resources 

Supervisor, shall be responsible for the administration and maintenance of the pay plan. 

The pay plan is intended to provide equitable compensation for all positions when 

considered in relation to each other, to general rates of pay for similar employment in the 

private sector and in other public jurisdictions in the area, to changes in the cost of living, 

to financial conditions of the County, and other factors.  To this end, the County Manager 

shall from time to time make comparative studies of all factors affecting the level of salary 

ranges and shall recommend to the Board of Commissioners such changes in salary ranges 

as appears to be warranted. 

 

B. PAYMENT AT A LISTED RATE 

 

All employees covered by the pay plan shall be paid at an identified listed rate within the 

salary ranges established for their respective job classes except for employees whose 

present salaries are above the maximum rate following transition to a new or revised pay 

plan. 

 

C. PAY RATES IN PROMOTION, DEMOTION, AND TRANSFER 

 

When an employee is promoted, demoted, or transferred, the rate of pay for the new 

position will be established in accordance with the following rules: 

 

1. An employee who is promoted to a position with a job classification higher than 

the previous position shall be placed at the minimum entry range but no lower than 

the employee’s current rate of pay.  As deemed necessary, the County Manager 

may award an out-of-sequence increase in recognition of exemplary job 

performance. 

 

2. An employee who is demoted shall receive a salary commensurate with the 

position’s responsibilities and level of difficulty. 

458



Page 15 of 32 
 

 

3. An employee transferred from one position to another position having the same job 

classification shall continue to be paid at the same rate. 

 

D. PAY RATES FOR PEAKED OUT EMPLOYEES 

 

When an employee has served for a full year in the maximum range to which his/her 

position is assigned, that person may, by virtue of the annual employee evaluation process, 

be considered for a pay increase in the amount of the standard percentage established by 

the Board of Commissioners in the grade to which his/her position is assigned. 

 

E. PAY FOR PART-TIME WORK 

 

The pay plan established by this policy is for full-time service. An employee hired for less 

than full-time service will be paid an amount recommended by the Department Head and 

approved by the County Manager.  

 

F. OVERTIME 

 

Overtime work shall be that work performed by an employee which either exceeds the 

number of hours constituting the established work week for the employee’s position (40 

hours per week or hours worked which exceed the declared schedule for firefighters). 

Positions considered professional or managerial are exempt from overtime pay, and include 

at the minimum all Executive and Administrative Personnel as defined in Section I. Other 

positions as determined by the County Manager in accordance with the Fair Labor 

Standards Act may be declared exempt from recognized overtime compensation. For any 

exempt employee under this policy, if a natural or manmade disaster is declared, these 

employees become nonexempt and revert to an hourly rate until the said natural or 

manmade disaster is over. 

 

Overtime opportunities will be distributed as equally as practicable based on level of skills 

and experience among employees in the same job class and department regardless of age, 

sex, race, color, creed, religion, national origin, mental or physical disability, political 

affiliation, military status, or other characteristic protected by law. 

 

Employees required to work overtime may be compensated with time off determined at a 

rate of one and one-half hours off for every one hour of overtime worked.  Otherwise, 

employees will be compensated at a rate of one and one-half times their normal rate of pay 

for approved overtime.  All such overtime must be authorized by the Department Head and 

approved by the County Manager or their designee. 

 

G. PAY PERIOD 

 

Putnam County employees are paid biweekly (every other week) on the Friday following 

the close of the pay period.  The pay period begins on Monday and ends on Sunday, two 

459



Page 16 of 32 
 

weeks later.  Should the Friday that employees are to be paid fall on a holiday, employees 

will be paid on the last working day prior to the holiday. 

 

Checks will normally be distributed to the Department Head on the morning of the workday 

on payday.  Employees on vacation may pick up their check at any time during the payday 

at the Payroll Office, provided an authorization from the Department Head or County 

Manager has been received by the Payroll office.  Should an employee designate another 

individual to pick up his/her paycheck, the issuer must have written permission from the 

employee, and his/her check will be issued in the same manner, as it would be to the 

employee.  Photo identification and signed acknowledgement of receipt of check will be 

required of the individual receiving check.  

The County Manager or designee may require employees to provide photo identification 

prior to receiving their paycheck. 

 

H. PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS 

 

Federal and state income taxes, social security tax, other amounts required by law, and 

items authorized by the Board of Commissioners (i.e., benefits, Peace Officers Pension 

Plan, Firefighters Pension Plan) shall be deducted each pay period, monthly, or semi-

weekly from the employee’s pay. 

 

VI.  CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT 

 

A. WORK HOURS 

 

The workweek for full-time employees, except for firefighters will be forty (40) hours.  

Firefighters will be paid in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA 29 USC  

207). 

 

B. WORKWEEK 

 

The workweek shall be established by the Department Heads, with approval from the 

County Manager, and shall be in accordance with the needs of the service provided.  The 

workweek shall be the same for all persons occupying full-time positions in the same class 

under the same conditions. 

 

C. ATTENDANCE 

 

Employees are required to be punctual.  Repetitive tardiness must be documented by the 

Department Head and placed in the employee's file.  An employee who is on twenty-four 

(24) hour call and/or has a County vehicle at his/her residence is considered on the job 

when he/she leaves his/her residence/domicile in response to a call.  Each Department Head 

is responsible for a complete attendance record for each departmental employee. 

Attendance records shall be submitted to the Payroll office, including attendance, leave 

time and unauthorized absence, on the Monday after the payroll week ends.   

 

460



Page 17 of 32 
 

Employees must notify their respective Department Head within thirty (30) minutes prior 

to the regularly scheduled workday if they do not intend to be on the job for that day, 

including the reason for the absence. Employees who are absent from work for three (3) 

consecutive 8-hour periods without leave approval (or without having called in to report 

the absence) will be considered as having voluntarily abandoned his/her job. Insufficient 

notice, as stated above, is considered no notice.  In some circumstances a doctor’s excuse 

may be necessary prior to return to work. Anyone absent three consecutive 8-hour periods 

will be required to bring a doctors excuse prior to their return to work.  The absence of an 

employee from duty, including any absence for a day or part of a day that is not authorized 

by a specific grant or leave request will be deemed to be an absence without leave and any 

such absence shall be deemed to be an absence without leave.  Any such absence shall be 

without pay and may be cause for disciplinary action, including and up to termination.  

Absences of three consecutive 8-hour periods or longer or absences of leave without pay 

must be reported to the Human Resources Supervisor in writing. 

 

D. BREAKS 

 

Employees shall be given the opportunity to take one fifteen (15)-minute break within a 

continuous four-hour work period. Each Department Head shall schedule these breaks so 

that normal department operations are not jeopardized. Employees shall be given the 

opportunity to take a meal break for at least one-half hour, but not to exceed one (1) hour 

as close to the middle of the employee's shift as possible.  Each Department Head shall 

schedule the meal breaks so that normal department operations are not jeopardized.  Public 

Safety breaks will be determined by their supervisors. 

 

Employees shall be given the opportunity to take an additional meal break should the shift 

be scheduled over eight (8) hours in a given twenty-four (24) hour period.  Hours are under 

the same restrictions as the meal break. Any and all break time cannot be accumulated and 

in no instance can be saved for the purpose of leaving work early or accumulating sick or 

vacation annual time.  

 

E. OVERTIME 

 

The employee categories of executive personnel, administrative personnel, contract 

personnel and professional personnel, are exempt from the following overtime rules and 

will not be compensated for overtime.  All other employees will be paid at one-and-one-

half times their hourly rate in accordance with the provisions of the Fair Labor Standards 

Act (FLSA 29 USC 207).  Hours worked will not include hours off the work site (i.e., sick 

time, vacation annual leave, holiday, etc.), except for time physically worked on a regularly 

scheduled holiday.  Department Heads shall arrange work schedules to minimize overtime 

pay and allow an equitable distribution of the workload to current employees.   

 

F. TESTING 

 

461



Page 18 of 32 
 

Employees may be required and subject to periodic testing for job competency, physical 

ability to perform job, substance abuse, or other tests deemed appropriate by the County 

Manager.   

An annual physical may be required for those positions that affect public welfare and 

safety. These positions are Firefighters, Emergency Medical Service personnel, Law 

Enforcement personnel, County vehicle operators, Transit System drivers, and personnel 

that perform maintenance on those vehicles. 

Putnam County is a drug-free and alcohol-free workplace. The improper use of alcohol and 

controlled substances by Putnam County employees constitutes a direct threat to property 

and the safety of others. The work involved in many positions is inherently dangerous, and 

the safety of citizens and fellow employees depends upon the ability of employees to think 

clearly with unimpaired faculties. 

 

It is the objective of Putnam County to provide safe and effective public service.  To meet 

this objective, the problem of alcohol and controlled substance abuse must be identified, 

confronted, and defeated.  In order to achieve this, Putnam County has developed a 

comprehensive alcohol and controlled substance policy.  As used in this Manual, the term 

“controlled substance” shall have the meaning and include the substances defined as 

“controlled substances” in the Georgia Controlled Substance Act, O.C.G.A., S16-13-20, et 

seq., and especially O.C.G.A., S16-12-21(4) as said Section and said Act shall appear from 

time to time. 

Substance abuse testing is required for each of the following circumstances: 

 

1. Pre-Employment Testing 

 

A pre-employment drug screening shall be conducted when an individual applies 

for an employment position with Putnam County.  Any job applicant who refuses 

to submit to a pre-employment drug test or who has a confirmed positive test shall 

not be hired.  An employee who transfers from one position covered by this manual 

to another position covered by this manual does not require pre-employment 

testing.  Potential hires must go for testing at the specified time and place as 

directed.  Once they are at the testing facility, they may not leave for any reason 

until testing is complete. 

 

2. Post-Accident Testing 

 

Following any accident that involves damage to property or personal injury, 

Putnam County will promptly test each surviving employee for alcohol and/or 

drugs. 

 

Any employee who is involved in an accident while on duty or on County business 

in their personal vehicle must remain available for alcohol and drug testing.  Each 

employee who is requested to submit to testing shall do so within two hours of the 

accident.  Employees who have been involved in an accident may not consume 

alcohol for eight hours following the accident or until an alcohol test has been 

conducted. 

462



Page 19 of 32 
 

 

An employee who is subject to post-accident testing and who fails to remain readily 

available for such testing may be deemed to have refused to submit to testing.  An 

employee who leaves the scene of the accident prior to submission to an alcohol 

and drug test without first notifying his or her supervisor shall be deemed to have 

refused to submit to testing unless the employee left the scene to seek emergency 

medical attention or assistance in responding to the accident. If an employee who 

is subject to post-accident testing is hospitalized, the hospital or medical facility 

shall be asked to obtain samples for alcohol and/or drug testing. 

 

If an alcohol test is required pursuant to this section and is not administered within 

two hours following the accident, the supervisor for the employee shall prepare a 

written report explaining why the test was not promptly administered and shall 

forward that report to the County Manager.  If an alcohol test is required pursuant 

to this section and is not administered within eight hours following an accident, the 

County shall discontinue efforts to administer an alcohol test and the supervisor for 

that employee shall prepare a written report explaining why the alcohol test was not 

conducted. The written report shall be sent to the County Manager. 

 

If a drug test is required pursuant to this section and is not administered within 

thirty-two (32) hours following an accident, the County shall discontinue efforts to 

administer a drug test, and the supervisor for that employee shall prepare a written 

report explaining why the drug test was not conducted.  The written report shall be 

sent to the County Manager. 

 

3. Reasonable Suspicion Testing 

 

Reasonable suspicion testing is designed to identify alcohol or drug-affected 

employees who may pose a danger to themselves or to others in their job 

performance. 

 

The decision to test an employee for alcohol or drugs pursuant to this section must 

be based on a reasonable and articulable suspicion of alcohol or drug use by the 

employee on the basis of specific contemporaneous physical, behavioral, or 

performance indicators.  In addition, an employee’s close association with law 

enforcement identified drug dealers and/or drug users may be used as “reasonable 

suspicion” for a decision to test.  The observations which underlie the decision to 

test on the basis of reasonable suspicion for alcohol must be made during, just 

before, or just after the performance of covered functions by the employee. 

 

If a reasonable suspicion test is not administered within two hours following the 

determination that testing is appropriate, the supervisor shall prepare a written 

report explaining why the test was not promptly administered and forward the 

report to the County Manager.  If the test is not performed within eight hours of the 

determination, then the County will discontinue efforts to administer a test, and the 

supervisor shall prepare a written report explaining why the test was not 

463



Page 20 of 32 
 

administered and forward the report to the County Manager.  Failure of the 

employee to have the test conducted could result in adverse action, up to and 

including dismissal. 

 

Putnam County will not permit an employee to report for duty or to remain on duty 

requiring the performance of covered functions while the employee is under the 

influence of or impaired by alcohol or drugs, as shown by the behavioral, speech, 

or performance indicators of alcohol or drug misuse. 

 

4. Random Testing  

 

All employees who work in a position which is covered by this manual shall be 

subject to unannounced drug testing based on a random selection process. To insure 

that the selections are random, employees shall be placed in a common pool via 

their employee numbers, and the selections shall be computer-generated.  

Employees shall be tested at a rate to be determined by the County Manager. Test 

dates shall also be randomly selected.  A person may be selected for drug testing 

more than once or not at all during the course of random testing.  

 

G. ZERO TOLERANCE 

 

Any Putnam County employee that has a verified positive drug or alcohol test will be 

removed from his/her position, informed of educational and rehabilitation programs 

available, referred to a Substance Abuse Professional (SAP) for assessment, and will be 

terminated. 

 

VII.  OBSERVED HOLIDAYS 

 

HOLIDAYS 

 

Putnam County observes the following holidays as paid holidays: 

 

 New Year's Day    January 1 

 Martin Luther King's Birthday  Third Monday/January 

 Good Friday     Friday before Easter 

 Memorial Day     Last Monday/May 

 Independence Day    July 4 

 Labor Day     First Monday/September 

 Veteran’s Day     November 11 

 Thanksgiving Day    Fourth Thursday/November 

 Day after Thanksgiving Day   Fourth Friday/November 

 Christmas Eve Day    December 24 

 Christmas Day     December 25 

 

464



Page 21 of 32 
 

When any of the above holidays fall on Sunday, it will be observed on the following 

Monday.  When any of the above holidays fall on Saturday, it will be observed on 

the preceding Friday. 

 

Some non-essential employees may be required to work.  Employees required to 

work on the above holidays can elect to be compensated for the holiday pay (eight 

hours) plus time and a half pay for the time worked regardless of the overtime ruling 

or receive equal time off with holiday pay and regular (straight-time) pay. Any 

employee who has exhausted all sick and annual leave shall not be eligible for 

holiday pay if they do not work during the pay period in which the holiday falls.   

 

All full-time employees in good standing are eligible for holiday pay as outlined 

above.  Part-time, temporary, seasonal, contract or intern, and substitute employees 

are not eligible for holiday pay. 

 

VIII.  LEAVE 

 

A. VACATION ANNUAL LEAVE 

 

1. General 

 

Vacations are for the purpose of rejuvenating both physical and mental faculties, 

and all employees are urged to avail themselves of vacation periods.  No employee 

shall receive pay in lieu of vacation. No employee may take leave for more than 

two (2) consecutive weeks without the approval of the County Manager.  

Compensation for vacation annual leave shall not be paid for more than a normal 

shift on any given day.   

 

All full-time employees shall be entitled to accrue annual leave with full pay after 

the first six (6) months of employment, in accordance with this policy.  

Five (5) days annual leave will be earned and available for use after the completion 

of six (6) months of service. The employee will then accrue an additional five (5) 

days of annual leave during the second six-months of employment. After 

completion of the first year of service, the employee will continue to accrue ten 

(10) days annually. After completion of five years of service, the employee will 

accrue 15 days annually.  After completion of ten years of service, the employee 

will accrue 20 days annually.  

  

2.  Carry Over Annual Leave 

 

Putnam County provides access to retirement investment with the option of 

converting excess annual carry-over leave (more than 240 hours) into a 457 

Deferred Compensation Plan.  This investment is only provided if funds are 

available. Employees can take advantage of this opportunity or elect to have their 

excess annual carry-over leave amount submitted to ACCG Retirement Services to 

count towards credited service in the Define Benefit Pension if applicable. 

465



Page 22 of 32 
 

 

2. Persons Entitled 

 

All full-time employees, after the completion of a six (6)-month training period, 

may begin utilizing vacation leave.  Part-time, temporary, seasonal, contract or 

intern, and substitute employees are not eligible for vacation leave. 

 

3. Accrual of Vacation Leave 

 

 Full-time eligible employees shall accrue four (4) hours leave per month (48 hours 

annually) beginning at the end of their six-month training period.  Full-time eligible 

employees with at least five years’ service shall accrue eight (8) hours per month 

(96 hours annually).  Full-time eligible employees with at least eight years’ of 

service shall accrue twelve (12) hours leave per month (144 hours annually).  

 

Employees who are promoted may continue to accumulate vacation and sick leave 

during the new training period. 

  

Vacation leave will accrue to the credit of an eligible employee who is in a leave-

with-pay status for vacation, sick, civil, or military leave with pay. Employees who 

are not at work because of an on-the-job injury will not accrue leave beginning with 

the 11th consecutive day off the job. Employees shall continue to accrue vacation 

leave during the time that they are on vacation leave.   

 

3. Request for Vacation Annual Leave 

 

Vacation Annual leave assignments will be made in accordance with the 

preferences of the employee when possible.  A request for vacation annual leave 

shall be submitted to the respective Department Head as far in advance as possible. 

Leave may be taken only after approval of the appropriate Department Head so 

that, insofar as practical, the department can function without hiring additional 

temporary help.  Requests for vacation annual leave for personal business must be 

made as far in advance as possible.  Department Heads must request leave to the 

County Manager as far in advance as possible.  

 

 5. Holidays 

 

Putnam County observes the following holidays as paid holidays: 

 

 New Year's Day    January 1 

 Martin Luther King's Birthday  Third Monday/January 

 Good Friday     Friday before Easter 

 Memorial Day     Last Monday/May 

 Independence Day    July 4 

 Labor Day     First Monday/September 

 Veteran’s Day     November 11 

466



Page 23 of 32 
 

 Thanksgiving Day    Fourth Thursday/November 

 Day after Thanksgiving Day   Fourth Friday/November 

 Christmas Eve Day    December 24 

 Christmas Day     December 25 

 

When any of the above holidays fall on Sunday, it will be observed on the following 

Monday.  When any of the above holidays fall on Saturday, it will be observed on 

the preceding Friday. 

 

Some non-essential employees may be required to work.  Employees required to 

work on the above holidays can elect to be compensated for the holiday pay (eight 

hours) plus time and a half pay for the time worked regardless of the overtime ruling 

or receive equal time off with holiday pay and regular (straight-time) pay. Any 

employee who has exhausted all sick and vacation leave shall not be eligible for 

holiday pay if they do not work during the pay period in which the holiday falls.   

 

All full-time employees in good standing are eligible for holiday pay as outlined 

above.  Part-time, temporary, seasonal, contract or intern, and substitute employees 

are not eligible for holiday pay. 

 

4. Official Holidays and Vacation Annual Leave 

 

If an official holiday should fall during an employee's vacation annual leave period, 

that official holiday shall not count as vacation annual leave. 

 

5. Vacation Annual Leave Substituted for Sick Leave 

 

If an employee has used up his/her allotment of sick leave, the employee may 

substitute vacation annual leave in case of further sickness. 

 

 6. Compensation for Vacation Annual Leave 

 

If an employee resigns or is dismissed by the County as an employee, the employee 

will be compensated for all accumulated vacation annual leave at the employee's 

ending rate of pay. 

 

7. Records of Vacation Annual Leave 

 

Records concerning vacation annual leave for employees shall be kept in the 

Human Resources office. 

 

10. Accumulation 

 

Vacation leave may be accumulated up to two hundred forty (240) hours and carried 

from one calendar year to the next.  Any employee who carries two hundred forty 

(240) hours forward from one year to the next will be allowed to accumulate leave 

467



Page 24 of 32 
 

during the year but will in no case be allowed to carry more than two hundred forty 

(240)  forward to the next calendar year. Unused vacation leave, which is not carried 

to the next calendar year, will be credited to time of service at retirement.  Records 

of unused time will be maintained in the individual’s personnel file.  Leave is 

accrued on a bi-weekly basis.    

 

 

C. SICK LEAVE 

 

1. General 

 

Sick leave shall be allowed to all eligible employees in the case of actual sickness, 

or disability of the employee or the sickness of a member of the employee’s 

immediate family for medical, dental, or eye examination or treatment for which 

arrangements cannot be made outside of working hours.  Please see definition of 

immediate family under C. Definitions.  An employee shall report all instances of 

illness requiring absence.  An employee may utilize his/her sick leave upon 

approval of the appropriate Department Head for absence due to illness or injury. 

 

 2. Persons Entitled 

 

All full-time employees, after six (6) months' continuous employment, are eligible 

to use sick leave.  Temporary, seasonal, and other part-time or substitute contract 

or intern employees are not eligible for sick leave. 

 

3. Accrual of Sick Leave 

  

Full-time eligible employees shall accrue sick leave at the rate of eight (8) hours 

per month, for a total of 96 hours per year.  No employee shall be entitled to receive 

sick leave time until the employee shall have completed six (6) months training 

period. Sick leave shall not be accrued while an employee is on sick leave for more 

than one pay period.  

 

4. Accumulation of Sick Leave 

 

No employee shall accumulate more than 960 hours of sick leave without approval 

of the Board of Commissioners.   

 

5. Reporting of Sick Leave 

 

An employee who is absent from work because of illness is responsible for 

reporting to the employee's Department Head or supervisor prior to the regularly 

scheduled workday at the designated reporting time on the day of absence.  

Employees will be expected to keep the supervisor or Department Head informed 

of progress on a regular basis [every three (3) days unless written exemption is 

requested by a qualified physician]. Such leave will be charged against sick leave.  

468



Page 25 of 32 
 

Where a relief employee is required in a department, which must provide 24 hours 

sustained service, the employee must report this absence two hours before the 

designated reporting time.  In the event of failure of compliance with these 

provisions, the employee will be charged on the payroll with leave without pay. 

 

6. Use of Sick Leave 

 

Sick leave is not a right that an employee may use at his/her discretion, but a 

privilege not to be abused.  Department Heads, after three (3) days, will require a 

medical certificate signed by a licensed physician to substantiate a request for sick 

leave. Abuse of sick leave may result in disciplinary action up to and including 

termination.  

 

7. Sick Leave for On-the-Job Injury 

 

An employee who sustains an injury on the job must at the time of the injury or as 

soon as possible thereafter notify the employee's Department Head or supervisor.  

If the injury necessitates the employee's absence from work, the employee shall 

receive only that compensation provided under Workers' Compensation.  Workers' 

Compensation leave will not be charged against an employee's accrued sick leave.  

However, an employee may choose to be compensated for his/her accrued sick 

leave in lieu of Workers’ Compensation, but under no circumstances by law can an 

employee be compensated by both the employer and Workers’ Compensation. The 

employee must complete an “Employee’s Statement of Injury” form and the 

Department Head must complete the Workers' Compensation Report of 

accident/injury and submit this form to the Human Resources Office within twenty-

four (24) hours of the incident.  Failure to complete the required report by the 

Department Head may result in disciplinary action. 

 

8. Forfeiture of Sick Leave  

 

Sick leave is a privilege; therefore, any employee who resigns or is terminated from 

County service before becoming eligible for retirement shall forfeit all unused sick 

leave, and shall not be paid for unused sick leave. Any employee leaving County 

employment and eligible for immediate retirement or deferred retirement shall have 

unused sick leave added as service time. 

 

9. Donation of Sick Leave  

 

The County Manager shall have the discretion to approve leave donation requests 

from prospective recipients or their supervisor.  An approved announcement of the 

request may be circulated in order to encourage donations.  

 

For the purpose of this section: 

a. A recipient means an eligible employee who has been authorized to receive 

donations of leave from other employees. 

469



Page 26 of 32 
 

 

b. A donor means an eligible employee who has elected to donate leave to 

another employee.  

 

Leave donation shall be from employee to employee and shall be strictly voluntary.  

The identity of the donors shall be confidential and shall not be provided to the 

recipient or to any other individual unless necessary to administer the donation or 

required by law.  An employee shall not be eligible to receive leave donations for 

any occupationally-related accident or illness, which is compensable under the 

Workers’ Compensation benefits. 

 

To be eligible to donate leave, a donor must: 

 

a. Have been employed by Putnam County for not less than twelve (12) 

months in a position entitled to earn sick leave; 

 

b. Have a balance of not less than forty-eight (48) hours of sick leave after the 

donation. 

   

To be eligible to receive leave donations, a recipient must: 

a. Be an employee who is eligible to accrue sick leave; 

 

b. Have exhausted all accrued sick and vacation annual leave. 

    

  Donations in general: 

a. Donations may not exceed forty (40) hours per donor. 

 

b. Donations transferred to a recipient by all donors may not exceed four 

hundred eighty (480) hours. 

 

c. Once a recipient has returned to work, any donated leave not used by the 

recipient will be returned to the donors on a prorated basis. 

    

d. Multiple donations shall be permitted for the same recipient; provided, 

however, no recipient shall be credited with more than nine hundred sixty 

(960) hours of donated leave in any consecutive two-calendar-year period. 

 

D. FUNERAL LEAVE 

 

1. Funeral leave is limited to use for the immediate family as previously defined.  

Employees desiring to attend the funeral of persons other than immediate family 

must use vacation leave. 

 

2. Request for funeral leave must be made twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  Funeral 

leave will be charged to sick leave first and vacation leave second, when sick leave 

time is not available. 

470



Page 27 of 32 
 

 

3. Funeral leave shall not be granted for more than three (3) days.  Additional time 

required for funerals will be charged to vacation leave.   

 

BEREAVEMENT LEAVE 

 

Bereavement leave with pay will be granted for an employee’s absence from duty in the  

event of a death in the immediate family.  Please see definition of immediate family under 

C. Definitions. An employee may utilize such leave to make funeral arrangements, settle 

family affairs, attend the funeral or memorial services, and for bereavement.  

 

Full-time employees shall receive up to three (3) days of bereavement leave with pay.  

 

As with other unscheduled absences, employees are expected to notify their immediate 

supervisor and/or department head as soon as they learn of the need for bereavement leave. 

Such notification should, if possible, be made prior to the employee’s scheduled work shift 

or within 30 minutes after the start of the employee’s work shift. Failure to provide proper 

notification may result in the denial of bereavement pay. Upon requesting bereavement 

leave employees should also inform their immediate supervisor and/or department head of 

their expected return to work date. 

 

E. MILITARY LEAVE 

 

Leaves of absence to perform military duty in the Armed Forces of the United States, the 

Military Reserves, or the National Guard will be granted in accordance with applicable 

state and federal laws.  The County will also comply with applicable federal and state laws 

in regards to the reemployment of individuals returning from military leave. 

 

F. CIVIL LEAVE (JURY DUTY) 

 

An employee serving in a full-time position shall be entitled to leave of absence from 

duties, without loss of pay or time, with the exception of fees received for serving as a juror 

or a witness, and without effect on his service rating, on all days during which he/she shall 

be subpoenaed by any court, federal, state, or political subdivision thereof, to serve as a 

juror or witness. 

 

Employees must provide notification and a copy of the subpoena or notice to their 

supervisor upon receipt of such document. This document must then be forwarded to 

Human Resources.  

 

Because jury duty is recognized as a civic responsibility, the County will continue to pay 

an employee serving in a full-time position regular salary when the employee is required 

to report for jury duty on a day, he/she is scheduled to work. An employee must report 

his/her need for jury duty/court leave in advance to his/her supervisor. Employees are 

required to present documentation from the court indicating jury service is required. 

Employees are not required to turn over to the County any fees received for participating 

471



Page 28 of 32 
 

in jury duty. An employee is expected to return to work on any day he or she is dismissed 

from jury duty prior to 1:00 p.m. All employees subpoenaed or ordered to attend court or 

to appear as a witness in connection with the employee's County employment are working 

and will be paid accordingly. 

 

G. PARENTAL LEAVE  

 

Paid parental leave is granted to employees following the birth of an employee’s child or 

the placement of a child with an employee in connection with adoption. An employee may 

receive up to six (6) weeks of paid parental leave during any "rolling" 12- month period, 

measured backward from the date that any Parental Leave was utilized, which will run 

concurrently with Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), as applicable during any 

"rolling" 12- month period, measured backward from the date that any FMLA leave is to 

be used. FMLA leave for the birth or placement of a child for adoption must be concluded 

within 12 months of the birth or placement.  

 

All eligible employees must be employed full-time with at least one (1) full year of 

service, having worked at least 1,250 hours during the last 12 consecutive months. 

 

Employee must have given birth to a child, be the spouse of the individual who has 

given birth to a child or adopted a child (adopted child must be age 17 or younger).  

 

1. The employee will provide their supervisor with notice of the request for leave 

at least 30 days prior to the proposed date of the leave (or if the leave was not 

foreseeable, as soon as possible). The employee must complete the necessary leave 

forms and provide all required documentation as stated in Putnam County’s Leave 

of Absence Policy.  

 

2. Employee parents of the same child working in the same department may not use 

paid parental leave at the same time. 

 

3. Each week of paid parental leave is compensated at 100 percent of the 

employee’s regular, straight time weekly pay, to be paid on Putnam County’s 

regularly scheduled pay dates. 

 

4. Approved paid parental leave may be taken at any time during the three-month 

period immediately following the birth, adoption, or placement of the child for 

adoption. Paid parental leave may not be used or extended beyond the three-month 

time frame. 

 

5. Employees must take paid parental leave in a three-month period from the date 

of the qualified event.  Any unused paid parental leave will be forfeited at the end 

of the three-months. 

 

6. Paid parental leave taken under this policy will run concurrently with leave under 

FMLA; thus, any leave taken under this policy that falls under the definition of 

472



Page 29 of 32 
 

circumstances qualifying for leave due to the birth or placement of a child due to 

adoption, the leave will be counted toward the 12 weeks of available FMLA leave 

per a 12-month period. All other requirements and provisions under FMLA will 

apply. The total amount of leave granted to the employee under FMLA will not 

exceed 12 weeks during the 12-month FMLA period. 

 

7. After the paid parental leave is exhausted, the balance of FMLA leave (if 

applicable) will be compensated through employee’s accrued sick, annual, or 

compensatory leave. Upon exhaustion of accrued sick, annual, or compensatory 

leave, any remaining leave will be unpaid leave. 

 

8. If a holiday occurs while the employee is on paid parental leave, such day will 

be charged to holiday pay; however, such holiday pay will not extend the total paid 

leave entitlement. 

 

9. Upon termination of employment with Putnam County, any unused paid parental 

leave for which the employee was eligible will not be paid out. 

 

H. FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE ACT 

 

1. An eligible employee may take up to twelve (12) weeks of leave within a twelve-

month period, defined by the calendar year, under the Family and Medical Leave 

Act of 1993 (FMLA), to care for a spouse, son, daughter, or parent with a serious 

health condition, or because of the employee’s own serious illness or 

chronic/episodic health conditions, which includes the birth or adoption of a child.  

The twelve (12) weeks may include accrued paid and unpaid leave.   

 

2. An “eligible employee” is defined as someone who has worked for the County for 

a period of at least one (1) year, having worked 1,250 hours (minimum required by 

the FMLA) over the previous twelve (12) months. 

 

3. “Serious injury or health condition” is defined as an “Illness, injury, impairment, 

or chronic physical condition involving either inpatient care or continuing treatment 

by a health care provider.” 

 

4. An employee will take any reserve sick leave or vacation annual leave as part of 

the twelve-week FMLA period. 

 

5. An employee may take leave intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule when 

medically necessary; however, an intermittent or reduced schedule to care for a 

newborn or newly adopted child must be approved by the Department Head and 

the County Manager. 

 

6. An employee must request FMLA leave thirty (30) days in advance when possible. 

 

7. An employee shall receive written notification of Putnam County’s designation of 

473



Page 30 of 32 
 

time as FMLA leave. 

 

8. An employee on FMLA leave is entitled to receive health benefits while on unpaid 

leave under the same terms and conditions as when working.  However, Putnam 

County will recover health coverage premiums paid for an employee who fails to 

return to work. 

 

9. Putnam County must provide service credit for the employee during unpaid FMLA 

leave, but only for the purpose of avoiding a break in service in regards to retirement 

benefits. 

 

10. Putnam County shall guarantee an employee on unpaid FMLA leave the right to 

return to the previous or a “virtually identical” position. 

 

11. Spouses who are both employed by Putnam County are entitled to a total of twelve 

(12) weeks FMLA leave to care for a new child or sick parent.  If the leave is 

required for care for a sick child or the other spouse, each spouse is entitled to 

twelve (12) weeks FMLA leave. 

 

12. A medical certificate supporting a request for FMLA leave and signed by a licensed 

physician will be required by the Resources Office.  Employees who have used 

FMLA leave for their own serious illness will be required to submit a “fitness-for-

duty” report before they can return to work. 

 

13. After requesting FMLA leave to Department Head, employees will be referred to 

Human Resources.  

 

I. LEAVE WITHOUT PAY 

 

1. Leave without Pay Defined 

 

When it is deemed in the best interest of the County, a full-time employee may be 

granted leave without pay for personal or other reasons, provided such leave is 

approved by the Department Head and approved by the County Manager.  Non-

full-time employees are not eligible for grants of leave without pay. 

 

2. Reasons for Granting 

 

The Department Head may, with the approval of the County Manager, grant leave 

without pay for a period not to exceed 120 days, when it is deemed to be in the best 

interest of the County. Valid reasons shall include, but not be confined to, 

prolonged illness or disability of the employee or a member of the employee's 

household, educational or training enrichment, pregnancy and childbirth, and 

military service. 

 

3. General Procedures 

474



Page 31 of 32 
 

   

All departments are required to adhere to the following practices in granting leave 

without pay. 

 

a. Failure of an employee to return to work at the expiration of approved leave 

shall be considered as absence without leave and grounds for dismissal. 

 

b. An employee granted leave without pay and who wishes to return before 

the leave period has expired, shall be required to give his/her Department 

Head at least three (3) days notice.  Upon receipt of such written notice, the 

employee may be permitted to return to work at the discretion of the 

Department Head. 

 

c. The County Manager will determine whether or not sick leave, vacation 

annual leave, time of service or credit toward merit increases will be earned 

by an employee for the time that the employee is on leave without pay. 

 

d. An employee shall return from leave without pay to the same step of his/her 

salary grade as at the time of commencement of leave. 

 

e. An employee, while on an authorized leave of absence without pay, who 

obtains either part-time or full-time employment elsewhere, is required to 

notify his/her Department Head in writing within three (3) days of accepting 

such employment. 

 

f. The County Manager shall decide if an employee is entitled to keep 

health/insurance benefits when leave without pay is approved for a period 

of more than thirty (30) days. 

 

4. Procedure for Requesting Leave without Pay 

 

An application for leave without pay shall be submitted in writing one month in 

advance showing the employee's reason for requesting such leave and shall contain 

a statement that the employee intends to return to the County service upon 

expiration of such leave, and that the employee agrees to the terms and conditions 

as outlined in these policies. In emergency situations, when an employee does not 

have accrued leave and is unable to return to work as scheduled as a result of illness 

or emergency reasons, the employee's Department Head may recommend approval 

of the granting of leave without pay without prior application by the employee, or 

the County Manager may investigate and make such recommendations in the 

absence of the Department Head. 

 

5. Rights of Employee on Leave without Pay 

 

a. Reinstatement of Former Position 

 

475



Page 32 of 32 
 

 For employees granted leave without pay, every effort will be made to 

return the employee to the former position or to a comparable one.  If a 

position is not available, the employee shall be listed on re-employment lists 

in the same manner as employees who are laid off in good standing. 

 

b. Continuity of Service 

 

 Employees granted leave without pay shall not be considered to have 

affected a break in service. Continuation of County insurance benefits for 

eligible employees during the time the employee is on leave without pay 

shall be in accordance with the provisions of the employee group insurance 

contracts and the approval of the Board of Commissioners. 

 

6. Temporary Filling of Position of Employee on Leave without Pay 

 

During the employee's approved leave of absence, the employee's position may be 

filled by temporary or substitution personnel.  At the expiration of leave without 

pay, the employee is not guaranteed to receive the same position with the County. 

 

J. NOTIFICATION OF COUNTY MANAGER 

 

When an employee has taken leave of any kind or is absent without leave, his/her 

Department Head shall notify the Human Resources Office in writing within the same pay 

period in which the leave is taken or the absence without leave occurs.  The Human 

Resources Supervisor may inform the County Manager.  Such notification may be by 

notation on a time card or attendance sheet or by memo, giving specific information 

covering type of leave, dates and hours, and other pertinent data. 

 

476



File Attachments for Item:

18. Approval of American Rescue Plan (ARP) Hazard Pay for Putnam County Employees (staff-CM)

477



American Rescue Plan (ARP) Hazard Pay for 
Putnam County Employees 

 
 
 
 

Employees Total Amount 
Full Time Public Safety $250,000 
Full Time Non-Public 
Safety 

$151,875 

Active Part Time $28,125 
 

478



479



File Attachments for Item:

19. Discussion on Projects for State Rescue Money (BW)

480



Subject: State Funds Available  
 

The State of Georgia has received direct funding through the ARPA which is separate from the funding 
that counties and cities have received.  The total allocation for the State of Georgia is $4.8 billion.  The 
state has received $2.4 billion in its first tranche of funding.   

Counties may use the ARPA funding that they received directly from the U.S. Treasury as a match to 
expand or extend projects that you have identified for broadband infrastructure, water/sewer 
infrastructure or other projects to address negative economic impacts OR apply for grants for new 
projects that meet the eligible criteria.  At the current time, these state grant funds may not be used to 
support public health expenditures, to replace lost public sector revenue or to provide premium pay. 

  

The application process ends 8/31/21. Here is information and a short recording of their webinar ACCG / 
OPB Webinar Recording  

Below are the grants we can apply for or partner with a business. We don’t have to be the lead, but they 
want counties involved. If you want Putnam to apply for these funds, we’ll need someone 
knowledgeable about the project to help write the application. 

  

Broadband Infrastructure 

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds may be used to invest in broadband 
infrastructure. Treasury’s Interim Final Rule provides that investments in broadband be made 
in areas that are currently unserved or underserved—lacking a wireline connection that reliably 
delivers minimum speeds of 25 Mbps download and 3 Mbps upload. 

Using these funds, applicants generally should propose broadband infrastructure projects with 
modern technologies in mind, specifically those projects that deliver services offering reliable 
100 Mbps download and 100 8 Mbps upload speeds, unless impracticable due to topography, 
geography, or financial cost. In addition, applicants are encouraged to pursue fiber optic 
investments. In view of the wide disparities in broadband access, assistance to households to 
support internet access or digital literacy is an eligible use to respond to the public health and 
negative economic impacts of the pandemic, as detailed above. 

Treasury’s Interim Final Rule encourages recipients to ensure that broadband projects use 
strong labor standards, including project labor agreements and community benefits agreements 
that offer wages at or above the prevailing rate and include local hire provisions. 

Apply Now  

 

481

https://vimeo.com/583991591
https://vimeo.com/583991591
https://cares.georgia.gov/grantopportunities/viewgrantdetails/?id=e9191612-f3ee-eb11-bacb-001dd804cec1
https://cares.georgia.gov/grantopportunities/new-application/?grantid=e9191612-f3ee-eb11-bacb-001dd804cec1


Negative Economic Impact 

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds allow states to support industries that were 
particularly hard-hit by the COVID-19 emergency and are now beginning to mend, helping them 
to address financial challenges caused by the pandemic and to make investments in COVID-19 
prevention and mitigation tactics. The Negative Economic Impact grant will aid in speeding the 
recovery of the tourism, travel, hospitality sectors, as well as other industries. 

Apply Now  

Water/Sewer Infrastructure 

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds may be used to invest in necessary 
improvements to water and sewer infrastructures, including projects that address the impacts of 
climate change. Applicants may use this funding to invest in an array of drinking water 
infrastructure projects, such as building or upgrading facilities and transmission, distribution, 
and storage systems, including the replacement of lead service lines. 

Applicants may also use this funding to invest in wastewater infrastructure projects, including 
constructing publicly owned treatment infrastructure, managing and treating stormwater or 
subsurface drainage water, facilitating water reuse, and securing publicly owned treatment 
works. Treasury’s Interim Final Rule encourages recipients to ensure that water and sewer 
projects use strong labor standards, including project labor agreements and community benefits 
agreements that offer wages at or above the prevailing rate and include local hire provisions. 

  

 

482

https://cares.georgia.gov/grantopportunities/viewgrantdetails/?id=edf18a3d-f3ee-eb11-bacb-001dd804cec1
https://cares.georgia.gov/grantopportunities/new-application/?grantid=edf18a3d-f3ee-eb11-bacb-001dd804cec1
https://cares.georgia.gov/grantopportunities/viewgrantdetails/?id=0bbf65e6-f2ee-eb11-bacb-001dd804cec1

	Top
	Item #6.	2021-08-17 BOC Rezoning-SDH
	SDH Info
	SDH Map
	SDH Application_Redacted
	SDH 106002LV
	SDH Future Land Use 106002

	Item #7.	2021-08-17 BOC Rezoning-Gentes
	Gentes Info
	Gentes Map
	Gentes Application_Redacted
	Gentes 1110010441LV
	Gentes Future Land Use 111001044

	Item #8.	2021-08-17 BOC Rezoning-Stiff
	Stiff Info
	Stiff Map
	Stiff Goodwill103001001 Application_Redacted
	Stiff Goodwill Concept Plan
	Stiff 21-082 - Helms Stiff Farm Campus - Harmony Road Putnam County - Traffic Impact Study - Revised 08-03-21
	Stiff DRI 3377 Final Report
	Stiff 103001001LV
	Stiff Future Land Use 103001001

	Item #9.	2021-08-17 BOC Rezoning-Stiff2
	Stiff2 Info
	Stiff2 Map
	Stiff2 Goodwill103001 Application_Redacted
	Stiff2 Goodwill Concept Plan
	Stiff2 21-082 - Helms Stiff2 Farm Campus - Harmony Road Putnam County - Traffic Impact Study - Revised 08-03-21
	Stiff2 DRI 3377 Final Report
	Stiff2 Future Land Use 103001
	Stiff2 103001LV

	Item #14.	2021-08-17 BOC Consent Agenda
	DRAFT 08-06-21 BOC Minutes
	Executive Session Minutes Agenda Item Template
	DRAFT 08-06-21 BOC Budget Work Session Minutes

	Item #15.	2021-08-17 BOC Final Plat-Eagles Rest
	Eagles Rest Plat

	Item #16.	2021-08-17 BOC Copelan Reapplication
	Russell Wall Email
	Russell Wall Letter

	Item #17.	2021-08-17 BOC Personnel Policy
	Personnel Policy Adoped 081903 Last Amended 100220 proposed changes 081721-A

	Item #18.	2021-08-17 BOC ARP Hazard Pay
	ARP Hazard Pay
	Premium Pay Summary by NACO

	Item #19.	2021-08-17 BOC Rescue Money
	State Funds

	Bottom

